
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 28 September 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

Tuesday, 6 October 2020 at 10.30 am 
 

 
Committee 
Members: 

 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Helen Crawford, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor 
Gloria Johnson and Councillor Linda Wootten 
 

 
Invited 
Cabinet 

Members 

 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations  
 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 
 
Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 
 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 6 October 2020 
 
If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 
before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 
desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 
 
When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 
meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 
Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 
they would like to speak. 
 
If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 

Environment 

Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/4YMHVWZC
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

1.   Comments from Members of the public 
To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion 

 

   
2.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting 

 

   
4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 23 June 2020 (Pages 3 - 12) 

   
5.   Action notes from the meeting held on 21 July 2020 (Pages 13 - 22) 

   
6.   Updates from the previous meeting (Pages 23 - 24) 

   
7.   Climate Change and Carbon Reduction Annual Statement 

Presentation seeking suggestions from Members on items to be considered for 
the emerging planned climate change and carbon reduction report 

(Pages 25 - 30) 

   
8.   Climate change reserve fund 

Report providing an overview of projects considered for the climate change 
reserve fund, as proposed by Members of the Climate Change Action Task and 
Finish group 

(Pages 31 - 89) 

   
9.   Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 

Report containing an updated draft Statement of Licensing Policy for 
consideration by the Committee 

(Pages 91 - 135) 

   
10.   Environmental Performance Indicators 

Report providing an overview of the performance dashboard development work 
undertaken to date, and the next steps to develop future performance reporting 
to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(Pages 137 - 145) 

   
11.   Work Programme 

To confirm the work programme and add items as necessary 
(Pages 147 - 160) 

   
12.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

   



 
 

Meeting of the 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Tuesday, 23 June 2020, 10.30 am 

 

 

 

Committee members present 
  

Councillor John Cottier (Vice Chairman, 
chaired this meeting)   
Councillor Ashley Baxter     
Councillor Phil Dilks     
Councillor Gloria Johnson     
 

Councillor Mrs Judy Smith     
Councillor Linda Wootten  
Councillor Ray Wootten  
 

  

Cabinet Members   
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

  

Other Members  

Councillor Jacky Smith  

  

Officers  
 

Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith) 
Head of Environmental (Anne-Marie Coulthard)  
Grounds Maintenance Coordinator, Street Scene (Lynne Lord) 
Sustainability and Climate Change Officer (Serena Brown) 
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West) 
Democratic Officer (Jack Gardner) 
 

 
Comments from the Committee 
 
The Committee wished to have recorded their appreciation for the work 
undertaken by Councillor Chris Benn as the Chair of the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The Committee wished him a speedy 
recovery. 
 

45. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 
 
Councillor Benn had stood down as a Councillor.  An apology for absence was 
received from Councillor Nikki Manterfield. Councillors Ray and Linda Wootten 
attended the meeting as substitutes. 
 

3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

46. Disclosure of Interests 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 

47. Action Notes from the meeting held on 25 February 2020 
 
Two Members referred to the action notes, noting that they did not recall 
asking for rewilding to be an item on the agenda and, recognised that it was 
agreed for one rewilding site per town, reiterating the request that was made 
for consultation to be undertaken.  A Member did not feel the point he had 
made had adequately been captured that there should be an expectation that 
mature or more established trees were replaced with something much more 
than simply one sapling for any such tree felled. 
 
Subject to the above changes, the action notes of the meeting held on 25 
February 2020 were noted and agreed. 
 

48. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
The Chair noted that many of the actions from the notes of the previous 
meeting would not have been actioned due to officers dealing with the Covid-
19 lockdown. The Committee heard that many of the initiatives that were 
discussed at the previous meeting had been suspended during this time.  
 
A Member asked whether the environmental performance indicators 
mentioned in the previous meeting had been created and when they would be 
brought to the Committee for scrutiny as well as whether he could receive 
feedback on his suggested indicators from the responsible officer before the 
next Committee meeting. The Cabinet Member replied that it was important 
that these indicators were created and noted that Members might not have 
been aware of the reduced resource available to the Council during the early 
stages of Covid-19.  Resources had been redeployed elsewhere which had 
meant that the creation of reports for Committees had not been a priority. 
 
Action: 
A performance report to be brought to a future meeting. 
 
Members asked if there was a resolution to the question of ownership in 
respect of the water fountain on Conduit Road and were informed that it was 
not owned by the Council.  It was also suggested that it might not be possible 
to restore it as it would not meet water hygiene standards.   
 

49. Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 
The Cabinet Member for Operations and Commercial introduced the report 
and reminded Members that the report would form part of the work going 
forward for consultation before it could be adopted. It was noted that the 
current policy was adopted on 1 April 2015. The Policy was fundamental to 

4



 
 

protecting public safety and keeping people from harm and provided the 
framework upon which the Authority delivered its statutory functions relating to 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing.  The current policy had been 
reviewed to ensure it reflected current guidance and continued to be fit for 
purpose, whilst also promoting improvements which supported environmental 
sustainability.  
 
The Committee was reminded that on 23 January 2020 Members of the 
Licensing Committee and the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held a joint workshop to consider 3 key areas of the Policy; environmental 
sustainability; driver knowledge and language proficiency; and the use of e-
cigarettes and vaping devices. The Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee received feedback from the workshop at their 25 February 2020 
meeting. The revised draft policy encompassed this feedback together with 
other amendments with “tracked changes” was at Appendix 1.   
 
The Cabinet Member provided a brief overview of the amendments previously 
suggested by the Committee. These included requirements for a language 
examination and to check whether action could be taken to prevent vehicles 
from idling. The Committee was informed of the proposed sanctions that 
drivers could receive for idling, initially with a warning but then subsequent 
issue of penalty points.  Should a driver accrue twelve penalty points within 
one year, they would be invited to attend a Licencing Committee who would 
consider and decide whether the driver was a fit and proper person to hold a 
licence. 
  
It was noted that whilst there was no legal duty placed on the Council to 
consult on this policy, it was good practice to do so and was in line with the 
Department for Transport’s ‘Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best 
Practice Guidance’ (March 2010).  It was proposed that a 4-week public 
consultation would be undertaken and would focus on the hackney carriage 
and private hire trade alongside the general public and other relevant 
stakeholders, including the Authority’s Licensing Committee.  
 
Members discussed the difficulties of enforcing restrictions on idling but felt 
that the proposal was an important part in sanctioning repeat offenders. A 
Member asked what criteria was used to determine when idling was taking 
place and was directed to section 2.13 of the draft policy which stated: ‘Drivers 
are reminded that the Highway Code states that you must not leave a parked 
vehicle unattended with the engine running or leave a vehicle engine running 
unnecessarily while the vehicle is stationary on a public road.’ 
 
Members unanimously agreed with the feedback and the proposed sanctions 
from the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Workshop. 
 
Recommendation: 
That following consideration of the draft Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy together with the feedback from the joint 

5



 
 

workshop, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed 
that this draft policy was appropriate and suitable to use as the basis for 
consultation. 
 

50. Update from the Climate Change Task and Finish Group - 16 June 2020  

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations provided the 
Committee with an update from the recent meeting of the Climate Change 
Action Task and Finish Group. He noted that the Carbon Trust had been 
appointed to identify the potential work and areas of focus for the Council so 
they could address the proposed carbon footprint target set in September 
2019 at Full Council.  Data had shown that the Council’s carbon footprint for 
the period 2018/19 had been calculated at 7,600tC02e.  This was calculated 
from 4 key emission categories; Fuel consumption (Council’s vehicle fleet); 
gas consumption (buildings); electricity consumption (buildings) and leased 
assets (such as leisure centres).  It was noted that just over 30% of the 
consumption emanated from Council buildings with a further 40% coming 
from leisure centres.   
 

The Council’s pledge in September 2019 had been to reduce the carbon 
footprint by at least 30% by 2030 with the aim to become net zero carbon as 
soon as viable before 2050.   
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the bold approach the Council had taken in 
calculating its emissions and including downstream carbon emissions such 
as leisure facilities in the total which did not have to be included. The aim of 
this approach was to help the Council show leadership by setting an example 
to other organisations and residents.  
 
The initial focus had been on Council buildings and identifying projects that 
would help contribute to achieving the carbon reduction target. The 
Committee was reminded that during the collation of data, focus had been 
channelled down and had concentrated mainly on buildings, water, waste, 
vehicles and business mileage as these areas had been identified as the 
main areas of highest output. As a result, three hot spots were identified: 
Council Buildings, the Council’s Fleet of vehicles and leisure centres.  It was 
noted that some changes had already taken place such as installing LED 
lighting in some Council offices. The decarbonisation work being undertaken 
by the national electricity grid had also been referred and would also help 
reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.  
 
The following areas had been suggested as opportunities for the Council. 
 
Scope 1 

 Gas consumption for heating both space and water in buildings 

 Council fleet fuel consumption 
 
 

6



 
 

Scope 2 

 Electricity consumption in Council buildings 
 

Scope 3 

 Energy, waste and water consumption from leased buildings such as 
leisure centres 

 Upstream emissions from natural gas, electricity and vehicle fuel 

 Business travel in non-Council vehicles 

 Third-party disposal and treatment of waste generated in Council 
controlled operations 

 Supply and subsequent treatment of water consumed by the Council’s 
operations 

 
The Committee was reminded of the hard work ahead for the Council in 
tackling the climate emergency.  The significant impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic on the way the Council worked, had provided the Council with an 
opportunity to implement some changes that would reduce its carbon 
emissions. The Cabinet Member stated that caution was also needed due to 
the uncertainty of the situation and hoped to work closely with the Committee 
going forward. 
 
Members commented on how useful the Task and Finish Group was and the 
significant impact the Carbon Trust report had on them. Discussion took 
place around releasing the Carbon Trust report in its current format to the 
public.  The Cabinet Member stressed that the Council aimed to publish the 
report formally shortly.  
 
A Member raised concerns about the Committee receiving a verbal update on 
the work of the Task and Finish Group. The Chair told the Committee that 
while this was just a verbal update, further reports and recommendations 
from the Task and Finish Group would be brought to Committee. One 
Member commented that deadlines should be set for the Task and Finish 
Group so recommendations could be produced in a timely manner. In 
response, the Cabinet Member noted that the timeframes for the group came 
from the Council’s Climate Emergency declaration. Further discussion was 
around creating a report for the next meeting of the Committee that would 
outline the work completed by the Task and Finish Group. The Committee 
heard that the Task and Finish Group was still in the early stage of digesting 
the Council’s current climate footprint. The Cabinet Member reminded 
Members of the delays that Covid-19 had caused in the work of the Task and 
Finish Group. 
 
The Committee also discussed areas of working where it would be difficult for 
the Council to have an impact on emissions such as planning policy. The 
Committee was eager to show leadership in these areas with a realistic 
understanding of the legal limitations that the Council had. 
 
Further discussion took place on Members’ desire for greater consensus 

7



 
 

within the Lincolnshire waste partnership. One Member spoke of his belief 
that the County Council took the credit as the disposal authority while SKDC 
had the greater share of the expense as the collection authority. The Cabinet 
Member responded by suggesting that the Council was a proactive and 
strong voice that sought to build consensus and that he felt the Council did 
receive a fair share of credit within the partnership. The Committee was 
reminded of the Council’s proactive stance in respect of the food waste 
scheme. He also shared concerns around the difficulties of educating 
residents to dispose of their waste in a more environmentally friendly manner.  
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the previously operated recycling credit 
scheme which had included a method of funding for education initiatives, but 
since it had been suspended education programmes were now short lived 
with limited impact.  
 
A Member queried whether total emissions for the District were known as the 
emissions of the Council would only form a small part of that total. The 
Committee was told that total carbon emissions for the district were not 
known and the Council’s initial focus was to provide leadership through its 
experience of identifying and disseminating their findings to industries, 
organisations, residents and individuals.  
 
The Cabinet Member expected the Task and Finish Group would, as part of 
its work, help develop potential projects that would be brought before this 
Committee for consideration and direction for officers to implement and 
complete. The projects would probably be pragmatic challenges that would 
tackle the Council’s overall carbon emissions which should impact positively 
on the climate in general. The Cabinet Member stressed that while Covid-19 
had provided opportunities, it had also created challenges. With the nation 
moving into the recovery stage of the pandemic, the financial impact of the 
virus meant that the Council would need to take a measured response. The 
Cabinet Member reiterated his thoughts that officer resources should be 
focused on delivering the projects.  
 
A Member commented on the opportunity in front of both the Committee and 
the Task and Finish Group.  It was coming up to a year since the declaration 
at Council in September 2019 of the climate emergency the Council faced, 
and it was hoped that the steps taken would soon be advertised. The Cabinet 
Member acknowledged that time had moved on and that work must progress.  
He also noted that the Council should recognise and celebrate the work 
undertaken by the Task and Finish Group on its’ progress in identifying and 
measuring the Council’s impact in order to move on to the next stage.  If 
Covid-19 had not created substantial changes and challenges a lot more 
could have been achieved. 
 
Action 
That a report on the work of the Task and Finish Group be brought to 
the next Committee meeting. 

8



 
 

 
51. Re-wilding Pilot Scheme 

 
The Cabinet Member referred to the Committee’s ambition to increase 
rewilding and biodiversity within the District. He commented on the 
suggestions from the previous Committee meeting that were incorporated into 
the report. The Committee had been provided with information about the 
consultation undertaken with ward members. Areas under consideration for 
rewilding together with the results of consultation with ward members were 
outlined.  
 
The Cabinet Member provided the Committee with a presentation of the 
Rewilding Pilot Scheme.  He noted the key stakeholders were, Town/Parish 
Councils, SKDC Ward Councillors, local interest groups and residents.   
 
Areas considered for rewilding were parts of the recreation ground in Bourne, 
the Foxglove play area in Stamford, areas in Queen Elizabeth Park, Wyndham 
and Dysart parks in Grantham and Tattershall Drive in Market Deeping.  
 
Members were reminded of the types of rewilding being considered and 
potential benefits. 
 
Rewilding: Allowing nature to take back control, tall grasses and other plant 
species naturalise are permitted which encourages wildlife, insects, birds and 
mammals.  
 
Tiered land management: A method of providing multiple levels or tiers with 
differing levels of rewilding habits within the same area. 
 
Members were also provided with overview of the potential costs and savings 
for each proposed site.   
 
Reference was made to how the success of the rewilding projects would 
require the support of both local Members and the local community.  
 
A Member questioned why, when examining the sites, the Jubilee Park site in 
Deeping St James had not been selected when it had been suggested as a 
possible site at the previous meeting. The Cabinet Member replied that he 
was unaware what criteria had been used to determine which site would be 
chosen but remembered that it was commented on at the time that there were 
two sites in the Deepings and it was agreed that there would only be one site 
per town.  
 
Action: 
That the criteria used for determining which site was to be chosen would 
be distributed to Members of the Committee together with an 
explanation of why Tattershall Drive was picked instead of Jubilee Park. 
 

9



 
 

A Member queried the work undertaken by Environment SK in the Frognall 
area and referred to a verge containing wildflowers that was maintained by the 
community but had recently been cut. The Cabinet Member replied that 
Environment SK was a commercial company and they would be expected to 
complete work they had been contracted to do.  It was suggested that the 
question would need to be directed to the organisation that raised the work 
order.  It was commented that this was likely to be the parish council.  
 
The Cabinet Member was also questioned about litter picking and cutting 
down of wildflowers on a roundabout in the Deepings area. The Cabinet 
Member replied that as far as he was aware South Kesteven had not been 
informed on the lane closures by Lincolnshire County Council’s highways 
department. Discussion also took place around planting licences that could be 
applied for verges in order to allow wildflowers to grow or flowers to be 
planted. 
 
Members thanked officers for their work in bringing forward the proposals to 
the Committee. One Member commented that time had been lost during the 
period prior to Covid-19 lockdown that could have been used to start growing 
wildflowers. The Cabinet Member noted there had been less time than 
imagined due to Council resources being used for emergency planning prior to 
restrictions and lockdown.  Members also queried the lack of feedback from 
local towns and parish councils and were informed that the only feedback 
received was from Stamford Town Council.  
 
A Member asked why hedge planting had not been included in the update as 
it had been suggested at a previous meeting. He also queried whether it 
would be possible for grass cutting to be set at a slightly higher level which 
would provide a better habitat for wildlife. The Cabinet Member replied that 
hedge plantings were not part of the rewilding proposals.  The Strategic 
Director for Commercial and Operations advised that the action note from the 
previous meeting recorded that hedges would be added to the work plan for 
the Committee, noting that officers would prepare a report when hedges were 
included on an agenda for a future meeting.  
 
Action: 
That a report on hedges would be included on a future agenda. 
 
Discussion took place on the difficulty of managing grass and the conflicting 
concerns of allowing grass to grow long in order to preserve biodiversity and 
provide a habitat to wildlife against the desire for residents to have shorter 
grass for their neatness. A Member spoke of their belief that a compromise 
between these factors could be found with experimentation but understood the 
difficulties in managing this. Another Member commented on the Highways 
policy of allowing residents to adopt verges and roundabouts.  She queried 
whether there was a cost in applying for permission. The Cabinet Member 
spoke of the Council’s decision during lockdown to make parks and gardens 

10



 
 

as accessible to as many as possible so residents in lockdown could enjoy 
them.  
  
Further discussion ensued on the proposals on Recreation Road in Bourne 
and it was noted that sporting events and charity events made it an unsuitable 
location for wildflower planting.  Members were fully in support of rewilding in 
the area but felt a search for an alternative site should be conducted. A 
Member raised the possibility of examining North Field as an alternative site.   
 
Action: 
That North field (Bourne) be considered and assessed as an alternative 
site for rewilding and that consultation with ward members would be 
undertaken. 
 
Cllr Dilks left 12:17 
 
A Member raised concerns about an apparent lack of consultation in respect 
of Jubilee park and queried whether the proposal had been rejected before 
any consultation had been completed. Officers noted that the action notes 
from a previous meeting had indicated that it had been agreed to look at one 
site per town and this was what officers had progressed.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
Following a full and frank discussion on the recommendations in the 
report, together with additional suggestions from Members, the 
Committee recommended: 
 
a) That the Tattershall Drive proposal proceeds 
 
b) That the Recreation Road proposal should not be progressed 
 
c) That the Foxglove Road proposal proceeds as an updated 

proposal  
 

52. 2020/21 Committee Work Programme 
 
The Committee considered the work programme and agreed that the following 
items be included: 
 

a) Environment performance indicators. 
 

b) A report on the work undertaken by the Chief Executive’s Climate 
Change Task and Finish Group to go to the next meeting. 

  
c) Cycling and Single Use Plastics to be included in the workplan and 

brought to a future meeting.  
 

11



 
 

d) A representative from the Internal Drainage Board to be invited to a 
future meeting. 

   
e) The Committee to receive an update on Rewilding at the December 

meeting. 
 

53. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
There was no other business. 
 

54. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 12:28. 
 
 

12



 
 

Meeting of the 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Tuesday, 21 July 2020, 10.30 am 

 

 

 
 

 
Committee Members present 
  
Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
 

Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith 
 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
 
Officers Other Members present 
 
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West) 
Election and Democratic Support Officer 
(Jack Gardner-Javid) 
Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change (Lee Sirdifield) 
Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations (Gary Smith) 
Sustainability and Climate Change 
Officer (Serena Brown) 
Performance Lead (Ben Russell)  
Head of Environmental (Anne Marie-
Coulthard) 

Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
Councillor Ray Wootten 

 

 
 
55. Comments from Members of the public 

 
None 
 

56. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 
 
All Members of the Committee were present. 
 

13

Agenda Item 5



 

57. Disclosure of Interests 
 
No interests were disclosed.  
 

58. Action Notes from the meeting held on 21 June 2020 
 
The Committee deferred agreeing the action notes from the meeting on 23 
June 2020 to enable a review of the action notes. The review would examine if 
it was agreed that the rewilding project would be on a one project per town 
basis. Officers would liaise with the Chairman and the action notes from the 
meeting on 23 June would be brought forward for approval at the next 
meeting.  
 

59. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
A Member thanked the Scrutiny Officer for distributing the selection criteria 
used in identifying the proposed sites for rewilding. He commented that he 
disagreed with some of the findings of the selection as he thought that Market 
Deeping and Deeping St James ought to have been treated as separate 
entities. He disagreed with the indicative costings used in the selection when 
he compared these to the costings given to the Committee in February 2020. 
The Member felt that it was unfair to use the positive feedback given to the 
Tattershall Drive proposal as a reason for its selection because he felt 
feedback in relation to Jubilee Park was also positive.  

 
Councillor John Cottier joined 10:51 

 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations acknowledged the 
Member’s unhappiness with the explanation and stressed that this was a trial 
and did not preclude the possibility of further projects in the future.  

 
A Member asked for costs for new tree planting to be sent to Members and 
the Chair responded that this issue along with hedges would be added to the 
workplan for future consideration. The Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations replied, stating that the cost of tree planting had been supplied 
previously and could be recirculated to Members.   

 
Action Points: 

 Tree and Hedge management to be added to the workplan. 

 The scrutiny officer to recirculate the costings for tree plantings to 
committee Members. 

 
A Member spoke about the Bourne proposal, which was rejected by the 
Committee after it was found to be unsuitable. She spoke of the local 
feedback received which had identified possible alternative sites. A Member 
commented that he thought it was positive that Bourne Ward Members were 
able to identify new sites for consideration. The Cabinet Member noted that as 
the original Bourne site was not suitable, an alternative site should be 

14



 

identified to bring rewilding to Bourne residents. He informed Members that 
that new representations would not be accepted at this time until the existing 
trial had been reviewed.   

 
A Member commented that at the Committee’s last meeting it was agreed to 
examine other potential rewilding schemes. The Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations commented that until the review of the previous 
minutes has been completed, he could only comment on the scheme as 
published in the action notes. 
 

60. Performance Report 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations introduced the report 
and asked for input from the committee as to what they thought should be 
included as environmental performance indicators. A Member spoke of his 
surprise that the report was signed off when he felt that it was incomplete and 
lacking key indicators. He spoke of the proposals that he had made in the past 
and how he felt they could have been used to develop the report. The Member 
commented that some of the indicators in the report would already be 
reviewed by other committees and that this committee should add value by 
looking at new areas. He briefly outlined several suggested areas for 
examination, which included electricity usage, gas usage and electric vehicles. 
He noted that in a previous meeting it was decided his proposed indicators 
should receive feedback, which had not occurred.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations stated that he wanted 
this report to be a starting point for the committee so that it could identify 
areas it wished to scrutinise. He stated that whilst the level of detail in this 
report may be suitable for other Committees, he wanted to understand what 
this Committee wished to see. He agreed that some of the areas outlined by 
the Member could become key performance indicators but stressed that the 
indicators should be specific to areas for which the Council had direct 
responsibility.  
 
There was a discussion about what areas fell under the Council’s direct 
responsibility, rather than reflecting the actions of external agencies. This 
included a discussion around the possible use of commercial waste recycling 
as an indicator. The Cabinet Member stated that this may be of interest but it 
would not be a fair assessment of the Council’s performance because of its 
limited influence in this area. He did suggest that domestic recycling could be 
an indicator as the Council has a duty to encourage residents to recycle.  
 
The Vice-Chairman commented that energy usage would be a useful indicator 
as there were several proposed energy reduction schemes in the Carbon 
Trust report. There was a discussion around the food waste scheme and how 
this could impact the Council’s recycling rates. The Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations informed the Committee that households using 
the food waste scheme were not separated within the report and that the 10% 

15



 

uplift in recycling would not be seen due to the limited area of the district 
eligible to take part in the scheme.  
 
A Member asked about the future of the food waste scheme and the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations spoke of the Key Decision that had 
been made to continue the food waste scheme in the pilot area after the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership ceased its funding. This outlay would be 
reviewed on a six-monthly basis. The Committee heard of the Cabinet 
Member’s ambition to continue and expand the scheme. There was a question 
of cost to the Council and the committee was advised that there was a small 
increase in the cost of running the scheme but there was an ambition to move 
towards making the scheme cost neutral in the future. The Chairman 
confirmed that she was happy to continue to review the food waste scheme as 
part of the committee’s workplan.  
 
The Committee discussed its role in the selection of indicators. The Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations commented that he wished to join the 
debate and offer his thoughts on the resource implications of any proposal.  
 
There was a proposal for seven indicators to be adopted as environmental 
performance indicator with a further proposal that seven other indicators 
should be examined in greater detail in a workshop of committee Members. 
This proposal was passed by the committee.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations responded that he was 
happy to work towards these indicators but warned some would be outside the 
Council’s control and that there may be difficulties gathering the required data. 
He also added that some of the data gathered may be not be up to date as 
there were delays in the Council gaining some of the data in part due to the 
effects of Covid-19. He added that there may be areas that would measure 
other agencies’ performance rather than this Council’s. The Strategic Director, 
Commercial and Operations added that some of the indicators had already 
been provided and that the report outlined that some of the others were 
already in train whilst others may be harder to report.  

 
Actions 
1. The Committee recommends the following seven areas to be used as 

environmental indicators:  

1. Energy consumption and cost (for the Council).   

2.  Water consumption and cost (for the Council).   

3. Overall domestic waste arisings (for the District).   

4. Percentage domestic waste recycled (for the District).   

5. Percentage domestic waste diverted from landfill/incineration 
(i.e. to include food waste and green waste).   

6. Percentage contamination of silver bins.   

7. Number of fixed-penalty notices issued by enforcement teams. 

16



 

2. The Committee will hold a workshop to examine other possible 
environmental indicators including the seven listed below: 

1.      Volume of paper used by the Council. 

2.      Mileage claimed by Councillors.   

3.      Mileage claimed by staff using private vehicles.   

4.      Miles travelled by council vehicles.   

5.      Number of trees planted by SKDC.   

6.      Area of SKDC land dedicated to managed wildlife and/or 
rewilding.   

7.      Number of complaints received relating to street scene.  
 

61. Carbon Footprint Report 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations introduced the report 
and stated that the Council, since declaring a climate emergency, had made 
excellent progress. He spoke of the recommendations in the report and 
highlighted the depth of information and the suggested projects included 
within the Carbon Trust report. The Committee noted that some of the projects 
would not yet be technically or financially feasible but it was assumed that 
they would be in future.   

 
The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer highlighted some projects that 
she believed would be ideal areas for the Council’s immediate ambitions. She 
spoke of the refurbishment works that were already planned at the offices 
within St Peter’s Hill and that solar panels, a new heating system and LED 
bulbs could be added to those plans. She spoke of her belief that energy 
management could be a good area for the Council’s immediate consideration. 
 
In the longer term she spoke of the Council’s fleet of vehicles which accounted 
for 25% of the Council’s carbon emissions but warned against moving to 
electrification immediately to enable the examination of technical and financial 
issues in greater detail. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
spoke about the impact of Covid-19, which had reshaped the work of the 
Council’s core functions. He also spoke of the positive environmental impact 
of remote meetings and working from home.   

 
A question was raised about whether, when fleet vehicles were due for 
replacement, electric vehicles were considered. Members also queried how 
the larger waste vehicles could move away from traditional fossil fuels. The 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations responded, stating that the 
Council had completed a two-year review of its fleet. It had identified that the 
two electric vehicles in use were not suitable for wider rollout because of their 
reduced range. He commented that the Council had limited use for the 
vehicles however he stressed that as technology improved, the Council would 
review the range of newer models. He added that the Council’s pool cars were 
not due for replacement for several years but post Covid-19 changes to 
working culture could result in a rationalisation of pool cars taking place. He 

17



 

informed Committee Members that the large waste vehicles could be replaced 
with hydrogen fuelled vehicles as technology improved. The Committee heard 
that the Council replaced three to four vehicles of this type each year, so when 
an alternative was found the replacements could follow this pattern.  
 
The Committee received an update on electric vehicle charging points which 
were in place. Members were informed that when lockdown came into place, 
completion of the project was delayed. It was hoped that the points would be 
operational by end of the first week of August. The Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations informed the Committee that the Council was 
continuing to investigate funding opportunities to expand the number of 
charging points.  
 
The Vice-Chairman asked about the replacement of streetlights with LED 
lamps. The Cabinet Member responded, stating that the numbers of LED 
lights were low because the Council had been examining internet of things 
smart street lighting. As the pilot project had yielded positive results, the 
Council was now ready to go to procurement. The Cabinet Member referred to 
the invest to save replacement programme, which had also been delayed 
pending the results of the smart streetlighting pilot scheme  
 
A Member questioned if the Carbon Trust report had been amended from the 
internal version that had been shared with the climate change task and finish 
group. He was informed that no changes were made. The Member questioned 
if the proposed project at St Peter’s Hill should be a priority as it did not have 
the best return on investment. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations agreed that there were projects which provided a better return on 
investment but the shutdown of buildings as a result of Covid-19 and planned 
refurbishment works presented an opportunity.  
 
The Cabinet Member went on to talk about the impact of Covid-19 on working 
arrangements which could affect the use of the Council’s buildings and 
needed to be considered. He believed that other improvement projects 
involving the Guildhall Arts Centre in Grantham and the Stamford Arts Centre 
could be undertaken whilst the buildings were out of use.  
 
There was a discussion around planning policy and the opportunities the 
council had to improve the environmental impact of planning within the district 
however it was commented upon that the Councils remit to use planning 
policy was strongly influenced by national planning policy.  
 
The Committee heard about the remit of the climate change task and finish 
group and how in the later stages of the Council’s work on climate change it 
could provide leadership, influencing other agencies, residents and 
businesses within the district. The committee heard that the task and finish 
group was next scheduled to meet in September 2020. 
 

18



 

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations spoke of his desire to 
learn the Committee’s priorities so that they could feed into the planning of 
future projects. A Member spoke of the need to move quickly in identifying 
projects for the Council to enter considerations around the budget at the 
earliest date. Members agreed that project management would have to be 
integrated with budget planning as many of these projects would run across 
multiple years.  
 
A Member spoke of the new leisure centre and improvements to existing 
centres which were planned. She stressed her belief it was an opportune time 
to embed carbon reduction measures into these projects. The Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations agreed and advised that the 
Sustainability and Climate Change Officer was in contact with the project 
leads around this issue.  
 
The Chair asked if there were other projects like the LED street lighting 
scheme that were in progress. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations replied that there was a small fund of £20,000 to be used to 
complete small projects but that there were no projects in progress that were 
similar to the LED street lighting scheme in action.  
 
In response to a question from the Chairman, the Committee was advised that 
plans for the refurbishment of the offices at St Peter’s Hill had been delayed 
because of Covid-19. Carbon reduction schemes would be considered as part 
of any refurbishment. The Vice-Chairman asked if any of the £20,000 fund 
had been spent. He was informed that it had not been used as the Council 
had waited for the carbon trust report to understand the Council’s baseline 
and identify projects.   
 
A Member stated that there was an opportunity to use this money to fund 
improvements to Stamford Arts Centre, stating that it would provide an 
opportunity to broadcast the Council’s ambitions to upgrade community assets 
 
 Action Point 

 Indicative costing to be carried out and distributed to member for 
the project to install solar panels on council buildings. 
 

The Cabinet Member spoke of his ambition to take the priorities outlined by 
the Committee to create some proposals that could be brought back later for 
consideration. A member spoke of their desire to move forward in an efficient 
manner and to see progress with regard to the Council’s response to the 
climate emergency. The Cabinet Member agreed that speed was important 
but that the financial impacts were significant. He reminded members that the 
Council has a duty to deliver a balanced budget.  
 
A Member who spoke stated that all council buildings, no matter where they 
were located in the district, needed to be examined for improvements that 
could be made to ensure the best return on investment. She warned against 

19



 

taking a view to improve only the St Peter’s Hill office just because it is the 
hub for the Council. The Cabinet Member agreed that return on investment 
was a key consideration but that cost per ton of carbon would also need to be 
examined to identify which projects would have the greatest impact.   
 
Action Point 
The climate change task and finish group to receive proposals from the 
Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations for the use of the £20,000 
fund in September.  
 
The Committee: 
1. Notes the progress to establish and understand South Kesteven 

District Council’s direct contribution to climate change in the form 
of organisational carbon emissions. 

2. Recommends that the Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations develops a phased carbon reduction plan and initiates 
feasibility assessments for priority carbon reduction projects 
outlined in the Carbon Trust’s Carbon Footprint and Reduction 
Opportunities report.  

3.  Recommends that the following carbon reduction initiatives should 
be prioritised: 

 Solar panel installation on Council assets 

 Improvements to Stamford Arts centre and The Guildhall 

 LED street lighting  

 Improvements to office space including fitting of LED lighting 
 

62. Review of Public Space Protection Orders 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations introduced the report on 
the review of Public Space Protection Orders. He explained that the Orders 
were due for renewal on a 3-yearly basis and that they were now due to be 
reviewed. He reminded Members that it was necessary to conduct 
consultation in respect of these orders. The Committee was being asked to 
review the current and proposed orders. He stressed that the Orders could not 
be implemented without significant evidence to demonstrate that they were 
required. 
 
The Chairman enquired whether it would still be necessary to consult on an 
Order if it was proposed they should be reviewed without amendment. It was 
confirmed that this was the case. The Chair also asked if the Ward areas on 
the appendices were current and whether that was relevant. She was 
informed that the Ward boundaries could be amended if the Committee 
supported the proposals.  
 
A Member asked why The Spinney was the only area on the proposed new 
protection order and not the cemetery in general. The Head of Environmental 
commented that the town council wanted the area covered by the Order to be 
proportionate and restricted to the area where it had identified concerns. 

20



 

 
A Member asked about the limitations of the Orders how they could affect 
other anti-social behaviours. The Head of Environmental responded, advising 
the Committee that they could be used for behaviour that could be detrimental 
to the wellbeing of an area, but this must be evidenced. The areas could be 
enforced by authorised officers, Police Constables and Police Community 
Support Officers. A Member expressed his support for the Market Deeping 
application and asked about how the Police would be consulted. Members 
were informed that the Police was a statutory consultee.  
 
A Ward Member for the Deepings area spoke of their experience as Deputy 
Mayor, stating that the town council had felt that the application was 
necessary because of dog fouling in an area used for the scattering of ashes, 
which was distressing to the bereaved. She commented that there was no 
evidence of fouling mess in the cemetery so it was not included in the 
proposal. She informed the Committee that the Market Deeping Town Council 
had received positive feedback from residents on social media about taking 
action regarding the issue of dog mess within The Spinney. 
 
A Grantham Ward Councillor spoke of historic issues of public drinking in the 
town centre and Wyndham park. The Order covering this area had combatted 
public drinking and had a positive effect, moving street drinkers away from 
these areas. He shared his belief that these Orders would continue to combat 
the detrimental impact of street drinking and encouraged the Committee to 
support the recommendations found within the report.  
 
Action Point 
The Committee: 
1. Recommends that the existing Public Space Protection Orders be 

used as a basis for public consultation, requiring that the maps are 
updated to reflect current Ward boundaries. 

2. Endorses the request from Market Deeping Town Council to 
implement a Public Space Protection Order to control dogs at The 
Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery. 

3. Recommends to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
that public consultation is undertaken in respect of the extension of 
the existing Orders and proposed new Public Space Protection Order 
subject to the maps being updated to reflect current Ward 
boundaries. 

 
63. 2020/21 Work Programme 

 
The Chairman recognised the hard work of officers, while working to meet the 
pressures created by the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
The following amendments were made to the to the Committee’s work 
programme: 

 

21



 

 Add trees and hedge planting to the workplan (TBC). 

 Options to use of the £20,000 reserve to be brought to the October 
meeting. 

 Updated report on Environmental performance indicators to be given at 
next meeting. 

 Report on the Big Clean to be added to the workplan (TBC). 

 Cycling update to be brought to the October meeting.  
 

64. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
The meeting was closed at 12:58  
 
 

22



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Actions  
 

 Task 
Assigned 

to 
Deadline Progress Comments 

1 

The Committee deferred agreeing the action 
notes from the meeting on 23 June 2020 to 
enable a review of the action notes: 

 Examine whether it was agreed that the 
rewilding project would be on a one project 
per town basis.  

 Officers to liaise with the Chairman 

Jo 
Toomey 

September 
2020 

Complete 
 

Review completed; conclusions shared with 
Chair, who will share at October meeting. Any 

suggestions for specific amendments to 
previous minutes to be made at next meeting. 

2 
Action notes from the meeting on 23 June to be 
brought forward to next meeting for approval. 

Jo 
Toomey 

September 
2020 

Complete 
No amendments made by Officers, any specific 
amendments to be agreed by Members at the 

meeting on 6 October 2020. 

3 
The scrutiny officer to recirculate the costings for 
tree plantings to committee Members. 

Jo 
Toomey 

14 August 
2020 

Complete Members emailed 19 August 2020. 

4 
Arrange a workshop session for members of the 
Committee to consider environmental KPIs 

Clare 
Milner, 

Ben 
Russell 

28 August 
2020 

Complete Workshop held 15 September 2020. 

5 
Indicative costing to be carried out and 
distributed to member for the project to install 
solar panels on council buildings. 

Serena 
Brown 

28 August 
2020 

Complete 
Members emailed 28 August 2020, information 
also presented at Climate Change Group on 11 

September 2020. 

6 

The Climate Change Task and Finish Group to 
receive proposals from the Strategic Director, 
Commercial and Operations for the use of the 
£20,000 fund in September. 

Gary 
Smith 

28 August 
2020 

Complete 

Members emailed 14 August 2020, information 
presented at Climate Change Group 11 

September 2020, item on agenda at October 
meeting of OSC. 

23

A
genda Item

 6



 Task 
Assigned 

to 
Deadline Progress Comments 

7 

Amendments to be added to the Committee’s 
work programme: 
• Add trees and hedge planting to the workplan 

(TBC). 
• Options to use of the £20,000 reserve to be 

brought to the October meeting. 
• Updated report on Environmental 

performance indicators to be given at next 
meeting. 

• Report on the Big Clean to be added to the 
workplan (TBC). 

• Cycling update to be brought to the October 
meeting. 

Scrutiny 
Officer 

September 
2020 

Partially 
complete 

Trees and hedges – scope not yet received 
detailing how Scrutiny can add value and aims 

of bringing to Scrutiny. On “date to be 
confirmed” section of Work Programme. 

 

Options for reserve – on agenda for October. 
 

Performance indicators – on agenda for 
October. 

 

Big Clean report – on “date to be confirmed” 
section of Work Programme. 

 

Cycling – scope not yet received detailing how 
Scrutiny can add value and aims of bringing to 
Scrutiny. On “date to be confirmed” section of 

Work Programme. 

 24



 

 

−  Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  

6 October 2020 

  

   

         
  

 

Climate change and carbon reduction annual 
emerging draft report 

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

Tel:  01476 406125  

Email:  serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial and 
Operations 

22 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To suggest items to be considered for the emerging planned climate change and 
carbon reduction report. 

 

 

 

25

Agenda Item 7

mailto:serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

 

1 Financial Implications  

1.1 There are no financial implications. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Gillian Goddard, Senior Financial Accountant 

2 Legal and Governance Implications  

2.1 As part of good governance, it is important that Members are kept updated. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy Legal Services 

3 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

3.1 No implications identified. 

4 Risk and Mitigation 

4.1 No risks identified. 

5 Community Safety Implications  

5.1 No implications identified. 

6 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

6.1 The outlined report plan in the slides will increase the transparency of climate change 

action and progress at South Kesteven District Council.  

7 Other Implications (where significant)  

7.1 None. 

26



Climate change and carbon 

reduction annual statement

Serena Brown

Sustainability and Climate 

Change Officer

27

A
ppendix 1



Climate change and carbon reduction annual statement

• A proposed annual report to highlight achievements and activities 

around climate change, since South Kesteven District Council’s 

declaration of climate emergency in September 2019.

• An annual high-level overview of work can help to:

– Increase transparency of actions on climate change the Council is 

pursuing

– Help track progress against our targets to reduce the carbon 

footprint of our own operations (at least 30% by 2030)

– Highlight district level carbon emissions and opportunities to reduce 

them at a local level

28



Climate change and carbon reduction annual statement

• Main sources of Council emissions:

– Summary of work to establish 18/19 emissions with the Carbon 

Trust

– Overview of 19/20 emissions

– Expected impact of COVID pandemic on Council emissions

• South Kesteven district emissions

– Summary of proportion of emissions from the district from each 

sector (domestic energy, transport, industry and commercial etc.) 

using government data compiled by BEIS

– Carbon emissions per district resident, change since 2005

29



Climate change and carbon reduction annual statement

• Case studies to highlight where Council projects target climate change:

– Examples:

• LED streetlighting

• Rewilding areas

• Climate change section in decision reports

• Looking forward – what we plan to focus on in the next 12 months:

– Investigate more fully our emissions hotspots in our Carbon footprint and 

reduction opportunities report

– Develop a regularly updated dashboard for the Council showing carbon 

emissions from operations

– Refine carbon reduction projects action plan with outlined short and medium 

term projects

– Develop approach to encourage reduction of carbon emissions throughout 

SK by residents, businesses and other public sector partners

– Deliver capacity building sessions to staff on climate change

and sustainability

30



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

6 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

Deployment of the Climate Change Reserve Fund 

This report provides an overview of projects considered for the climate change reserve fund, as 
proposed by Members of the Climate Change Action Task and Finish group. 

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

Tel:  01476 406125  

Email:  serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Agility Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Victoria Brackenbury, Organisational Development 
and Change Manager  

22 September 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial and 
Operations 

22 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

24 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To recommend that the Climate Change Reserve Fund be directed towards an 
upgrade of light fittings at the Guildhall Arts Centre, with the remainder directed 
towards the acceleration of the existing upgrade of streetlights project. 

2. To recommends to Cabinet that another Climate Change Reserve, of at least 
£20,000, be considered in the 2021/22 budget. 

31

Agenda Item 8

mailto:serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Following South Kesteven District Council’s ‘Declaration of Climate Emergency’ on 26 

September 2019, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommended on 

26 November 2019 that a one-off fund of £20,000 be established “for climate change 

action quick wins, small works and carbon efficiencies; this reserve could be drawn down 

from as specific initiatives are identified during the course of the Task and Finish Group’s 

work”. This fund of £20,000 was then approved by Cabinet on 10 December 2019.  

1.2 The publication of the Council’s Carbon Footprint and Reduction Opportunities Report in 

July 2020, a result of work completed with the Carbon Trust as consultants, helped to 

identify project opportunities to meet the Council’s carbon reduction targets, declared as 

part of the climate emergency, of at least 30% by 2030 and to endeavour to become net 

zero carbon as soon as is viable before 2050. 

1.3 Following discussion at the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 21 July 

2020, four project areas were suggested for the Climate Change Action Task and Finish 

Group to consider in greater detail, with the group to indicate a preference to nominate to 

spend the £20,000 Climate Change Reserve Fund. These were:  

− Acceleration of the LED streetlights programme;  

− Improvements to Stamford Arts Centre and the Guildhall;  

− Solar panel installation on Council assets;  

− Improvements to office space including LED lighting.  

1.4 A presentation to Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group Members took place on 

11 September 2020 where Members discussed the relative benefits of the proposed 

projects. The consensus of the group was to fully fund the upgrade of light fittings to LED 

at the Guildhall, and to allocate the remainder of the fund towards the acceleration of the 

streetlights programme. Based on information in the Carbon Footprint and Reduction 

Opportunities Report attached at Appendix 1, the cost for the Guildhall work was 

estimated at £10,000 based on assumptions of the number of lights and condition of 

fittings in the building. 

1.5 A firm quote was received from a local contractor regarding LEDs installation following the 

meeting on 11 September 2020, with further quotes to be received and reviewed before 

appointing a contractor to conduct the project. Taking into account the number and 

condition of fittings needing to be upgraded, the cost for works at the Guildhall (excluding 

fittings in the auditorium) was quoted at approximately £15,800 (excluding VAT). This 

leaves a remainder to fund the acceleration of the streetlights project of approximately 

£4,200. 

1.6 Given the updated quotes received for LED upgrades in the Arts Centres in the district, 

this has altered the assumed payback periods for each of the projects. Upgrades to LEDs 

at the Guildhall (excluding fittings in the auditorium) now provisional payback is assumed 

to be 3.5 years; at Stamford Arts Centre at 7.8 years (excluding fittings in the auditorium); 

and at Bourne Corn Exchange at 12.4 years. The Guildhall upgrade remains the most 

attractive option based on payback period and on carbon reduction. Integration of LED 

upgrades are now also being considered for Stamford Arts Centre as part of planned 

refurbishment work. 

1.7 The proposed savings and carbon reduction from the upgrade to LEDs at the Guildhall are 

based on industry accepted estimates of lighting use as a proportion of the overall 

32

http://moderngovsvr:8080/mgAi.aspx?ID=23422
http://moderngovsvr:8080/mgAi.aspx?ID=23422
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3768&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3768&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3768&Ver=4


 

 

electricity use of a building and expect upgraded LED lights to deliver a 40% energy 

reduction on existing fittings. 

1.8 The proposed savings and carbon reduction from the streetlights programme assume the 

remainder of the fund will cover an upgrade of approximately 20 lights. It is currently 

expected that upgraded LED streetlamps will be able to deliver a 60% energy reduction on 

existing lamps. 

1.9 More detailed information on each of the projects is included in the below table: 

Project Proposed 
project cost (£) 

Proposed 
saving 

(annual £) 

Payback 
(years) 

Proposed 
carbon 

reduction 
(annual 
tonnes) 

Guildhall LEDs 
upgrade 

15,800 4,580 3.5 9 

Streetlights 
upgrade 

4,200 445 9.4 1 

 

1.10 The proposal to opt for upgrades to LED fittings at the Guildhall Arts Centre was made by 

the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group on the basis of good payback period, 

impact on carbon reduction, and investment in a public building which the residents of 

South Kesteven can enjoy.  

1.11 The proposal to dedicate the remainder of the fund to the acceleration of the streetlighting 

programme was made on the basis of providing a benefit to the wider community, and an 

acknowledgement that, based on the streetlights programme invest to save funding 

model, upgrading more lights earlier on in the programme enables greater reinvestment 

and savings from the whole programme. Further details on the streetlighting invest to save 

model can be seen from discussion at Cabinet on 11 June 2019 (item 4). 

1.12 Following discussion at the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group Members, the 

membership agreed that the fund was useful for smaller works and efficiency initiatives. 

The group proposed to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee that another 

Climate Change Reserve Fund be established for 2021/22, of at least £20,000, which 

again would consider “climate change action quick wins, small works and carbon 

efficiencies”.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The carbon reduction projects considered were suggested by the Environment Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee on 21 July 2020, following a discussion of the outlined projects on 

the publication of the Carbon Footprint and Reduction Opportunities Report, attached at 

Appendix 1.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group considered other carbon reduction 

projects including solar panel installation, upgrades to LEDs in office space and upgrades 

to LEDs in Stamford Arts Centre and Bourne Corn Exchange, or to spend the whole fund 

33

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3745


 

 

on the acceleration of the streetlighting programme. The Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee could revisit each of these options and opt for a different project. 

3.2 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee could consider carbon reduction 

projects, other than the above, which are detailed in the Carbon Footprint and Reduction 

Opportunities Report attached at Appendix 1. 

3.3 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee could consider a separate project 

other than those included in the Carbon Footprint and Reduction Opportunities Report 

attached at Appendix 1 in the agreed scope of the funds “for climate change action quick 

wins, small works and carbon efficiencies”. 

3.4 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee could opt to defer the fund to the 

following financial year. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Funding the work at the Guildhall Arts Centre, with the remainder to fund an acceleration 

of the streetlighting programme, is expected to see an annual reduction in spend on 

energy use of £5,025, and an expected annual reduction of carbon of 10 tonnes. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The allocation of the fund toward a carbon reduction project with a short payback period 

will deliver a measurable carbon reduction towards the Council’s overall target of at least 

30% by 2030. Taking no or limited action to increase energy efficiency and ensure carbon 

reduction in the first part of this decade is likely to make cumulative year on year carbon 

reduction difficult.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 If the outlined project proposal is supported by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, officers will develop an implementation plan for the work with relevant 

contractors to ensure the project is completed in a timely fashion.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The Council approved a specific reserve of £20,000 for the current financial year to fund 

initiatives within the scope of the climate change work programme.  The report identifies 

the proposed spending plans utilising the reserve.  Any further allocations for next financial 

year will be subject to approval by Council on 1 March 2021.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance. 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Council can lawfully establish a reserve as recommended in this report. Any contracts 

procured under the reserve will need to comply with procurement law and the Council’s 

financial regulations. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy Legal Services 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 There are no specific equality or safeguarding implications identified for either project.  

 

 

34



 

 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 There is a risk that the project may see an overspend, in the event of unforeseen 

circumstances which quoted costs for the work did not account for. It is expected that, by 

having received a firm quote from a contractor, this is unlikely. 

10.2 There is a risk that the project may not deliver the expected savings and return on 

investment that was expected, based on the assumptions of electricity use and 

assumptions of more efficient equipment. Nevertheless, the proposal will insulate the 

Council from rising electricity costs in coming years. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No implications identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The implementation of the outlined project proposal is expected to deliver an annual 

carbon reduction of 10 tonnes, helping to meet the Council’s carbon reduction target of at 

least 30% by 2030 and to endeavour to become net zero carbon as soon as viable before 

2050. 

12.2 It is hoped that through completing carbon reduction projects in Council assets in South 

Kesteven, this will help to demonstrate to others which projects are effective to deliver an 

energy saving whilst reducing carbon footprint.  

13 Background Papers 

Meeting of Cabinet, 11 June 2019 (item 4) - 

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3745  

Meeting of Council, 26 September 2019 (item 51) - 

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MID=3770#AI23422  

13.1 Meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 26 November 2019 (item 

27) - http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785 

Meeting of Cabinet, 10 December 2019 (item 53) – 

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3768&Ver=4 

13.1 Meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee , 21 July 2020 (item 

61) – http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3910&Ver=4  

14 Appendices 

14.1 Carbon Footprint and Reduction Opportunities Report - prepared for South Kesteven 

District Council by the Carbon Trust. 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

21 July 2020 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

35

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3745
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MID=3770#AI23422
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3768&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3910&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



South Kesteven
District Council

Final report 

June 2020

Carbon footprint and reduction opportunities

37

A
ppendix 1



Growing acknowledgement of the latest science and recommendations from the Committee on Climate Change has
resulted in unprecedented recognition of the global climate emergency, and the need to act urgently in order to reduce
carbon emissions to limit further global warming and associated environmental impacts. Global initiatives are now
focused on limiting warming to well below 2oC, aligning to the pledges outlined in the Paris Agreement. Despite this,
warming continues, with the impacts being felt both nationally and internationally. Across the UK, continued warming is
projected to make winters warmer and summers hotter and drier. Sea levels will also continue to rise and threaten
many coastal communities across the country. Many industrial and farming processes will also be affected by a
continuation of rising temperatures, exacerbating impacts that warming will have on communities across the UK.

In 2019, the UK Government set a target of achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and many local authorities across the
UK declared a climate emergency. The declaration of a climate emergency recognises firstly the crucial role that local
authorities can play in helping to reduce both the causes and impacts of climate change, but it also provides local
authorities with the opportunity to develop effective pathways towards reducing their emissions, which if successfully
achieved, will help to reduce the climate impacts at both the local and national scale.

South Kesteven District Council recognises the significant role it can play in helping to accelerate the national transition
towards developing a low carbon economy, and declared a Climate Emergency in 2019. This report was commissioned by
the Council to help achieve the carbon reduction targets set out in its’ declaration.

Context to this report

1

38



Contents

Executive Summary 3

Section 1: Council target 8

Section 2: Carbon footprint 9

Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities 19

Section 4: Governance and engagement 38

Section 5: Monitoring and reporting 40

Appendices 42

2

39



Executive summary

• This Carbon Reduction Action Plan forms a key step in South Kesteven District
Council’s (SKDC) climate emergency response and sets out a number of
strategic actions that SKDC should work towards in order to achieve their
carbon reduction target. SKDC declared a climate emergency in September
2019, pledging to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by at least 30% by
2030 and endeavouring to become net-zero carbon as soon as viable before
2050.

• Achieving the 2030 target will reduce emissions from 7,600 tCO2e in 2018/2019
to a minimum of 5,320 tCO2e in 2030. Moving towards this ambition illustrates
SKDC’s recognition of the wider climate emergency we are all facing, whilst
showing the Council’s local leadership role towards climate change action.

• This action plan suggests a number of projects that, alongside the expected
decarbonisation of the national electricity grid, will contribute to achieving this
carbon reduction target.

Executive Summary

Scope 1
• Gas consumption for space and water heating in buildings
• Council fleet fuel consumption

Scope 2 • Electricity consumption in buildings

Scope 3

• Energy, waste & water consumption from leased buildings (i.e. leisure centres)
• Upstream emissions from natural gas, vehicle fuel & electricity
• Business travel in non-Council fleet vehicles
• Third-party disposal and treatment of waste generated in Council-controlled operations
• Supply and subsequent treatment of water consumed by the Council’s operations

Overview of the World Resource Institutes GHG Protocol accounting methodology

3

Emissions included within the carbon 
footprint and targeted with projects:

40



Executive summary

Leased Buildings
41.5%

Fleet
25.2%

Gas
17.7%

Electricity
14.1%

Business Travel
1.3%

Water
< 1.0 %

Waste
< 1.0 %

Refrigerants
< 1.0 %

% of total emissions

0.0

1000.0

2000.0

3000.0

4000.0

Business
Travel

Electricity Fleet Gas Leased
Buildings

Waste Water Refrigerants

Emissions by scope / tCO2e

Sum of Scope 1

Sum of Scope 2

Sum of Scope 3

Carbon footprint overview

SKDC emissions by source

SKDC emissions by source and scope.

South Kesteven District Council’s footprint for the FY 2018/19 was calculated to be

7,600 tCO2e
Four key emission categories make up 98.5% of the total footprint:

1. Fuel consumption in the Council’s fleet (1,918 tCO2e)

2. Gas consumption in buildings (1,344 tCO2e)

3. Electricity consumption in buildings (1,072 tCO2e)

4. Leased assets (leisure centres) (3,157 tCO2e)

7,600 
tCO2e

• The carbon reduction target set by the Council contains all of
the stated emission categories here, including emissions
from sites/assets outside of the Council’s direct operational
control (scope 3 emissions)

• Scope 3 emissions make up 51% of the total footprint. The
Council will therefore have to integrate carbon management
into its’ interactions with contractors and operators to
achieve its’ decarbonisation targets, as well as focusing on
the assets under direct operational control.

N.B. For the FY 18/19 footprint, ‘Leased Buildings’  is entirely made up of leisure 
centres owned by the Council & operated by a third party. 4

41



Executive summary

Carbon reduction opportunities overview

To achieve the emission reduction target of at least 30% by 2030, the Council needs to reduce scope 1, 2 and selected scope 3 emissions by approximately
190 tCO2e /year (average annual reduction from 100% down to 70%). The following target areas have been identified across the council, and relevant
reduction opportunities identified for each. These projects will assist SKDC on the pathway towards the goal:

• The projects identified in this plan have the potential to reduce SKDC emissions from 7,600 tCO2e/year to 4,763 tCO2e/year by 2030. This equates to an estimated
total reduction of 37% from the current 2018/19 footprint.

• The total cost to implement the above projects is estimated to be £3.3m, not including any costs associated with improvements required to decarbonise the Leisure 
Centres. All projects require further detailed assessment and in particular, those related to HRA assets and Leisure Centres currently based on high level remotely 
assessed information and benchmarks only.  

Streetlighting - Upgrading all streetlighting under SKDCs control to LED and introducing advanced controls 

HRA Assets - Conducting feasibility assessments of the potential for LED upgrades and electrification of heating systems  

Fleet Management - Roll out of regular driver training and comprehensive telematics  

Fleet Electrification - Electrifying appropriate vehicles within SKDCs large fleet

Leisure Centres - Conducting feasibility assessments of the potential for energy efficiency and renewable energy measures 

St Peters Hill - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures  

Guildhall - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures

Stamford Arts Centre - Roll out of energy efficiency measures

5

42



Executive summary

R1 – St Peters Hill measures
R2 – Guildhall measures 

R3 – Fleet management measures
R4 – HRA measures

R5 – Stamford Arts Centre Measures
R6 – Streetlighting measures

R7 – Fleet Electrification measures 
R8 – Leisure Centre measures 

Overview of the Carbon Reduction Pathway

Projection of total SKDC business as usual emissions, the effect of proposed projects and the 30% reduction by 2030 target. 
NB. projected grid decarbonisation is included within the BAU pathway.

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

Emissions / tCO2e

R1, R2 R3 R4, R5 R6 R7 R8

6

Projects have been phased from lowest to highest costs in terms of pounds spent per ton of carbon saved (£/tCO2e abated - estimated costs only). In reality, implementation phasing will be 
dependent on a number of factors not yet assessed e.g. available funding, technology maturity, building lease terms etc. 

43



Executive summary

Next Steps

• Building on the analysis and suggestions provided throughout this action plan, it is now important for
SKDC to conduct a further, more detailed feasibility assessment of individual project opportunities. This
will ensure that the council is able to appropriately quantify and take forward more confidentially the
provisional opportunities identified within. Considering the current emission ‘hot spots’ (certain Council
owned buildings, fleet and leisure centres), SKDC should prioritise and coordinate efforts towards these
emissions sources in the first instance, and use the contents of this Carbon Reduction Action Plan for
further iterations of project development.

• The Council should use the initial quantifications (energy, carbon and cost saving potential) provided as
a building block for the development of further detailed business cases going forward. The results within
should be clearly communicated with the limitations to what has been done explained and shared with
key decision makers from across the organisation.

• Putting in place an early immediate plan that builds on the findings of this Carbon Reduction Action Plan
will help to ensure carbon reduction remains a key part of the council’s agenda going forward, whilst
also allowing the necessary budgets and organisational structures to be developed accordingly.

7

44



Section 1: Council target

Section 1: Council Target

The ambition of South Kesteven District Council demonstrates the intention of the Council to act
against the causes and impacts associated with climate change. The Council must now work
towards reducing its footprint in order to achieve this target, building and accelerating on the
emissions reductions that have previously been achieved throughout the organisation. This Action
Plan therefore details initial actions and key mechanisms required in order to work towards
reducing emission by at least 30% by 2030. It builds on the Carbon reduction plan developed by
SKDC in 2012 and reflects the Council’s newly declared climate commitments, progress and latest
developments.

The first step in developing the action plan is establishing an up-to-date carbon baseline,
particularly as some of this data has not been collected previously for SKDC. This provides the
reference from which to start form and a full analysis of the current emissions present, their
magnitude and who is responsible for them.

Scope 1
• Natural Gas
• Fleet

Scope 2 • Electricity

Scope 3

• Water
• Operational Waste
• Business Travel
• Leased assets

Table 1: Footprint boundary for South Kesteven 
District Council’s 2030 carbon neutral target

South Kesteven District Council has set a target of reducing its carbon footprint by at least 30% by 2030, as well as endeavouring to become net-zero 
carbon as soon as viable before 2050. This target covers those emission sources that are under both direct and indirect control of the Council (Table 1). 

8

45



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Section 2: Carbon footprint

This section provides an inventory of SKDC’s greenhouse gas emissions for the financial 
year 2018/19 – the ‘baseline’ against which future progress will be evaluated.

Scope

SKDC’s footprint has been calculated according to the World Resources Institute (WRI) 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol, and aligns to the following accounting definitions: 

• Direct GHG emissions are emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by 
the reporting entity

• Indirect GHG emissions are emissions that are a consequence of the activities of 
the reporting entity, but occur at sources owned or controlled by another entity

The GHG Protocol further categorises these direct and indirect organisational emissions 
into three broad scopes (figure 1):

• Scope 1: All direct GHG emissions
• Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from consumption of purchased electricity, heat 

or steam.
• Scope 3: Other indirect emissions, such as the extraction and production of 

purchased materials and fuels, transport-related activities in vehicles not owned 
or controlled by the reporting entity, electricity-related activities (e.g. 
Transmission and distribution losses) not covered in Scope 2, outsourced 
activities, waste disposal, etc

Figure 1: Overview of the World Resource Institutes GHG Protocol accounting methodology

9

46



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Carbon Footprint Methodology

General calculation methodology to calculate carbon emissions

In footprinting a common unit of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) is 
used, which allows the impact of each of the seven main greenhouse 
gasses to be expressed in terms of the amount of CO2 that would 
create the same amount of warming

Emissions are calculated by multiplying activity data by an emissions 
factor

Calculating a carbon footprint

A carbon footprint is calculated by multiplying activity data (e.g. litres of
vehicle fuel, kWh of electricity/gas) by an associated emissions factor:

• Where possible, real activity data should be collected throughout
the reporting period for use in the footprint calculation.

• Emission factors are updated annually and published by the UK
Government’s department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy (BEIS).

If activity data is not available, various benchmarks and proxies can be
used:

• Benchmarks can be used to approximate activity data. For
example, typical electricity consumption per m2 of a building.

• When input data is scarce, proxy factors can be used in place of
the BEIS factors to approximate emissions from the available
input data (e.g. contract value).

10

47



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Scope of carbon footprint

Scope 1 emissions [S1]:

- Gas consumption, typically space and water 
heating in buildings 

- Council fleet fuel consumption

Scope 2 elements [S2]:

- Electricity consumption in buildings

Scope 3 elements [S3]:

- Business travel in non-Council fleet vehicles

- Third-party disposal and treatment of waste 
generated in Council-controlled operations 

- Supply and subsequent treatment of water 
consumed by the Council’s operations

- Energy, waste & water consumption from 
buildings leased to a 3rd party operator (i.e. 
leisure centres)

- Upstream emissions from natural gas, 
vehicle fuel & electricity

SKDC Footprint FY 18/19

Non-Council 
operations

Leased out 
buildings

Council 
operations

Building 
emissions

Electricity 
consumption

Gas consumption

Waste generation  
& treatment

Water 
consumption

Transportation 
emissions

Council-owned 
fleet

Business mileage

Scope 3

S2 & S3 S1 & S3 S1 & S3 Scope 3

Scope 3 Scope 3

N.B. An explanation of excluded emissions is included in Appendix 1.
11

48



Section 2: Carbon footprint

South Kesteven District Council Footprint FY 18/19

Total emissions [tCO2e]

Scope 1

Natural Gas Fleet

Scope 3

Water Waste
Upstream emissions from 

scope 1 & 2
Business 

travel
Leased 

buildings

7,600

2,735 3,877

1,180 1,553 5 3 99 3,157613

Scope 2

Electricity

988

988

Refrigerant

2

In the 12 month period Apr’ 2018 – Mar’ 2019, 7,600 tCO2e were emitted from the council’s own operations and associated activities

• Scope 1: gas (primarily for heating buildings) and transport fuel consumption in the Council’s own fleet;
• Scope 2: electricity consumption within SKDC buildings used by SKDC staff;
• Scope 3: waste generation, water supply and treatment, business travel (arising from SKDC operated buildings, journeys 

completed by SKDC staff and councillors on behalf of SKDC activities), leased assets, and refrigerants. 

The Council will need to reduce their footprint to at least 5,320 tCO2e by 2030 to achieve their carbon reduction target, representing an 
average annual reduction of 190 tCO2e / year 

12

49



Section 2: Carbon footprint

South Kesteven District Council Footprint FY 2018/19

Scope 1
36.0%

Scope 2
13.0%

Scope 3
51.0%

7,600 
tCO2e

31.2% Emissions associated with electricity and gas consumption in Council-operated buildings 

25.2% Emissions from fuel consumption in the Council’s vehicle fleet make up a quarter of the total footprint

41.5% The majority of emissions come from leased buildings that Council owns but are leased and operated to a third-party.

SKDC’s footprint is primarily made up from four emission categories, so-called emission hotspots:

These emission hotspots should be at the forefront of the Council’s carbon reduction efforts, and are the focus of the 
recommendations made in this report.

Leased Buildings
41.5%

Fleet
25.2%

Gas
17.7%

Electricity
14.1%

Business Travel
1.3%

Water
> 1.0%

Waste
> 1.0%

Refrigerants
> 1.0%

7,600 
tCO2e

N.B. For the FY 18/19 footprint, ‘Leased Buildings’  is entirely made up of leisure centres owned by the Council & operated by a third party. 13

50



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 1: Electricity consumption in Council-operated buildings 

334.3
297.7

167.3
52.7

35.9

35.1
29.4

24.1
22.9
21.3

51.5

0.0 50.0 100.0 150.0 200.0 250.0 300.0 350.0 400.0

SKDC Street Lighting
HRA Assets

Grantham Main Offices
Grantham Arts Centre

Bourne  Corn Exchange
Stamford Arts Centre

Bourne CAP
Grantham Depot

Isaac Newton Centre Car Park
Welham St. Car Park

Other

Emissions [tCO2e]

Across all scopes, electricity consumption from assets operated by 

the Council accounts for 14.1% (1072 tCO2e) of the 

overall footprint.

In 2018/19, the Council consumed 3,489,764 kWh of electricity in its operated buildings. These emissions calculated for electricity 
generation are associated with the generation, and transmission and distribution of electricity.

First and foremost, this should be reduced through energy efficiency measures. However the emission factor for purchased electricity is 
reducing as conventional power generation from coal and gas is replaced by low-carbon generation (e.g. from renewables and nuclear). 
This will result in reduced emissions, even during a business as usual approach. 

As the carbon intensity of electricity reduces it will become more beneficial in terms of emissions to use electricity as a fuel in the place 
of gas, diesel etc. This electrification of heating and transport sectors will likely cause this electricity consumption to increase by 2030. 

14

51



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 2: Gas consumption in Council-operated buildings 

830.9

205.6

86.3

74.6

55.5

40.6

26.4

15.0

6.3
3.1

0.0100.0200.0300.0400.0500.0600.0700.0800.0900.0

HRA Assets

Grantham Main Offices

Grantham Arts Centre
Grantham Depot

Bourne Corn Exchange

Stamford Arts Centre

Bourne CAP

Bus Station - Grantham

Council Offices  - Stamford

EnvSK Offices

Emissions [tCO2e]

1,344 tCO2e were emitted from the use of gas to heat 

Council operated buildings….

…..equating to 17.7 % of the overall footprint

Gas is required for space and water heating in buildings. The Council consumed 6,415,665 kWh of gas in the financial year, 
61.8% of which was in Housing Revenue Account (HRA) assets. 

As the national grid decarbonises, it is recommended that heat sources are electrified where possible (e.g. through the 
installation of heat pumps). The Council should consider electric heating for all new-builds with high energy performance. 

For existing buildings, where possible a fabric first approach should be taken and retrofit actions should be performed to 
reduce heat loss and drafts before electrification (see appendix 2 for further explanation). 

15

52



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 3: Council vehicle fleet 

1,003

356

219

185

67

49

19

9

12

0.0 200.0 400.0 600.0 800.0 1000.0 1200.0

Waste Management

Street Cleaning

Green Waste

Responsive Repairs

EnvironmentSK

Unspecified

Pool Cars

Tenancy and Neighbourhoods

Other

Emissions [tCO2e]

Across all scopes, emissions from the Council’s fleet were calculated to be 

1919 tCO2e

The waste management fleet accounts for 52.3% of vehicle emissions

The Council own and operate a large fleet of 155 vehicles. EnvironmentSK operate a 
further 25 vehicles, which have been included in this footprint.

23 of the vehicles are large waste management vehicles, which account for 52.3% 
of total fleet emissions due to their size and high mileage. 

The majority of vehicles (176) are diesel powered, the remainder are petrol (2) and 
electric (2). The common decarbonisation pathway for transport is electrification, 
and the share of electric vehicles in the Council’s fleet will have to grow to achieve 
decarbonisation targets. The roll-out of infrastructure (e.g. charging points) will be 
necessary to support this roll out. 

16

53



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 4: Energy use in leased buildings – leisure centres

107.0

91.7

288.4

201.5

393.4

419.5

948.0

705.1

0.36

0.36

0.42

0.90

0.0200.0400.0600.0800.01000.01200.01400.0

Stamford Leisure Centre

Bourne Leisure Centre

Deepings Leisure Centre

Grantham Leisure Centre

Emissions [tCO2e] Electricity Gas Fuel oil Waste

The Council own and lease four leisure centres (LC) to a third-party operator. The 
operation of leisure centres is inherently energy intensive, and accounts for 41.5% of the 
Councils total footprint.

Plans for new LCs in the District present an opportunity to significantly reduce the 
Council’s emissions, and best-practice energy efficiency design should be mandated for 
any new centre. 

For the existing centres, illustrative potential energy reduction has been presented to 
show the types of reductions that would be required at these sites for SKDC to meet its 
carbon reduction goal (see section 3)

Total leisure centre emissions: 3,157 tCO2e 
17

54



Section 2: Carbon footprint

2030 Carbon reduction target

• South Kesteven District Council are targeting at least a 30%
reduction by 2030 for their scope 1, 2 and selected scope 3
emissions from a baseline of 7,600 tCO2e.

• The carbon intensity of the UK’s electricity supply is
reducing as renewable generation (e.g. wind, solar) is
replacing traditional fossil fuels (e.g. coal, natural gas).
Therefore, if the council were to maintain a business as
usual (BAU) case, where energy consumption remains
constant, electricity emissions will still decrease as a result
of this background electricity grid decarbonisation.

In a ‘do nothing’ scenario, SKDC’s grid supplied electricity 
emissions are expected to reduce by 1,087 tCO2e as a result 

of greener electricity from the national grid.

• Beyond this, a further 1,193 tCO2e reduction would be
needed to achieve at least a 30% carbon reduction, or 5,320
tCO2e annual emissions in 2030

• The BAU scenario assumes that the Council’s operations,
number of buildings and estate does not change from the
baseline year 2018/19 in subsequent years.

Projection of total SKDC business as usual emissions (including grid decarbonisation), the Council’s 
2030 carbon reduction target and the associated gap to target 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Emissions [tCO2e]

Gap to target Emissions not included in target BAU pathway 30% reduction target

5,320

1,193

18

55



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Section 3: Carbon Reduction Opportunities

• The following section details several opportunities for carbon emission savings that SKDC should prioritise for implementation. Background
information and assumptions behind calculations can be found in Appendix 2.

• By setting a minimum 30% target from a baseline of 7,600 tCO2e/year in 2018/19, an average 190 tCO2e will need to be saved each year across
the scope 1,2 and selected 3 emission sources included in the Council’s 2030 baseline. Eight overarching areas have been quantified in terms of
energy, carbon and cost saving potential. These projects cover emissions ‘hot spots’ and relate to:

Streetlighting - Upgrading all streetlighting under SKDCs control to LED and introducing advanced controls 

HRA Assets - Conducting feasibility assessments on the potential for LED upgrades and electrification of heating systems  

Fleet Management - Roll out of regular driver training and comprehensive telematics  

Fleet Electrification - Electrifying appropriate vehicles within SKDCs large fleet

Leisure Centres - Conducting feasibility assessments of the potential for energy efficiency and renewable energy measures 

St Peters Hill - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures  

Guildhall - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures

Stamford Arts - Roll out of energy efficiency measures

19

56



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

2030 Carbon Reduction Pathway

Projects have been phased out from lowest – highest costs in terms of pounds spent per ton of carbon saved (£/tCO2e abated estimated costs only). In reality, 
these projects would be appropriately phased out over a prolonged project timeline and dependent on a number of factors not assessed here e.g. available funding 

• Based on the potential projects and associated 
carbon reduction above, alongside the expected 
decarbonisation of the national electricity grid, 
the council’s footprint in 2030 could be reduced 
to 4,763 tCO2e/year. This equates to a total 
reduction of 37 % from the current 2018/19 
footprint of 7,600 tCO2e/year.

• Indicative staged project implementation of the 8 
priority project areas and the associated 
decarbonisation pathway from the 18/19 baseline 
can be seen in Figure 2.

• The overall cost of achieving the reductions is 
currently estimated at £3.3million. This doesn't 
include the decarbonisation of energy 
consumption in leisure centres, which will drive 
up the cost significantly where the SKDC bears 
such improvement and upgrade costs.

Figure 2: Projection of the total SKDC business as usual emissions (incl. grid decarbonisation), the effect of proposed 
projects and the carbon neutral target

R1 – St Peters Hill measures
R2 – Guildhall measures
R3 – Fleet management measures
R4 – HRA measures

R5 – Stamford Arts Centre measures
R6 – Streetlighting measures
R7 – Fleet measures
R8 – Leisure Centre measures 

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000
Emissions / tCO2e Net Emissions: Target BAU

R1, R2 R3 R4, R5 R6 R7 R8

20

57



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

2030 Carbon Reduction Pathway - Projects

• In consultation with the Council, projects have been phased according to the estimated cost per tonne of carbon dioxide abated 
(CAPEX £/tCO2e), with the most cost efficient projects deployed first.

• The costs and emissions provided in this report are estimates, and the order (CAPEX / tCO2e) may be subject to change when actual 
quotes are received as the projects progress.

Estimated CAPEX
GBP

Annual emissions saving
tCO2e

£ / tCO2e
Annual cost saving

GBP
Payback

Years

St Peters Hill measures 265,000 193 1,376 18,344 14.4

Guildhall measures 116,200 81 1,431 9,258 12.6

Fleet management 468,000 286 1,636 110,283 4.2

HRA measures 280,000 165 1,702 16,977 16.5

Stamford Arts Centre 
measures

18,000 9 2,006 3,583 5.0

Streetlighting 718,600 199 3,615 62,769 11.4

Fleet electrification 1,464,000 146 10,055 57,706 25.4

Leisure Centre 
measures

TBC 840 TBC 147,396 TBC

21

58



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

SKDC has responsibility for 3,593 street lights across the district. The majority of lights are 35W (or 36W) low pressure sodium lamps. No information has been
received regarding their state of repair (or column upgrade needs). Conservative energy savings of 40% are assumed achievable by upgrading all lamps to
appropriate LED alternatives. Additional savings will also be possible through implementing “control” savings such as dimming and/or trimming. Beyond energy and
carbon savings, SKDC would also benefit from reduced maintenance and lamp replacement lifecycle costs facilitated by the additional burn hours that LED
alternatives bring over traditional streetlights.

Illustrative energy and cost savings for a full LED upgrade with 50% dimming between 00:00-06:00 are detailed below. Maintenance savings and potential savings
through centralised management or trimming have not been included. A full detailed feasibility assessment should be conducted to ascertain more accurate costs
and savings before moving forward with these measures. Funding support may be available through Salix (https://www.salixfinance.co.uk/loans/street-lighting).

Street Lighting Reduction Opportunities

Streetlighting Upgrades 
• LED upgrade of 3,593 existing low pressure sodium 35W lamps
• Running circuit wattage with charging load equates to 58W power 

requirement  
• LED alternative would draw 35W (no circuit loss) and is dimmed by 50% 

between 00:00-06:00 
• 199 tCO2/ year 1 estimated saving
• £718,600 estimated capital cost (£200/lamp inc. installation)
• 569,282 kWh/year saving 
• £62,769/year cost saving (@ 11p/kWh) 

• Further assumptions and info can be found in Appendix 3. 

22

59

https://www.salixfinance.co.uk/loans/street-lighting


Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

HRA Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Electricity and gas consumption at HRA assets creates 1,169 tCO2e of emissions equating to approximately 15% of the baseline (including upstream emissions).
• The majority of the emissions arise from ~4 GWh of gas consumption (80% of carbon emissions from HRA assets)
• ~1GWh of electricity is also consumed (20% of carbon emission from HRA assets)
Limited information has been received about the breakdown of energy consumption, number of sites, technologies, etc. therefore assumptions have been made.
Table 2 provides an indication of where energy is consumed. Water heating (i.e. non space heating) and “other” electrical energy (plug points, lifts etc.) have been
assumed. It is also assumed that 100% of the energy consumption is associated with communal areas. SKDC should gather a detailed list of sites, disaggregated
energy consumption readings and associated M+E equipment to move forward with understanding the potential for carbon reduction of HRA assets.
For illustrative purposes however, the savings from an upgrade of 50% of the lighting to LED and electrification of 25% of the gas use is presented (and included
nominally within this action plan). These figures should however be updated using calculations based on actual figures in future iterations of this plan. Further
assumptions can be found in Appendix 3.

LED lighting upgrade
• Upgrade 50% of existing fittings to LED units
• 36 tCO2/year saving
• 102,235 kWh/year saving
• £12,268/year cost saving
• £80,000 nominal cost

Electrify heating system
• Electrification of 25% of gas consumption 
• 129 tCO2/year saving
• 745,587 kWh/year saving
• £4,709/year cost saving
• £200,000 nominal cost

Demand profile kWh % of use tCO2

Communal Heating - Electric 401,010 8.1% 140

Communal Lighting - Electric 511,174 10.4% 178

Communal - Electric Other 56,797 1.2% 20

Space Heating – Gas 3,767,175 76.3% 789

Water Heating – Gas 198,272 4.0% 42

TOTAL 4,934,428 100% 1,169

Table 2: Demand profile breakdown 

23

60



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

HRA Hotspots

The Council’s HRA assets include 32 General Needs Blocks, 22 Sheltered Houses, and 14 Community Centres. Actions related to these assets should be prioritised by 
assessing performance relative to the overall stock, and a benchmarking exercise should be undertaken to identify the worst performing assets. The exercise should be 
sensitive to the typical use of the buildings, floor area, number of inhabitants etc.

A preliminary benchmarking exercise has been performed based on data made available by SKDC. For General Needs Blocks & Sheltered Housing, benchmarking was 
performed on a kWh/flat/Yr basis. This exercise should be extended by the Council to account for other factors that exist but where data was not available for this report 
(e.g. SKDC boundaries of responsibility, floor area, typical use).  As seen below, potential carbon reduction focus areas would be on high gas consumers such as Woods Close 
and Manners Street to better understand reasons for apparently poor energy performance. These sites could be targeted for heat electrification pilot projects (e.g. heat 
pumps). Please note that this data was provided retrospectively, and does not relate to the financial data utilised for the initial footprint.  

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000

Archers Way

Angel Court

Thames Road

Woods Close

Church View

Emlyns Gardens

Witham Place

Stanton Close

Rectory Close

Almond Court

Manners Street

Hillary Close

Riverside

Meadow Close

Sheltered Housing. Relative consumption kWh / flat / Yr
Gas Electricity

24

61



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

HRA Hotspots

Community centres have 
been assessed on an 
absolute basis as data for 
suitable benchmarks (e.g. 
floor area) was not 
available. In the absence of 
any generally acceptable  
data, a qualitative review of 
the building’s use, 
operating hours etc. should 
be performed to identify 
poor performers. Bancroft 
Lodge, Tenter Court and 
Edmonds Close should be 
investigated as a priority to 
understand reasons for 
relatively high gas 
consumption and potential 
options for efficiency 
improvements and/or low 
carbon heat sources such 
as heat pumps.

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000 300,000 350,000

Tenter Court

Edmonds Close

St Martins Close

Benedict Court

Clare Close

Central Place

Greyfriars

Belton Avenue

Centerbury Close

Sandon Close

St Nicholas Close

Sherwood Rise

St Clements

Community Centres. Absolute consumption kWh / Yr
Gas Electricity

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000 14,000 16,000 18,000

Bancroft Lodge

Manor Lane

Station Road

Commercial Road

Larch Close

Shillaker Court

Sycamore Court

Agnes Street

Tenter Court

Owen Court

Kinoulton Court

General Needs Blocks. Relative consumption kWh / flat / Yr
Electricity Gas

25

62



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Driver style has a big impact on fleet fuel efficiency and driver training can reduce fuel consumption and emissions, as well as maintenance costs and risks of 
accidents. Typically training can save around 6-7% (6.5%* has been assumed for our calculations). Sustaining these savings is challenging, but we have assumed that 
all drivers of fleet vehicles attend the training twice between 2021 and 2030.

Telematics systems including GPS tracking are a useful fleet management tool, providing drivers with live feedback and guidance on driving behaviour as well as 
providing more accurate tracking of fuel consumption and costs. Research suggests that fleets could save 9% in fuel savings by switching to telematics**.  

Using telematics to monitor fuel consumption and driver behaviour can be used to tailor driver training initiatives. Additionally, the use of telematics to determine 
vehicle performance and maintenance schedules reduces the time a vehicle is running inefficiently

Fleet vehicle management Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Driver training – regular training course for all vehicle operators
• 125 tCO2/year saving
• £36,000 estimated cost 
• £48,000 saving (difference between current fuel costs and reduced fuel costs)

Further details, guidance  and background assumptions can be found in Appendix 3.  

*Department of Transport, 2016, Efficient Driving https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
**Fleetworld, 2018, Telematics could offer 9% fuel savings to fleetshttps://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/

Comprehensive telematics 
• 161 tCO2/year saving
• £432k estimated cost (over the next 10 years = £20/month/vehicle)
• £62,221 saving/year (difference between current fuel costs and reduced fuel costs)

26

63

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
https://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/


Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The current fleet operated by South Kesteven District Council consists of 180 vehicles, the majority of which are diesel fuelled. The Council operate three small electric
vehicles. Electrification of the fleet would lead to significant carbon reduction. To quantify this opportunity, it is has been assumed that all “Responsive Repairs”
vehicles (totalling 48 currently diesel vehicles) will be replaced by comparable electric vehicles (EVs) from 2026 and that mileage will remain constant. Rollout could
start prior to 2026, if suitable comparable vehicles are available.

Currently the majority of fleet is owned by the Council and not operated on a lease basis. The estimated capital costs below show two procurement alternatives 1)
outright ownership and 2) leased. The cost of electric vehicle charging points and supporting infrastructure is included in the costs.

Deep electrification of the fleet is not immediately viable for SKDC; the nature of the district requires long rural journeys, and a significant proportion of the fleet is
stored remotely at operators’ home addresses. For vehicles less suited to electrification in the short-term (e.g. refuse collection vehicles), biofuels or hybrid cars are
an effective way of decarbonising fleet emissions. For 2019, emissions associated with biodiesel and plug-in hybrids were ~99% and 35% lower than conventional
diesel respectively. With the current constraints & maturity of large EV technology the Council should assess the suitability of biofuel and hybrid solutions in the short-
medium term, whilst closely monitoring the costs and maturity of the EV market, particularly for larger vehicles. Where and when the circumstances allow, the Council
should prioritise wholly-electric vehicles.

Fleet vehicle electrification Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Fleet electrification
• Full electrification of council fleet of vehicles and installation of 

charging points
• 146 tCO2/year saving
• Capital Costs

• a) £1.46m estimated cost (outright purchase x48 vehicles)

• b) £168k estimated cost (annual lease costs x48 vehicles)

• £57,700/year cost saving (difference between electricity and diesel running costs)

Further details, guidance and background assumptions can be found in Appendix 3.  27

64



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The emissions associated with SKDCs four Leisure centres represent the single largest source of emission within the measured baseline. This equates to
approximately 41.5% of the total 7,600tCO2e in 2018/19. Emissions raising from SKDC leisure are deemed to be scope 3 emissions due to the operational
“ownership” of those energy sources residing with the management companies who run the centres. As such these emissions are deemed “downstream leased
assets” according to the GHG protocol. The management of their energy consumption is outside of SKDC’s direct sphere of influence. Nonetheless SKDC has chosen
to incorporate the associated emission within the chosen “at least 30%” reduction target by 2030.

An in-depth assessment and prioritisation of energy reductions potential should be conducted at all leisure centres to update the potential carbon emission
reduction within this plan. This will require planning and liaison with the management companies and alignment with future development plans.

A few simple energy efficiency measures can reduce energy consumption however. Although specific measures for reducing energy consumption should be
identified through more detailed assessment:

Leisure centre Carbon Reduction Opportunities

• Maintaining air and water temperatures of
swimming pools within (CIBSE1)
recommended temperatures

• Regularly cleaning of swimming pool filters

• Installing pool covers for when pools are
not in use

• Explore renewable energy heat source
potential

• Switching off fitness machines during quieter times
and overnight

• Installing the most efficient exercise equipment
available

• Roll out of LED lights across all areas

• Comprehensive monitoring and targeting of energy
use through appropriate energy management system

Further details can be found in appendix 3. 281Chartered Institute of Building Service Engineers

65



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

To provide an illustrative yet practical reduction from leisure centres within this action plan the following has been assumed:
• An improvement in the kWh/m2 of 20% for Grantham and Bourne Leisure centres (currently DEC rating C and D respectively)
• An improvement of 45% for Stamford leisure centre (currently DEC rating F)
• A fuel switch from oil based heating to gas and an overall improvement of 20% of kWh/m2 for Deeping Leisure.

Nominal carbon savings equate to 840tCO2e / year and almost £150k in cost savings. Capital costs are impossible to estimate at this stage.

Further details can be found in appendix 3.

Leisure centre Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Grantham Leisure centre 
• Existing: 832 kWh/m2

• New: 665 kWh/m2

• 235 tCO2/year saving
• 1,036,104 kWh/year 

saving
• £42,892/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

Bourne Leisure centre 
• Existing: 1,208 kWh/m2

• New: 967 kWh/m2

• 105 tCO2/year saving
• 460,092 kWh/year 

saving
• £19,177/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

Stamford Leisure centre 
• Existing: 2,114 kWh/m2

• New: 1,163kWh/m2

• 232 tCO2/year saving
• 1,001,581 kWh/year 

saving
• £44,157/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

Deeping Leisure centre 
• Existing: 868 kWh/m2

• New: 600 kWh/m2

• 268 tCO2/year saving
• 590,414 kWh/year 

saving
• £41,171/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

29

66



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

South Kesteven District Council’s main office (St Peter’s Hill) was built in the 1970s and extended to include SK House in the 1980s. The two buildings were
separated during a refurbishment to SK House in 2018/19, during which upgrades to the plant room and building management system were made. St Peter’s Hill
is currently heated using a series of No.10 boilers (c. 1980s) although some are decommissioned, and less than 10% of lighting is met with high efficient LED
fittings. The building therefore offers significant opportunity for decarbonisation.

In total, the projects identified for St Peter’s Hill have the potential to reduce SKDC’s emissions by 162 tCO2e per year, whilst saving 924,767 kWh and £18,344 
annually at a total capital cost of £265,000. Further details of these projects can be found in Appendix 3. 

St Peter’s Hill Carbon Reduction Opportunities

1. Energy management with aM&T

• Implementation of enhanced energy 
management systems across the site

• 6 tCO2/year saving 

• 20,224 kWh/year electricity saving

• 1,436 GBP/year cost saving 

• £0 capital cost

2. Lighting upgrades

• Upgrade all existing fittings to LED units

• 30 tCO2/year saving 

• 84,499 kWh/year electricity saving

• 9,644 GBP/year cost saving 

• £50,000 capital cost

3. Solar PV installation

• Assessment and installation of Solar PV 
units across the existing roof spaces

• 20 tCO2/year saving 

• 58,020 kWh/year electricity saving

• 6,622 GBP/year cost saving 

• £60,000 capital cost

4a. Upgrade heating system: gas boiler

• Replacement of existing boiler system with 
more efficient gas boilers.

• 51 tCO2/year saving 

• 243,070 kWh/year gas saving

• 5,024 GBP/year cost saving 

• £35,000 capital cost

4b. Upgrade heating system: ASHP

• Electrification of heating system with an 
air source heat pump (ASHP)

• 137 tCO2/year saving 

• 762,024 kWh/year gas saving

• 643 GBP/year cost saving 

• £150,000 capital cost

30

67



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The Guildhall Arts Centre is located in Grantham, and part of the cultural services provided by the Council. It’s primary purpose is the promotion and offering of
arts’ experiences, however the building is also used by the community for various workshops, meetings, parties etc. The building’s long operating hours make it a
priority case for refurbishment to achieve both decarbonisation and occupier comfort; it’s operation is currently typical for a building of its’ nature (DEC rating of
99).

In total, the projects identified for the Guildhall Arts Centre have the potential to reduce SKDC’s emissions by 81 tCO2e per year, whilst saving 382,704 kWh and
£9,258 annually at a total capital cost of £116,200. Further details of these projects can be found in Appendix 3.

Guildhall Arts Centre Carbon Reduction 
Opportunities

1. Energy management with aM&T

• Implementation of enhanced energy 
management systems across the site

• 3 tCO2/year saving 

• 12,654 kWh/year electricity saving

• 821 GBP/year cost saving 

• £3,000 capital cost

2. Lighting upgrades
• Upgrade all existing fittings to LED units

• 11 tCO2/year saving 

• 12,654 kWh/year electricity saving

• 4,132 GBP/year cost saving 

• £10,000 capital cost

3. Solar PV installation

• Assessment and installation of Solar PV 
units across the existing roof spaces

• 3 tCO2/year saving 

• 9,670 kWh/year electricity saving

• 1,230 GBP/year cost saving 

• £10,000 capital cost

5b. Upgrade heating system: ASHP

• Electrification of heating system with an 
air source heat pump (ASHP)

• 55 tCO2/year saving 

• 305,182 kWh/year gas saving

• 184 GBP/year cost saving 

• £85,000 capital cost

5a. Upgrade heating system: gas boiler

• Replacement of existing boiler system with 
more efficient gas boilers.

• 20 tCO2/year saving 

• 96,846 kWh/year gas saving

• 2,152 GBP/year cost saving 

• £20,000 capital cost

4. Upgrade AHU fans & VSDs

• Upgrade to EC plug fans and variable speed 
control in the air handling units 

• 8 tCO2/year saving 

• 22,714kWh/year electricity saving

• 2,889 GBP/year cost saving 

• £8,200 capital cost

31

68



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The Stamford Arts Centre is a Grade II listed building. The building forms part of the Council’s cultural offering, and is formed of a 166 seat theatre, a large
ballroom, and several other multi-functional rooms. Each year, the Arts Centre attracts approximately 750,000 visitors. The ballroom has recently been
refurbished with an efficient HVAC system, however much of the building requires supplementary portable electric heaters. The gas-heated sections of the
building are heated using recently installed boilers. Efficient LED lighting is sparsely rolled out in the Centre. The listed status of the Arts Centre restricts many of
the measures that can be deployed, particularly to the external fabric. The measures suggested are sensitive to this practical constraint, and offer a strong
business case for implementation. In the long run, SKDC should commission an internal insulation survey in order to ascertain the possibility of improvements to
heat loss levels through secondary glazing and other internal insulation measures. This will in turn reduce the need for expensive electrically heated portable
systems which are estimated to account for 20% of electrical use on site.

In total, the projects identified for Stamford Arts Centre have the potential to reduce SKDC’s emissions by 9 tCO2e per year, whilst saving 26,231 kWh and £3,583
annually at a total capital cost of £18,000. Further details of these projects can be found in Appendix 3.

Stamford Arts Centre Carbon Reduction 
Opportunities

1. Energy management with aM&T

• Implementation of enhanced energy 
management systems across the site

• 2 tCO2/year saving 

• 7,041 kWh/year electricity saving

• 848 GBP/year cost saving 

• £3,000 capital cost

2. Lighting upgrades

• Upgrade all existing fittings to LED units

• 7 tCO2/year saving 

• 19,190kWh/year electricity saving

• 2,735 GBP/year cost saving 

• £15,000 capital cost

32

69



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Grantham Depot and 
other sites Carbon Reduction Opportunities 

SKDC operates a number of smaller sites (in terms of carbon emissions) including the Depot where vehicle and workshop operations are based. The Depot
accounts for approximately 100 tCO2e equating to >1% of overall emissions. A provisional site visit was conducted although full access was not granted and
currently there remains uncertainty around the metering arrangements for the 3 buildings on site. In addition, it has been indicated that the future of the site is in
question and it is likely that SKDC will need to relocate to facilitate more space for vehicles and workshop areas. As such it is not recommended that any
significant investment is made at the Depot until future considerations are taken into account. However there are a number of low cost or “no regret” actions
that should be considered at this site (and others not specifically highlighted) alongside the larger capital investment decisions elsewhere that have been
highlighted above. These primarily concern the treatment of the energy consumption at all sites as a controllable resource by implementing management
procedures such as those outlined below. These have not been quantified in terms of savings but remain important.

Monitoring and reporting:
• Regular collection of energy consumption and cost data

through automatic metering monitoring and targeting
(aM&T) systems

• Analysis of consumption against energy drivers (e.g.
occupancy levels, external temperature), time and utility
bills

• Regular (annual) reporting

Addressing energy waste
• Including suggestions for changes (lights left on, over-heating,

over-cooling, water leaks)
• Job/Priority sheets for reducing energy waste (e.g. repair

leaking/dripping taps)
• Maintenance schedules to include reducing energy wastage
• Operating instructions to include energy use issues (e.g.

nightly shut down procedures). Active reporting systems

Energy policy
• Agreed by senior management
• Communicated to all employees
• Reviewed at least every 3 years
• Quantitative improvement targets.

Appointment of senior staff member with responsibility for
energy and energy champions appointed
• Clear job description & assigned adequate resources for

designated person
• Regular management meetings to review energy use

33

70



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Business travel 
Carbon Reduction Opportunities

The emissions associated with business travel on behalf of SKDC currently total 99 tCO2e. Whilst proportionally and in terms of prioritisation, there are more
carbon intensive hotspots the Council should target, the following opportunities should be considered to encourage a reduction business travel associated
emissions. These opportunities largely revolve around reducing the total journeys and mileage being completed by Council employees.
• The use of Skype and MS Teams (and other video conferencing tools) are a great way to cut down on face to face meetings.
• Car sharing and encouragement on the use of public transport where possible should also be investigated.
Ultimately SKDC will need to engage with its employees to better understand the practical implications of reducing its business travel footprint.

Remote working
Video conferencing

Car sharing Incentives

Employee engagementEncourage use of public transport 

34

71



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Waste Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Whilst waste accounts for only a very small proportion of overall carbon emission measured in the baseline, it is a tangible emission source that many
employees will be aware of and can contribute to. The following measures can be considered as part of this action plan to begin dealing with waste. Waste is a
controllable resource that can be reduced through concerted effort and action .

Quantify – By understanding the volume and types of waste produced it is possible to fully attribute a cost to this. It is necessary to
understand costs of purchasing products and subsequent disposal. This data can then be annualised to understand the impact and
prioritise action areas. Site specific waste audits of all buildings will build an understanding of the type and volume of waste arising.
Where appointed, working with the waste contractor, will increase understanding of how waste is managed, where it goes and how
much this costs.

Use a suitable waste management company – There may be another waste management company which suits your organisation
better. In order to establish whether your current service provision is fit for purpose, compliant and offers value for money, a number
of key questions should be asked: How often are bins collected? Are they full when collected? (You could be paying for empty or
nominally empty bins being emptied). Are there any discounts/more favourable rates available for segregating recyclable waste? Does
your contractor offer complementary additional services to help manage or reduce your waste such as waste audits or waste
prevention planning? How and when will ‘Duty of Care’ documentation be provided?

Improve recycling management– Clearly label recycling bins to show where and what can be recycled. You should check the contents
of your recycling bins regularly to ensure that the recyclables are not contaminated. Ensure everyone understands the cost benefits of
recycling correctly. Consider removing or reducing the number of waste bins around your premises. To aid corporate approval, develop
the business case for restricting the residual waste capacity inside the premises.

35

72



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Water
Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Whilst water also accounts for only a very small proportion of overall carbon emission measured in the baseline, it is another tangible emission source that
many employees will be aware of and can assist with reductions. The following measures can be considered when as part of this action plan to begin dealing
with water as a controllable resource that can be reduced through concerted effort and action.

Stop dripping taps – A dripping tap can waste more than 5,500 litres of water per year. To help identify leaks and other water
losses take meter readings last thing at night and first thing in the morning to ascertain how much water is being used outside
working hours. Check your pipes and contact your water supplier to help locate leaks. The savings from tap maintenance or
replacement may be worth the investment.

Install water reducing kit in washrooms – Cistern dams, flow restrictors or percussion taps can all reduce water and costs.
Consider installing taps that are self-closing or with infrared sensors; as well as reducing water use they can improve hygiene.
Consider the cost benefit of procuring water reducing kit on a site by site basis. Expertise and resource is needed to select items
to procure given the number of offerings on the market.

Regularly maintain water systems and lower the water pressure – Regular maintenance of taps will ensure that soap deposits
and scale does not cause leaks or jammed taps. A flow rate of 5-6 litres per minute is adequate for hand washing. Tap aerators
and flow restrictors are low-cost solutions which can reduce water use by up to 70%.

36

73



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Beyond 2030

Looking beyond 2030, the Council has committed to endeavouring to become
net-zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050. This report has not explored
the potential pathway to achieving this target. There are several areas the
Council would need to explore further to determine how to reach this
ambition.

• Defining net-zero – as per the definition (below) it is necessary to further
define this target. There are a several methods and we would suggest
exploring this as an additional piece of work.

• Defining the pathway to 2050 – Once the target is defined, this means
extending analysis conducted to 2030 (as per slide 19 and 21) to 2050 to
understand the scale of emissions reduction challenge.

• Identifying projects to reach net-zero
1. Deeper application of existing projects such as more comprehensive

and sooner electrification of the fleet (e.g. before 2035).
2. New projects to reduce emissions through energy demand reduction,

electrification and renewable energy such as smart battery storage
technologies, vehicle to grid (V2G) applications for electric vehicles
and Council lead district heating and cooling networks.

3. Only after reducing emissions as much as possible, considering
offsetting any remaining/residual emissions.

Definition of a net zero organisation:

“A net-zero organisation will set and 
pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned 

Science Based Target for its full supply 
chain emissions. Any remaining hard-to-

decarbonise emissions can be 
compensated with certified greenhouse 

gas removal (GGR)’ 
(Draft Science Based Target Initiative 

/Carbon Trust definition)

Further explanation and exploration: 
www.carbontrust.com/news-and-
events/insights/net-zero-an-ambition-in-need-of-
a-definition

37

74

https://www.carbontrust.com/news-and-events/insights/net-zero-an-ambition-in-need-of-a-definition


Section 4: Governance and engagement

To manage the implementation of a carbon reduction programme, it is important that organisational procedures are put in place to maintain a focus on 
carbon reduction over time. In order to achieve the carbon reduction target, the Council will have to consider dynamic organisational structures to ensure 
that they remain flexible in the approaches being taken to tackle climate change. A key emphasis should be on enhancing knowledge sharing and 
integration across internal Council-led teams and ultimately focussing on initiatives that can be driven forward by the residents, organisations and 
businesses across the borough. This section describes the main activities and changes that should be considered in order to embed carbon reduction across 
the council in the first instance.

Governance

The Cabinet Member for Commercial & Operations is the Cabinet lead for climate change and will continue to champion the Council’s response to climate 
change and carbon reduction.  The Climate Change Action Task & Finish Group is charged with developing carbon reduction options and proposing these to 
the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee, in turn, the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee will then make recommendations to Cabinet.

It is intended that carbon reduction initiatives will be mainstreamed in to Council-wide strategic, service and project plans to ensure that these are actively 
factored in as part of the core objectives of each of these with clear accountability held by those delivering these – for example, any leisure centre reduction 
measures would be expected to form part of the leisure centre programme plans.  All Overview & Scrutiny Committees would have a role in informing, 
scrutinising and strategically monitoring this across their relevant remits.  To support this, all decision reports also have a climate change impact 
assessment.

General coordination, oversight and advice will continue to be provided by the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer with support from the Council’s 
Performance Lead officer to provide climate/carbon performance data across all areas.  Council-wide updates on progress against the Council’s carbon 
reduction targets could be reported to Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee, via an annual position statement report.

Section 4: Governance and Engagement

38

75



Section 4: Governance and engagement

Stakeholder Engagement

Robust engagement with stakeholders from across the Council will be a crucial for successful climate action implementation. The Council should explore 
innovative ways through which the whole organisation can contribute towards achieving carbon neutrality by 2030. 

Achieving the greatest possible input and buy-in will allow SKDC to work closely with all stakeholders to identify the areas of the Council to prioritise in order 
to reduce emissions. It will be important for the Council to remain transparent throughout all engagement activities, to provide stakeholders with the 
opportunity to contribute towards the planned reduction activities that the Council intends to implement across its own estate. 

Developing a robust stakeholder engagement plan should build on previous engagement to:

➢ Develop an initial list of stakeholders from across the Council to continually engage

➢ Complete internal in-depth stakeholder mapping exercise to identify, map and prioritise key stakeholders from across the Council. This will ensure that key 
stakeholder needs are identified and understood with the relevant resources being targeted effectively. 

➢ Develop and agree a communications/engagement strategy that clearly details the Council’s approach towards stakeholder engagement, ensuring 
complete transparency.

➢ Develop the appropriate tools to accurately plan and track all stakeholder interaction and store stakeholder information.

Section 4: Governance and Engagement

39

76



Section 5: Monitoring and reporting

Once a carbon footprint has been measured and a target set, measuring progress is an important part of implementation. Monitoring and reporting are 
essential activities that should be undertaken at least annually between the baseline year and target year, and beyond.

Monitoring

Collecting the data should be completed internally on a regular basis. This process should become streamlined as the necessary data sources and 
associated contacts/owners become familiar with the process and adopt best practice data management. The ‘Carbon Trust Footprint Calculator’ provides 
a tool to collect data and calculate an updated footprint (using updated emission factors where necessary). 

Not only does the footprint need to be monitored but progress with implementing carbon reduction opportunities should be actively monitored too, 
including implementation year, energy reduction and cost savings. In this way, successful projects can be reported on in quantitative as well as a qualitative 
way. This can help to drive momentum and support securing budget towards future measures.

In addition to monitoring the footprint itself, the project team should continually monitor how local plans and policies will affect the Council’s footprint 
and affect the ability of the Council to reach respective carbon reduction targets. This will help the project team to identify other potential carbon 
reduction opportunities and ensure that any carbon reduction co-benefits of specific policies can be delivered. 

Section 5: Monitoring and Reporting

40

77



Section 5: Monitoring and reporting

Reporting

Annual reporting of the carbon footprint is essential. Not only does it ensure transparency but can also identify any arising issues which could prevent the 
target being met. A key measure should be the annual emissions reductions achieved across the Council, alongside the overall progress towards meeting 
the target, and implementation of carbon reduction opportunities.

Internal and external reporting processes and mechanisms should be established as part of the programme management. As a minimum progress should 
be reported annually and communicated to the X team as part of ongoing programme management. Communicating more widely with stakeholders across 
the District will ensure transparency and demonstrates progress towards targets. The footprint and progress can also feed into annual reports and local 
plans. 

Section 5: Monitoring and Reporting

41

78



Appendices

Appendices

1. Excluded emission sources

2. General notes
• Capital costs
• Decarbonising heat

3. Further information and assumptions:
• Street lighting
• HRA assets
• Fleet management
• Fleet electrification
• Leisure centres
• SKDC buildings

42

79



Appendices

Appendix 1: Excluded emission sources

Some emission categories are not relevant to a Council’s operations and have therefore been excluded from this footprint. 

In future, SKDC could consider exploring expanding it’s footprint to include supply chain/scope 3 emissions the emissions, such as employee 
committing, procured service and investments. This would require additional data.

Emission Source

Sc
o

p
e 

3

Capital goods Out of scope: Does not play a key role in the Council’s operations.

Upstream leased assets

(3rd party owned, Council operated – Leisure Centres)
Included

Employee commuting Excluded from scope of this report

Procured services (contracts) Excluded from scope of this report

Franchises Out of scope: No franchises controlled by the Council

Investments Excluded from scope of this report

Downstream transportation and distribution Out of scope: No sold goods distributed by the Council

Processing of sold products Out of scope: Not applicable to the Council’s operations

Use of sold products Out of scope: Not applicable to the Council’s operations

End-of-life treatment of sold products Out of scope: Not applicable to the Council’s operations

43

80



Appendices

Appendix 2: General notes

Capital Costs

• The capital costs stated in this report are based on the application of technical principles and professional
evaluation. The professional evaluations are based on information available and are conditioned by data limits,
scope of work and time.

• Whenever possible, calculation of energy and economic savings has been performed. Similarly, approximate capital
costs were estimated which can be used to derive simple payback.

• All suggested projects require verification and detailed assessment prior to proceeding with implementation.
• It would be prudent to conduct detailed life cycle assessments particularly for high capital value projects factoring in

a number of variables that are not included within to derive more sophisticated metrics such as NPV and IRR for
improved evaluation and prioritisation.

Decarbonising Heat

• The majority of decarbonisation pathways include the electrification of heat sources (e.g. replacement of gas boilers
with electrically-powered heat pumps).

• Heat pumps output at a lower temperature compared to gas boilers and their operation is therefore more sensitive
to the energy efficiency of the building.

• Before electrification is considered, a building’s fabric (e.g. air tightness, insulation, ventilation) should first be
considered and upgraded where necessary to ensure that an appropriately sized heat pump can efficiently meet the
heat demand of a building.

44

81



Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and assumptions  
- Streetlighting LED 

• When selecting new lights, it is essential the quality of light is considered, not just its energy consumption. There are many 
measures used to evaluate the effectiveness of lighting besides the energy it consumes and SKDC should be careful to ensure the 
quality of lighting is not compromised. Indicators and technical terms used to evaluate the quality of lighting besides energy 
consumption include (but are not limited to) light output, lighting intensity and glare, light density, light pollution, good colour 
rendering levels and colour temperature. In addition lighting design software can be used to simulated new lighting schemes 
(renders) and manufacturers or independent lighting designers should always produce comparative renders of the existing and 
planned lighting, especially if the existing columns are being retained.

• Additional benefits of LEDs include more focused light which improves night-time visibility (and therefore reduces vehicle 
accidents), and reduces light pollution for local residents. Their significantly longer life expectancy (10 to 12 years for LED v 3 - 6 
years for conventional lighting) means reduced maintenance costs, fewer lamp renewals, less scouting and physical monitoring.

• It has been assumed 40% of energy would be saved by converting street lights to LED. The actual energy saving realised will vary
according to many factors including the difference between the wattage of the current luminaire and the LED proposed. Before 
selecting an LED replacement, the quality of light must be respected, the light output must be equivalent or better and the lamp
should have a colour rendering index greater than 70. The use of white light sources (lamps with a colouring index greater than 60) 
allow a lower lighting class to be used on residential roads which also brings about potential savings in energy consumption.

• A cost of £0.11 per kWh has been used, which was derived from the data collection. The implementation cost is based on £200 per 
LED luminaire (£150 for a 35W LED equivalent and £50 per unit installation fee). It assumes that column replacements will not be
needed given many suppliers offer an LED luminaire-only replacement solutions meaning the column doesn't have to be replaced. 

• It must be noted that LED project costs are also influenced by other installation costs, survey costs, adviser costs, dimming and 
trimming technology and a central management system (CMS) therefore the estimated figure may not reflect total actual costs.

• The calculations assume lamps are not currently dimmed. It is estimated that a further 33% reduction would be achieved by 
dimming all lamps to 50% of their output between 00:00-06:00. Its is assumed all streetlights are upgraded to LED by 2022. 

45

82



Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and assumptions -
HRA Assets

• Limited information has been received regarding the number of sites, disaggregated energy consumption, 
systems/technology/plant involved and specification of energy using equipment.

• SKDC should seek to ascertain in the first instance whether all energy quoted under this emissions source resides within 
communal areas or includes energy consumed within tenant areas e.g. communal heating systems for flats. 

• LED lighting upgrade figures assume that 50% of the quoted energy consumed for lighting is currently provided by fluorescent 
style lamps and can therefore be upgraded to LED creating a 40% reduction in energy use.

• It is estimated that 35kW of LED would be required to upgrade the associated lighting at a cost of £2,500/kW of LED.
• The electrification of heating system estimate is not based on any actual data and significant further investigation is required to 

ascertain the costs, savings and practicalities of such upgrades. 
• Due to the significant up-front costs associated with electrifying heat, it is important that the Council undertakes robust planning 

and feasibility assessments to ensure the installation of systems delivers both energy and cost savings. This includes a robust 
assessment of necessary building fabric and oversized heat emitters to cope with lower temperatures that heat pump systems 
generally operate at. 

• This illustrative estimate assumes that 25% of the current  gas heating demand could be upgraded with heat pumps alternatives
meeting with a co-efficient of performance (COP) of 3.6 providing a target demand of 706,345kWh (determined from assuming 
the current gas fired heating system is 75% efficient).

• Cost are based on a nominal £200,000 and will vary significantly depending on the nature of the situation which is deemed 
outside this assessment.

• Year 1 carbon reduction figures are based on 2018/19 carbon factors and factor in the reduction of grid emission going forward.
• It is assumed that the carbon savings associated with HRA measures are fully implemented from 2023. 

46

83



Appendices

Driver training 
• To quantify this opportunity, it is assumed that 180 drivers (one driver per vehicle) undertake 2 training between 2021 and 2030. 
• Each course of training is estimated to cost ~£100 (a market snapshot show costs vary but this is conservative estimate).
• Research shows that fuel efficiency improvements were greater when driver were trained more than once*. 
• In terms of overall carbon reductions, up to 25% reduction is possible*, but more realistically the reduction is estimated to be between 5-10% in the 

long terms. We have assumed an 6.5% long term reduction*.

Telematics 
• It is assumed that improved or new telematics would be used for all 180 fleet vehicles, and that the cost of this would be £20/month per vehicle*** 

to provide driver management, in-depth live tracking, traffic updates, sophisticated reporting, maintenance tracking and driver safety analysis.
• The impact of telematics in terms of savings can vary*, we have assumed a 9% fuel saving**.
• It should be noted that use of telematics is not solely about technology instalment. Adoption of telematics need to be designed to the needs of the 

Council and engage with employees on the benefits to be deliver savings. 

Fleet policy 
• A formal fuel efficient fleet policy is a commitment to reducing dependency on fuel across the organisation. It should provide the framework and 

roadmap for taking action to reduce fleet fuel consumption going forward, and set targets for continual year-on-year improvements.

Case studies: Dumfries and Galloway Council, Leeds City Council
Guidance: Guide to managing grey fleet mileage, Guide to Telematics

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - Fleet management

*Department of Transport, 2016, Efficient Driving https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-
rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
**Fleetworld, 2018, Telematics could offer 9% fuel savings to fleetshttps://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/
***Expert Market, 2020, Vehicle Tracking Costs 2020, https://www.expertmarket.co.uk/vehicle-tracking/vehicle-tracking-systems-cost 47

84

https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Dumfries%20%26%20Galloway%20Council%20grey%20fleet%20case%20study%20FINAL.pdf
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Leeds%20City%20Council%20Case%20Study_0.pdf
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/15-05%204940-EST-Grey-Fleet-Management-Guide-A4-final.pdf
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Telematics.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
https://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/
https://www.expertmarket.co.uk/vehicle-tracking/vehicle-tracking-systems-cost


Appendices

Electric Vehicles 
• To quantify this opportunity, it is assumed that all responsive repair vehicles will be replaced by comparable electric vehicles, 

and that the mileage will remain constant. 
• There are 50 responsive repair vehicles within the total fleet of 180 vehicles (of which 2 are currently electric)

• The location of Council’s depot may change in the next few years replaced by a new depot. We understand discussions around this are ongoing within 
the Council. We are also aware that some fleet vehicles are taken home by employees, the cost of charging infrastructure related to home charging has 
not been taken into account.

• Some of the vehicles proposed for replacement are larger vans, for which the commercially viable models are currently emerging, therefore it may take 
some time for the Council to replace these vehicles.

• Car derived (small) and medium electric vans (up to 2.2 tonnes) have been available for some time. A variety of models are now available from different 
manufacturers, each with their own performance specifications. 

• At present, there is a very limited range of large 3.5 tonne electric vans available, however projections indicate that this is likely to change as whole 
markets transition towards electric vehicles. A number of vehicle manufacturers have actively been testing and trailing a variety of electric light 
commercial vehicles (LCVs), however the majority of these are still considered to be in their prototype phases. The cost of such vehicles is the 
predominant barrier, and it is estimated that currently they are at least twice as expensive as the equivalent diesel van. This is likely to reduce over time 
as the market develops. 

• A conservative approach has been taken in terms of the implementation timeline, this could of course begin sooner with more vehicles delivering 
greater carbon savings. Waste vehicles will be the most challenging to electrify but SKDC should keep this under close consideration given the associated 
carbon emissions. Trials have begun elsewhere in the UK (https://resource.co/article/sheffield-trials-waste-powered-electric-bin-lorries)

• One of the simplest ways of reducing LCV fleet emissions and costs is to downsize the vehicles where possible. When vehicles are due for replacement 
the current usage should be robustly and independently reviewed and the need for large vans challenged. The impact of this approach has not been 
included in calculations. 

Guidance: Electric and smart vehicles guide

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - Electrification of Council fleet

48

85

https://resource.co/article/sheffield-trials-waste-powered-electric-bin-lorries
https://www.carbontrust.com/resources/electric-and-smart-vehicles-guide


Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and assumptions -
Leisure Centres

• SKDC have decided to include leisure leased asset portions of their operations within their core footprint and target. 
Many councils are now beginning to include previously unmanaged and unmeasured resources from their scope 3 footprint, 
such as outsourced leisure operations into their plans. SKDC should however be commended for the decision  to include the centres within the target.

• At present, limited information has been provided regarding the energy efficiency and energy management status of the leisure centres outside of the 
associated energy consumption. All sites are known to managed by an external management company.  

• Display Energy Certificates for each centre were however obtained online to determine the associated energy intensity per m2 for the reported year 
18/19.

• To provide an illustrative yet realistic target for each leisure to contribute to the 30% reduction target, it has been suggested that for Grantham and 
Bourne Leisure centres a reduction of 20% in electricity and gas use needs to be achieved (DEC rating C and D respectively). In these instances it is likely 
that the improvements would bring about an uplift in the DEC ratings to B and C respectively which is deemed a realistic target (not modelled and could 
go further).

• The current DEC rating of an F at Stamford Leisure centre indicates poor energy performance and it is assumed for the purposes here that a 45% 
improvement in the energy intensity could be achieved improving the DEC rating to a D.

• Given the presence of an Oil based heating system at Deeping Leisure centre, the assumption is made that this can be switched to Gas (although 
electrification inline with other section of this report should seriously be considered in the first instance) and an overall improvement of 20% could also be 
achieved.

• The cost of achieving these improvements has not been estimated to the lack of site level information and the high level nature of the above. It could be 
assumed however that to achieve such reductions £1000-£2000 per ton of carbon saved (840 in this illustrative example) may be required equating to 
£840,000 - £1,680,000. Costs involved could however be many orders of magnitude higher depending on a wide variety of factors. 

Guidance: Hospitality sector energy saving guide including leisure and fitness facilities

49

86

https://www.carbontrust.com/resources/hospitality-sector-energy-saving-guide


Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - SKDC buildings

1. Energy management with aM&T
• The Council should look to develop an overall policy and procedure towards energy management across it’s sites. Energy management is a 

continuous process that develops over time. A blend of both technological and management interventions is required in order to develop 
robust energy management procedures. The Council will need to ensure that any strategy is integrated, proactive, and incorporates energy 
procurement, energy efficiency and renewable energy to be fully effective.

• Estimated savings have been calculated based on industry-accepted estimates, and information obtained from physical site visits (e.g. 
proportion of electric heating). % reduction in total electricity consumption, and % reduction in gas consumption for space heating were 
assumed to be as follows: St Peter’s Hill, 2.0% & 1.0%; Guildhall Arts Centre, 3.0% & 2.0%; Stamford Arts Centre, 5.0% & 1.0%

2. Solar PV installation
• Simulations were run using 250 W panels each occupying an area of ~1.6 m2 panel -1. The building was assumed to consume 100% of the 

electricity produced by the array, and a CAPEX of £1,000 per kW was applied. 
• Useable roof areas of 400 m2 and 65 m2 were estimated for St Peter’s Hill and the Guildhall Arts Centre, respectively. 
• The occupancy of building’s visited were consistent with the generation profile of a solar PV system, and an energy storage system (e.g. a 

battery) has not been included in the business case. Further consideration of a site’s actual demand profile should be made to access the 
suitability of an energy storage system to increase the utilisation of electricity generated.

The energy performance of the visited sites conformed to a similar standard. In general, there was no/limited building 
management system in place, < 10% LED light fittings and no on-site renewable energy generation. Additionally, St Peter’s Hill 
and the Guildhall Arts Centre are both entirely or partially heated by boilers over 20 years old. Many of the suggestions are
therefore standardised ‘easy wins’ that can be applied across the Council’s building stock. More information and the 
assumptions for the projects are contained below: 

50

87



Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - SKDC buildings

3. Lighting upgrades
• LED lighting offers significant energy savings over typical fluorescent tube lighting. The quality of light produced and types of fittings 

available can also make for a more attractive, exciting and comfortable working environment. It is more cost effective to replace 
current fittings immediately with LEDs as opposed to waiting for current units to fail.

• Alongside upgrading the lighting itself it is important to consider an appropriate control system. Installing daylight and/or
occupational sensors can ensure that lights are not turned on inappropriately or left on at the end of the working day or over 
weekends. Such systems are cost effective and a useful means of reducing electricity demand.

• The proportion of electricity used for lighting was estimated for each building, derived from industry benchmarks and information 
obtained from physical site visits. This varied from between 13.8% - 15.9% for the three sites. 

• Expected kWh saving of 40% from the LED & control system rollout was used to estimate savings. Costs were approximated using 
2500 £/kW of LED.

4. Heating system upgrades
• For all the sites visited, space and water heating make up a considerable proportion of the site’s emissions. Where heating upgrades have been 

recommended, two options have been put forward (a. electrify heating through an air source heat pump, or b. upgrade existing gas boilers).  
• The business case for installing a heat pump is often weaker than upgrading with traditional gas boilers. However, the enhanced efficiency of a heat 

pump and grid decarbonisation make for greater carbon savings relative to a gas boiler. The business case for heat pumps is expected to significantly 
improve with sector maturity and Government policy (e.g. increase in gas levies). 

• By choosing the cheaper straight swap option for upgrading existing gas boilers, the council will very likely lock themselves into a more carbon intensive 
heating source for buildings over the coming years. As such, it is strongly advised that electrified heating should be thoroughly investigated for all sites in 
the future.

a. Air source heat pumps. Electrical demand of heat pump derived assuming current gas boiler efficiency of 70% and heat pump COP of 4 – 4.1.  Cost 
assume £425/kW of estimated heat demand required (350kW for St Peters Hill and 200kW for the Guildhall)

b. Upgraded gas boilers. Gas consumption of upgraded boilers derived assuming current gas boiler efficiency of 70% and a new boiler efficiency of 95%.
Costs assume £100kW of estimated heat demand required (350kW for St Peters Hill and 200kW for the Guildhall). 51

88



Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the 
authors, the Carbon Trust, its agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as 
to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this 
publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing in this publication shall be 
construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or 
any proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces 
infringements of its intellectual property rights to the full extent permitted by law.
The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 
4190230 with its registered office at 4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.
Published in the UK: 2020.
© The Carbon Trust 2020. All rights reserved. 

89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

6 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, 
Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

    

         
  

 

Review of Statement of Licensing Policy (Licensing 
Act 2003) 

The Council has a statutory duty to review and publish its Statement of Licensing Policy every 5 
years.  An updated draft Statement of Licensing Policy has been prepared for 2021-2026 and is 
presented for consideration.   

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental 

Tel:  01476 406319 

Email:  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Budget and Policy 
Framework 

All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ian Yates, Assistant Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

8 September 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

10 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

10 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Considers the draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 and makes any 
amendments. 

91

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

2. Supports the draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 proceeding to public 
consultation.  

92



 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council, as the Licensing Authority, has a statutory duty to review and re-publish its 

Statement of Licensing Policy “the policy” at least every five years.  The current policy is 

due for review by January 2021.   The policy forms an essential part of the decision-

making process for licensing applications. 

1.2 The policy sets out how the Council will carry out its functions under the Licensing Act 

2003 with a view to promoting the licensing objectives namely:  

• The prevention of crime and disorder  

• Public safety  

• The prevention of public nuisance  

• The protection of children from harm  

1.3 Activities regulated under the Licensing Act 2003 include:  

• The sale of alcohol  

• The provision of regulated entertainment  

• The provision of late-night refreshment (the provision of hot food or hot drink between 
11pm and 5am) 

1.4 The policy has been updated to reflect the latest statutory guidance published under the 

Licensing Act 2003 in April 2018, information about the district and other minor changes to 

ensure the draft policy is accurate.  

1.5 The proposed changes are shown in red as “track changes” within the draft policy 

document at Appendix 1.   The main changes include: 

• Further detail on measures which may be considered appropriate to assist premises to 
comply with the licensing objectives 

• Update to the section relating to cumulative impact to reflect changes that have been 
made as a result of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 

• Inclusion of the specific mandatory licence conditions attached to licenses authorising 
the sale or supply of alcohol on the premises  

• Inclusion of further details relating to Temporary Event Notices and their limitations  

1.6 The Council is required to carry out public consultation, including a range of relevant 

consultees as detailed at paragraph 1.12 of the draft policy.  Given the limited number of 

changes anticipated it is proposed that a 2-week consultation will be undertaken.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 In addition to contacting the organisations detailed, the consultation will be made available 

for comment on the Council’s website and publicised via social media. The Licensing 

Committee will also be invited to comment.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council is required to review its Policy to ensure it reflects latest legislation and 

guidance. There is no other option available for consideration. 

 

93



 

 
 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 In order to comply with legislative requirements, the Council should review and publish its 

revised statement.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To ensure that the statutory duty to review and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy is 

complied with and to support transparent and consistent decision making by the Licensing 

Committee and Officers.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Following the period of consultation officers will analyse any responses.  The final draft, 

incorporating any amendments as a result of the consultation will be presented to Cabinet 

before determination by Council. The Licensing Act 2003 requires that the making of the 

Statement of Licensing Policy is a function of the Council. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial implications arising from the policy will be met from existing budgets. The 

Licensing Act 2003 provides for fees to be payable to the licensing authority in respect of 

the discharge of their functions. These fee levels are set centrally by government. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires each licensing authority to prepare and 

publish a Statement of Licensing Policy every 5 years.  Before determining its policy the 

Licensing Authority must consult with relevant consultees.  The aim of the policy is to 

ensure fairness, clarity and consistency, equality of treatment and proportionality in the 

approach to be adopted by the licensing authority in determining licensing application. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 An Initial Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is attached at Appendix 

2.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Reviewing and publishing a revised policy ensures that decision making continues to be 

transparent and consistent.  Failure to meet the statutory duty could lead to uncertainties 

in decision making and could leave the Authority open to challenge.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 The objectives of the Licensing Act 2003 seek to ensure adequate measures are in place 

in licensed premises to protect public safety, protect children from harm, prevent public 

nuisance and prevent crime and disorder. The four licensing objectives have a positive 

impact on community safety.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The review of this policy has a neutral impact on the Council’s declaration. 

94



 

 
 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications not already detailed with the report have been identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Revised guidance issued under section 182 of Licensing Act 2003, April 2018  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003 

15.2 Appendix 2 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment  

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

14 September 2020 

Final Decision date   28 January 2021 

 

95

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
LICENSING ACT 2003 

 
 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy 
 

2021 - 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version Stage Date 

V1 (draft) Environment OSC 6 October 2020 

   

 
 
 

97

Appendix 1



 
 

1 
 
 

Table of Contents 

 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................ 2 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................... 4 

2.  Integrating other Guidance, Policies and Strategies ..................................... 7 

3. The Licensing Process .................................................................................. 9 

4. Licensing Objectives ................................................................................... 10 

5. Licensing Hours .......................................................................................... 16 

6. Children and Licensed Premises ................................................................. 17 

7. Cumulative Impact ...................................................................................... 19 

8. Nudity and striptease .................................................................................. 21 

9. Conditions of Licence .................................................................................. 22 

10. Reducing the Harm caused by Alcohol ....................................................... 22 

11. Late Night Levy (LNL) ................................................................................. 23 

12.     Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMRO’S) ............................................... 23 

13. Minor Variations to Premise Licences ......................................................... 24 

14. Temporary Event Notice ............................................................................. 24 

15. Large scale music and other similar events ................................................ 25 

16. Review of Premise Licence ......................................................................... 26 

17. Suspension of Premise Licence – Non payment of annual fee ................... 26 

18. Enforcement ................................................................................................ 27 

19. Policy Review .............................................................................................. 27 

20. Advice and Guidance .................................................................................. 28 

Appendix 1 ............................................................................................................ 29 

Delegation of Functions ........................................................................................ 29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

98



 
 

2 
 
 

Executive Summary 
 
The Licensing Act 2003 (the Act) came into effect in 2005. Section 5 of the Act requires 
the Licensing Authority (South Kesteven District Council) to determine, and publish, a 
Statement of Licensing Policy that they propose to apply in exercising their functions 
under the Act. This process is to be repeated every five years.  The Licensing Authority 
must also keep the policy under review during each five year period and make any 
such revisions it considers appropriate. 
 
This policy was last reviewed in 2011 2016 and has regard to follows the Home Office 
guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.  This guidance includes 
several important changes to the Act to introduce measures to reduce red-tape, 
provide more flexibility and increase the potential to expand and augment local 
economies and promote cultural issues.   
 
The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 introduced the Late Night Levy 
and Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Orders, as well as providing for the Licensing 
Authority and Local Health Board to become Responsible Authorities.  The Live Music 
Act 2012 changed the way in which regulated entertainment is licensed and the 
Deregulation Act 2015 made further changes to the licensing of alcohol sales and the 
provision of entertainment, such as music, singing and dancing. 
 
Any decision taken by the Licensing Authority in regard to determination of licences, 
certificates and authorisations will aim to promote the licensing objectives which are: 
 

• The prevention of crime and disorder 

• Public safety 

• The prevention of public nuisance 

• The protection of children from harm 
 
Each application will be determined on its own merits. 
 
This policy covers the licensable activities as specified in the Act which are: 
 

• Sale by retail or supply of alcohol 

• Regulated entertainment  

• Late night refreshment 
 
Decisions can be taken by the Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing Committee, a 
three person sub-committee comprising members of the Committee; or Officers using 
delegated powers. 
 
The Licensing Authority has the ability to grant licences for premises and certificates 
for qualifying club premises. It also grants personal licences and accepts temporary 
event notices. Applicants for premises licences should be aware of the expectations 
of the Licensing Authority and the Responsible Authorities regarding the steps that are 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  
 

99



 
 

3 
 
 

Applicants should also be aware of the requirement to make enquiries about the 
specific area in which the licensed premises is, or is to be, situated and to be able to 
demonstrate that knowledge when describing the steps they propose to take to 
promote the licensing objectives. 
 
Where relevant, the Licensing Authority consults with the responsible authorities as 
described in the Act. Local people and Members of the Council are able to have their 
say and their opinion heard through public consultation on this policy and by making 
representations about applications for premises licences or requesting reviews of 
licences for problem premises. 
 
Enforcement of the legislation is a requirement of the Act and is undertaken by the 
Licensing Authority. This policy describes the Licensing Authority’s enforcement 
principles and the principles underpinning the right of review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100



 
 

4 
 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 South Kesteven District Council is one of seven districts in Lincolnshire with a 

population of around 142,000 136,000.  Two thirds of people live in the four 
main towns of Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and the Deepings with the 
remaining third living in one of over 80 villages and hamlets.  With an area of 
365 square miles, it is one of the largest districts in the country. 

 
1.2 This Authority has over 500 premises licensed under the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
1.3  South Kesteven District Council, (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Licensing 

Authority’), is responsible for the licensing of all licensable activities under the 
Licensing Act 2003 (the Act). When undertaking the review of this policy the 
Licensing Authority had regard to the Best Practice Framework for the Review 
of Licensing Policy Statements issued October 2012.  

 
1.4  This document sets out the policies and principles that the Licensing Authority 

will apply to all places selling or providing: 
 

• Retail sale of alcohol  

• Supply of alcohol to club members  

• Provision of 'regulated entertainment' - to the public, to club members or 
with a view to profit.  

• Late Night Refreshment 
 
1.5  Regulated entertainment is defined in the Act as:  
 

• A performance of play  

• An exhibition of a film 

• An indoor sporting event  

• Boxing or wrestling entertainment  

• A performance of live music  

• Any playing of recorded music  

• A performance of dance  

• Entertainment of a similar description to live music, recorded music   or 
dance.  

 
1.6 Late Night Refreshment as defined in the Act as: 
 

• The supply of hot food and/or hot drink from any premises including mobile 
food stalls between 11pm and 5 am. 

 
1.7 Places or premises include: 
 

• Pubs and night-clubs 

• Off-licences 

• Restaurants serving alcohol 

• Restaurants and takeaways open between 11.00pm and 5.00am 

101



 
 

5 
 
 

• Hotels 

• Guest houses 

• Private members clubs and social clubs 

• Theatre and amateur dramatic groups 

• Cinema operators 

• Organisers of Temporary Events 

• Community events 
 
1.8  This policy and associated guidance is intended to provide clarity to applicants, 

other persons and responsible authorities on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.   

 
1.9  The Licensing Authority has a duty under the Act to carry out its functions with 

a view to promoting the four licensing objectives.  These are:- 
 

• The prevention of crime and disorder 

• Public safety 

• The prevention of public nuisance 

• The protection of children from harm 
 
1.10  In promoting the licensing objectives the Licensing Authority will pay due regard 

to the revised guidance issued in March 2015 April 2018 under Section 182 of 
the Licensing Act 2003, and any subsequent legislation or Guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State.   

 
1.11  It is recognised that the licensing function is only one means of securing the 

delivery of the above objectives and should not therefore be seen as solving all 
problems within the community.  The Licensing Authority will therefore continue 
to work in partnership with its neighbouring Authorities, the Police, local 
businesses and local people, towards the promotion of the objectives as 
outlined.   

 
1.12 In preparing this policy statement the Licensing Authority has consulted with 

those listed below, with appropriate weight being given to the views of those 
who have responded. 

 

• The Chief Officer of Police 

• The Fire and Rescue Authority 

• The Director of Public Health 

• The Planning Department 

• Environmental Health (Health & Safety) 

• Environmental Health (Environmental Protection) 

• Trading Standards 

• Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board 

• Home Office (Immigration)  

• Other relevant bodies 

• Representatives of licence holders and club certificate holders 

• Local businesses and their representatives 

102



 
 

6 
 
 

 
1.13 The purpose of licensing is to control licensed premises and other events within 

the terms of the Act.  In accordance with the terms of the Act, and subject to 
any relevant representations, conditions may be attached to licenses and the 
various other permissions, which will focus on matters falling within the control 
of individual licensees. 

 
1.14 These conditions will relate to the premises and other places being used for 

licensable activities and the impact of those activities on any individual, body or 
business affected by the operation of a licensed premise, regardless of their 
geographical location.   
 

1.15  Each application will be treated on its merits and these may include, but are not 
limited to: 

 

• the nature of the licensable activity; 

• the nature and locality of the premises; 

• the time of day of the proposed licensable activity; and 

• the frequency of the activity. 
 
1.16  It should however, be made clear that the licensing function is not to be seen 

as the primary mechanism for the general control of anti-social behaviour by 
individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the licensee of any 
premises concerned.  Whilst there are a range of statutory powers available to 
deal with such behaviour, these powers will not always be sufficient to control 
negative impacts on the local area.  Therefore, the fact that such impact may 
occur is a relevant factor in the consideration of licensing applications.  This 
may lead to a refusal of the application or the imposing of conditions to meet 
the concern. 

 
1.17  In undertaking its licensing function, the Licensing Authority is also bound by 

other legislation including, but not exclusively: 
 

• Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – which imposes a duty on 
every Local Authority to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its decision making process.  The duty now extends to anti-social 
behaviour, substance misuse and behaviour adversely affecting the 
environment 

 

• The European Convention on Human Rights, which is given effect by the 
Human Rights Act 1998, which places a duty on public Authorities to protect 
the rights of individuals in a variety of circumstances 
 

• The Provision of Services Regulations 2009 to ensure requirements are: 
i. Non- discriminatory. 
ii. Justified by an overriding reason relating to the public interest. 
iii. Proportionate to that public interest objective. 
iv. Clear and unambiguous.  
v. Objective. 

103



 
 

7 
 
 

vi. Made public in advance, and 
vii. Transparent and accessible. 

 

• Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 
 

• Police and Justice Act 2006 
 

• Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 
 

• The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
 

• Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
 

• Disability and age discrimination legislation.  South Kesteven District 
Council is committed to the implementation and application of this policy - 
in such a manner as to ensure that no applicant or other person is treated 
less favourably on grounds of sex, marital status, race, nationality, ethnicity, 
national origin, colour, disability or age; nor is disadvantaged by the 
application of a rule, condition or requirement which has a discriminatory 
effect, which cannot be justified either in licensing terms or as a requirement 
of law.   

 
1.18  The scope of this policy covers all applications and notices made under the 

Licensing Act 2003. 
 
1.19  The Licensing Authority will also seek to discharge its responsibilities identified 

by other Government and local strategies, and the work of other agencies so 
far as they impact on the objectives of the Licensing Act.  Some examples are: 

 

• Home Office Guidance for local partnerships on alcohol-related crime and 
disorder data 

• LACORS/TSI code of practice on test purchasing of age restricted goods 

• HM Government Alcohol Strategy 

• The Lincolnshire Alcohol and Drug Strategy 2014 – 2019 

• Lincolnshire Community Safety Agreement 

• Relevant employment legislation with regards to the protection of children 
and young people 

• A Guide for Event Organisers in Lincolnshire 

• ‘Challenge 21 25’ campaign, currently promoted by Lincolnshire Trading 
Standards 

• ‘Pubwatch’ schemes operating within the district 
 
2.  Integrated Strategies and the Avoidance of Duplication Integrating other 

Guidance, Policies and Strategies 
 
2.1 The Authority may implement other polices, strategies and initiatives that may 

impact on licensing activity within the remit of this policy statement.  Subject to 
the general principles of this policy statement and the overriding need to 

104



 
 

8 
 
 

promote the licensing objectives, the Licensing Committee may have to regard 
to them when making licensing decisions.    

 
2.1 South Kesteven District Council’s vision is to: 
 
Keep SK clean, green and healthy 
Promote leisure, arts and culture 
Support good housing for all 
Grow the economy 
 
2.2 By consulting widely, prior to this policy statement being published, and working 

with our partners at all levels it is hoped this will generate an alignment between 
this Policy and any that may be developed by partner agencies. 

 
2.3 There are a number of wider issues which may need to be given due 

consideration when dealing with applications.  The Licensing Authority’s 
Licensing Committee may therefore receive and may act upon relevant reports 
regarding: 

 

• level of crime and disorder, and community safety issues, including anti-
social behaviour 

• needs of the local tourist economy 

• cultural strategy for the area 

• employment situation in the area and the need for new investment, and 
employment where appropriate 

• planning considerations which might affect licensed premises 

• local transport arrangements 

• any other reports considered appropriate to the licensing function 
 
2.4 The Licensing Authority recognises that licensing applications should not be 

seen as a re-run of the planning application process and that there should be a 
clear separation of the planning and licensing regimes to avoid duplication and 
inefficiency.  To assist in this process the Licensing Committee may provide 
reports to the Development Control Committee on the situation regarding 
licensed premises in the district, including the overarching priority to reduce the 
impact of alcohol-related crime and disorder. 

 
2.5 Applicants are encouraged to consider making any necessary applications and 

enquiries for planning permission before, or at the same time as, they make an 
application for a premises licence or a club premise certificate. 

 
2.6 In reaching a decision, of whether or not to grant a licence, the Licensing 

Authority will take account of any non-compliance with other statutory 
requirements brought to its attention, particularly where these undermine the 
licensing objectives.  Non-compliance with statutory requirements may 
demonstrate that the premises are unsuitable for the activities proposed, or that 
the management of the premises is not adequate to protect the public from 
harm or nuisance. 

 

105



 
 

9 
 
 

2.7 In order to avoid duplication with existing legislation and regulatory regimes the 
Licensing Authority will, as far as possible, not attach conditions of licence 
unless they are considered necessary for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  Conditions will generally be considered unnecessary if they are 
already adequately covered by other legislation. 

 
3. The Licensing Process 
 
3.1 The functions of the Licensing Authority under the Act may be carried out by 

the Licensing Committee, by a sub-committee or by one or more officers acting 
under delegated authority.  Delegated powers shall be in accordance with the 
table at Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 Each application for licensing will be considered on its own merits - for example, 

free from the imposition of quotas on the number of licensed premises or 
generalised closing times.   
 

3.3 Applicants are strongly advised to liaise with the responsible authorities with 
respect to the content of their operating schedule before making any 
application.  South Kesteven District Council’s Licensing Team are always 
available to provide advice and guidance to any applicant or other person 
involved in the process. 

 
3.4 Applicants will be required to submit, with their application for a premises 

licence/club premises certificate or variation to their existing premises 
licence/club premises certificate, an Operating Schedule.  The operating 
schedule plays a major part in ensuring compliance with the Act, in particular 
showing how the four licensing objectives are to be achieved.  The schedule 
will aid any Responsible Authority or other person to assess whether the 
proposed steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives are satisfactory.  
The schedule will form part of the conditions of the licence (if granted) and 
therefore they must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve.  
Examples on what steps can be taken to promote the four licence objectives 
can be found below. 

 
3.5 Applications will be determined having regard to: 
 

• this policy 

• the Licensing Act 2003 and supporting legislation 

• guidance issued by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) 
or the Home Office 

• any ‘relevant representations’ received (provided that they are not 
determined by the Licensing Authority to be frivolous, vexatious or 
repetitive). 

• although they may be in any geographical position, any representation 
made must be relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives.   

 
3.6 This Authority will, however, look at the geographical location of the author of 

any representation or review application received.  Where the author lives or 

106



 
 

10 
 
 

works a significant distance from the premises subject of an application or 
review, this Authority will examine the content of the representation particularly 
closely.  We would expect Tthe author will be expected to explain in detail how, 
in terms of the licensing objectives, how they would be affected by the 
application.  The Licensing Authority will consider rejecting any representations 
which did not include sufficient detail to outline any harm or disturbance which 
may be caused.  

 
3.7 Account will be taken of the need to encourage and promote all types of 

entertainment including live music, dancing and theatre for the wider cultural 
benefit of the community as a whole.  If representations are made concerning 
the potential for limited disturbance from these activities in a particular 
neighbourhood, the Licensing Authority’s consideration will be balanced 
against the wider benefits to the community. 

 
3.8 The Licensing Authority acknowledges the advice received from the 

Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) that the views of vocal 
minorities should not be allowed to predominate over the general interests of 
the community. 
 

3.9 The Licensing Authority expects all applicants to complete the ‘Adult 
Entertainment’ box of the application form which requires details of any adult 
entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or matters ancillary to 
the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children.    
 

3.10 If there are to be no such entertainments, services, activities or other matters 
then the form should state that clearly.  The Licensing Authority may return, for 
amendment, any application which is incomplete in this material area. 
 

3.11 Failure to submit an application in the correct form will result in that application 
being returned.  The Licensing Authority will endeavour to explain why the 
application is considered to be deficient and will invite the applicant to re-submit 
the application with all the required information. 

 
 
4. Licensing Objectives 

 
 General 
 
4.1 Each of the four licensing objectives is of equal importance.  The Licensing 

Authority considers the effective and responsible management of the premises 
and the instruction, training and supervision of staff and the adoption of best 
practice to be amongst the most essential control measures for the 
achievement of the licensing objectives.  For this reason, these elements 
should be specifically considered and addressed within an applicant’s operating 
schedule. 

 
4.2 It is for the applicant to decide what, if any, measures to suggest in its operating 

schedule to address any potential concerns that might arise in the promotion of 

107



 
 

11 
 
 

the licensing objectives.  Applicants are reminded that measures proposed in 
the operation schedules will be converted into conditions on their licence. 
 
Examples of steps the Licensing Authority would expect applicants to consider 
and address include: 

 
4.3 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
 

In accordance with the Guidance, Police views on matters relating to crime and 
disorder will be given considerable weight. There are many steps an applicant 
may make to prevent crime and disorder.  The Licensing Authority will look to 
the Police for the main source of advice on these matters.   

 
i. Membership and promotion of a South Kesteven recognised Pubwatch 

Scheme or similar organisation. Membership and regular attendance of 
meetings of a crime reduction group such as Pubwatch can help stop known 
troublemakers entering your premises.  Pubwatch and the Police can share 
information between each other, incidents such as resale of stolen goods, 
recent outbreaks of trouble and information of crimes against businesses.  
Pubwatch bans do have serious repercussions on the social lives of the people 
affected.  They may have to travel much greater distances to frequent licensed 
premises and as such they cannot socialise with their friends in the same way.  
As such, up to date Pubwatch signage can act as a deterrent.  Pubwatch 
membership would be considered best practice for many premises located in 
the town centres where the supply of alcohol is an authorised activity.       The 
ability to share information with participating venues can help to highlight 
problematic persons or events and give the opportunity for a joined up 
approach.  

 
ii. Physical security features should be considered e.g. use of toughened or plastic 

drinking glasses.  Where appropriate, the operating schedule may specify 
details of when the use of plastic or toughened glass will be applied as defined 
by a risk assessment. Plastic may be very preferable for use in outside areas 
where broken glass could be difficult to clear up or where there may be an 
increased level of rowdiness such as when and where national sporting events 
are televised.      

 
iii. The use and numbers of SIA licensed door supervisors.  It is illegal to use door 

staff who are not licensed by the SIA.  For more information on the SIA please 
visit their website at http://www.sia.homeoffice.gov.uk or call their helpline 08702 
430 100.  The decision when to employ door supervisors and in what number 
depends on a risk assessment.  Managers should be sensitive to local and 
national events such as major football events, even if your premises are not 
involved directly.  When using Door Staff the Licensing Authority recommends 
the use of an “incident book” which should be maintained recording details of 
duty door staff and any incidents dealt with.  This should be kept available for 
inspection at any reasonable time by Police and Council officers. 
 

iv. The amount of seating to be provided to reduce high volume vertical drinking.. 
 

108

http://www.sia.homeoffice.gov.uk/


 
 

12 
 
 

v. Training given to staff in crime prevention and drug awareness measures. 
   

vi. Measures agreed with the Police to reduce crime and disorder.  The 
development of good relations with local police officers is beneficial in 
preventing incidents occurring on your premises.  If customers become 
accustomed to police officers making frequent checks, problem behaviour can 
be discouraged.  Additionally, records kept of any crime or disorder incidents 
and where sales of alcohol have been refused will help the police and local 
authority monitoring. 
 

vii. Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs. Ensuring adequate 
staffing at busy times so that staff members are regularly checking all areas of 
the licensed premises including toilets and other areas that are not easily visible 
from the bar.  Such measures would include a premises drug policy and 
statement of such a policy. 
 

viii. Search procedures.  Effective searching not only prevents certain crimes by 
removing prohibited articles, but also serves as a deterrent. 
 

ix. Provision of CCTV in and around the premises.  Details of any CCTV system 
and suitable signs associated with it.  If installing a new CCTV system advice 
from the Crime Reduction Officer or Licensing Officer of Lincolnshire Police 
should be sought.   
 

x. Formulation of a dispersal policy.  You should ensure that when customers 
leave the premises, they do so in an orderly manner.  A music and lighting 
policy which encourages a calming effect on customers before they leave can 
help.  It may be that a transportation policy is required to get customers home 
after leaving the premises when there is no viable alternative. 
 

iii.xi. Measures to prevent glasses and bottles being taken away from the licensed 
premises.  Open containers should not be taken from the premises.  Signs to 
reinforce that only drinks purchased on the premises may be consumed on the 
premises could be advisable.   

 
4.4 Public Safety 
 

The Licensing Authority will not seek to impose fire safety conditions on 
licenses where the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 applies. 

 
i. Suggested occupancy figures (including staff and performers).  This can be 

based on a recent assessment completed by a fire officer/building control 
officer. It is the responsibility of the licence holder to do a risk assessment of 
the business and expert advice may be required.   
 

ii. Not only does the size and number of emergency exits affect the occupancy 
figure, so does the floor area, ease of exit and the density and type of furniture 
and fittings. Please note that sanitary accommodation can affect occupancy 
figures.  Please specify if your premises has a capacity of less than 200 people, 

109



 
 

13 
 
 

and the application is for the sale of alcohol on the premises and dancing as 
there is an exemption available under section 177 of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 

iii. Use of equipment and effects.  You should be able to demonstrate that 
equipment, whether fixed or temporary is safe and in working order such as the 
electrical, fire alarm and emergency lighting systems and fire fighting 
equipment. There are however, types of equipment and effects which require 
specific risk assessment and advice from experts such as the Environmental 
Health or Health and Safety officers. 
 

iv. Levels of door supervision.  Please see above in Crime and Disorder.  When 
assessing the numbers of door staff, you should be consider their safety and 
employ them in sufficient numbers to ensure that they are able to deal with all 
emergencies and evacuations, not just in their crime and disorder role. 
 

v. Measures to prevent the supply and use of illegal drugs.  Please see the 
General and Crime and Disorder headings. 
 

i. Free availability of clean drinking water.  It is recognised that some persons 
either in possession of or under the influence of drugs will gain entry to 
premises despite stringent search methods. Some drugs combined with 
dancing can cause overheating of the body and a craving for water.   

ii. Free availability of clean drinking water and its controlled consumption can help 
to alleviate the effects of the drug.   Water available in sanitary accommodation 
should not be used for this purpose. 

vi. Physical safety features e.g. use of toughened glass and plastic containers.  
Please see above in Crime and Disorder; 
 

vii. Fire safety, training and evacuation procedures; 
 

iii.viii. Provision of CCTV. 
 
4.53 The Prevention of Public Nuisance 
 

Applicants will need to focus on the effect of the licensable activities on persons 
living and working in the area around the premises which may be 
disproportionate or unreasonable.  Issues will mainly concern noise nuisance, 
light pollution, noxious smells and litter but should be relevant to the particular 
premisespremises.  

 
i. The location of premises and proximity to residential and other noise sensitive 

premises, such as hospitals, hospices and places of worship and the proximity 
of other sensitive areas such as schools, war memorials etc; 
 

ii. The hours of opening, particularly between 23.00 and 07.00; 
 

iii. The nature of the activities to be provided, including whether those activities 
are of a temporary or permanent nature and whether they are to be held inside 
or outside the premises; 
 

110



 
 

14 
 
 

iv. The design and layout of the premises and in particular the presence of noise 
limiting features; 
 

v. The occupancy capacity of the premises; 
 

vi. The availability of public transport; 
 

vii. The availability of parking in residential areas; 
 

viii. ‘Wind down period’ between the end of the licensable activities and the closure 
of the premises;  
 

ix. The formulation of a dispersal policy; 
 

x. Last admission time; 
 

xi. The upkeep of the area immediately surrounding the premises such as litter 
collection. 
 

i.xii. Installation of noise limiting equipment. 
 
4.5.1 Closure of outside areas after a certain time is encouraged to be included in 

your operating schedule.  It is advisable that no regulated entertainment is 
carried out in outside areas in the evenings without prior consultation with the 
Licensing Authority.  Noise can also be contained by keeping windows and 
doors shut, by installing double-glazing or air conditioning and ventilation where 
appropriate, which should be maintained in good order.  Using performers of 
regulated entertainment to remind customers to respect the premises’ 
neighbours and leave quietly has proved successful.   

 
4.5.2 A guide for the management of noise and other public nuisances is available 

on the Council’s website 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8505 
It is recommended that you contact an officer from Environmental Health for 
further advice before submitting your application. 

 
4.6 Protection of Children from Harm 
 
4.6.1 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from 

moral, psychological and physical harm. This includes not only protecting them 
from the harms associated directly with alcohol consumption, but also wider 
harms such as exposure to strong language and sexual expletives (for 
example, in the context of exposure to certain films or adult entertainment).  

 
4.6.2 The Licensing Authority is aware that alcohol misuse and abuse is one of the 

recurring key ‘parental factors’ in child protection, often contributing to parental 
neglect of children, domestic abuse and violence within families. 

 
4.6.3. Alcohol is often a factor in child sexual exploitation, where young people may 

be encouraged or coerced to drink alcohol.  Being under the influence of alcohol 

111

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8505


 
 

15 
 
 

impacts on the safety and health of young people.  They become vulnerable 
and are at risk of becoming involved in activities they otherwise would not.  
Nationally, evidence has been found of the sexual exploitation of children taking 
place on licensed premises, or premises being used for the purposes of 
grooming and enticement. The Licensing Authority is especially mindful that it 
must always consider the need to protect children from sexual exploitation. 

 
4.6.4 The Licensing Authority encourages licence holders and operators of licensed 

premises: 
 

• To ensure that they are fully aware of the signs of child sexual exploitation 
and to understand the sexual exploitation of a child is sexual abuse and is 
a crime; and 

• To raise the awareness of their staff about child sexual exploitation and 
provide intelligence to the appropriate authorities about concerns and about 
perpetrators who may be operating in their areas.  

 
4.6.5 The Licensing Authority recognises the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children’s 

Board as being the competent authority to advise on matters relating to the 
protection of children from harm.   Their details can be found in the Guidance 
to Applicants available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk or on request. 

 
4.6.6 A statement should be made in the operating schedule regarding the child 

admission policy of the premises detailing any restrictions.  Good management 
and staff training are essential in dealing with this objective.    

 
4.6.7 Signage can be very important in the protection of children from harm.  It is 

important that signage makes clear the restrictions on access to the premises 
or part of the premises by children.  It is also important to have children 
supervised at all times in these types of premises.  

 
4.6.8  It is expected to show in your operating schedule that if children are permitted 

on the premises that any areas where children are not allowed are demarcated, 
these may be bar areas, in areas with amusements with prizes or a strong 
element of gambling, suitable refreshments should also be available at all times 
when children are permitted. Make sure that children needing to use the toilets 
can get there without crossing areas within which they are not permitted.  

 
4.6.9 When considering access by children, you may wish to consider the following: 
 

• Limitations of the hours when children may be present; 
• Limitations on the exclusion of the presence of children under certain ages 

when particular specified activities are taking place; 
• Limitations on the parts of premises to which children might be given 

access; 
• Age limitations (below 18); 
• Requirements for accompanying adults (including for example, a 

combination of requirements which provide that children under a particular 
age must be accompanied by an adult);  

112

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 
 

16 
 
 

• Full exclusion of those people under 18 years of age from the premises 
when any licensable activities are taking place; and 

• Presence of acceptable number of appropriate adult staff to ensure public 
safety and protection of children from harm. 

 
4.6.10 It should be noted that it is an an offence; 
 

i. to permit children under the age of 16 unaccompanied by an adult (that is a 
person aged 18 or over) to be present on premises open for the supply of 
alcohol for consumption there and being used exclusively or primarily for the 
supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises under the authorization of 
a premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary event notice; 

 
ii. to permit the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an 

adult (that is a person aged 18 or over) between midnight and 5am to be on 
premises supplying alcohol for consumption on the premises under the 
authorization of any premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary 
event notice. 

 
4.6.11 The offences may be committed by a premises licence holder, designated 

premises supervisor or any person who works at licensed premises, whether 
paid or unpaid, in a capacity which authorizes him or her to request an 
unaccompanied child under 16 to leave the premises.  

 
4.6.12 It may also be committed by any member or officer of a club, which holds a club 

premises certificate, who is present on the premises in a capacity which 
enables him to make such a request or a premises user in relation to premises 
being used under the authorization of a temporary event notice. 
 

5. Licensing Hours 
 
5.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that fixed and artificially early closing times 

in certain areas can lead to peaks of disorder and disturbance on the streets, 
when large numbers of people leave licensed premises at the same time.   

 
5.2 Longer licensing hours permitting the supply of alcohol may therefore be 

considered as an important factor in reducing friction at late night food outlets, 
taxi ranks and other sources of transport. 

 
5.3 There is no presumption in the Licensing Act 2003 for longer hours to be 

granted over objections from local people and organisations.  Where there are 
objections, and the Licensing Committee believes that changing the hours 
would undermine the licensing objectives, the Committee can reject the 
application or grant it with appropriate conditions or hours. 

 
5.4 As far as the Licensing Authority’s overall approach to licensing hours is 

concerned, it is not intended that any form of zoning will be introduced.  
Experience in other areas shows that this can lead to the significant movement 
of people across boundaries, in search of premises opening later, puts greater 

113



 
 

17 
 
 

pressure on town centres than is necessary and can lead to increased disorder 
and nuisance. 

 
5.5 Shops, stores and supermarkets should generally be permitted to sell alcohol 

for consumption off the premises during the normal hours they intend to open 
for shopping purposes.  However, in the case of individual shops that are known 
to be a focus of disorder and disturbance, then subject to receiving valid, 
relevant representations, a limitation on licensing hours may be appropriate. 

 
5.6 Where off sales are permitted and late night takeaways exist, operators should 

recognise their responsibility to ensure that litter discarded in the area of their 
premises is cleared away regularly. 

 
5.7 In largely residential areas the Licensing Authority will deal with the issue of 

licensing hours on the individual merits of each application.  When issuing a 
licence, stricter conditions with regard to noise control and/or limitations to 
opening hours may be imposed in the case of premises which are situated in 
the area. 

 
5.8 South Kesteven District Council’s Licensing Team will always seek to provide 

informal advice and mediate between all parties involved in the application 
process, and strive to reach a mutually acceptable agreement.  However, the 
team is subject to legislative restrictions and it may be that the matter will be 
put before the Licensing Committee. 

 
6. Children and Licensed Premises 

 
6.1 The Licensing Authority recognises the great variety of premises for which 

licences may be sought.  These will include theatres, cinemas, restaurants, 
pubs, nightclubs, cafes, takeaways, community halls and schools.  Except as 
prohibited by law, access by children to all types of premises will not be limited 
in any way unless it is considered necessary to do so to protect them from harm. 

 
6.2 When deciding whether or not to limit access to children, the Licensing Authority 

will judge each application on its own individual merits.  Examples which may 
give rise to concern in respect of children, would include premises where: 

 

• entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature are commonly 
provided; 

• there have been convictions of members of the current staff at the premises 
for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for underage drinking; 

• there is a known association with drug taking or dealings; 

• there is a strong element of gambling on the premises (but not, for example, 
the simple presence of a small number of cash prize gaming machines);  

• the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the exclusive or 
primary purpose of the services provided at the premise. 

 
6.3 In the case of premises which are used for film exhibitions, conditions will be 

imposed restricting access only to those who meet the required age limit, in line 

114



 
 

18 
 
 

with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification or, in 
specific cases, a certificate given to the film by the Licensing Authority itself. 

 
6.4 Where a large number of children are likely to be present on any licensed 

premises, for example, a children’s show or pantomime, then conditions will be 
imposed requiring the presence of an acceptable number of appropriate adult 
staff to ensure public safety and their protection from harm. 

 
6.5 The onus will be on the premise licence holder to ensure that members of staff 

are suitable to carry out the supervision of children, which may include a 
criminal record check from the Disclosure and Barring Service. 

 
6.6 The options available for limiting access by children would include:–  
 

• limitations on the hours when children may be present; 

• limitations on the exclusion of the presence of children under certain ages 
when particular specified activities are taking place; 

• limitations on the parts of premises to which children might be given access; 

• age limitations (below 18 years of age); 

• requirements for accompanying adults 

• full exclusion of those people under 18 years of age from the premises when 
any licensable activities are taking place. 

 
6.7 The Licensing Authority will not impose any condition that specifically requires 

access for children to be provided at any premises.  Where no restriction or 
limitation is imposed the issue of access will remain a matter for the discretion 
of the individual licensee or club. 

 
6.8 The body responsible for the interests of children is the Lincolnshire 

Safeguarding Children Board, who are contactable through Lincolnshire County 
Council.   

 
6.9 The sale of alcohol to children and young people under the relevant age is a 

criminal offence, often resulting in harm to the child or young person concerned, 
along with disturbance and nuisance to local residents and businesses.  
Applicants are required to detail adequate control measures in their operating 
schedules to prevent under age sales to children and young persons. 

 
6.10 The Licensing Authority recognises that Lincolnshire County Council Trading 

Standards, as part of their responsibilities and duties under legislation 
controlling the sale of age restricted products including alcohol, provides advice 
and guidance on the controls and systems that may be adopted to help prevent 
such sales.  The Licensing Authority also recognises that, in liaison with the 
Police, Trading Standards conduct covert test purchasing exercises to check 
compliance with the legislation. 

 
 
 

115



 
 

19 
 
 

7. Cumulative Impact 
 
7.1 The cumulative impact of licensed premises has been described within the 

Guidance since the commencement of the Act. Cumulative Impact 
Assessments (CIA) were introduced at Section 5A of the Act by the Police and 
Crime Act 2017, with effect from 6 April 2018.   

 
7.2 Cumulative impact is the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing 

objectives in areas where there the number, type or density of licensed 
premises, such as those selling alcohol or providing late night refreshment, is 
high or exceptional and serious problems of nuisance and disorder may arise 
outside or some distance from those premises. 

  
 
7.3 The cumulative impact of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing 

objectives is a matter which the Licensing Authority can take into account but 
must be evidence based.  This should not however, be confused with ‘need’ 
which relates more to the commercial demand for a particular type of premises, 
e.g. a pub, off-licence, restaurant or hotel.  The issue of need is therefore a 
matter for planning consideration or the market to decide and does not form 
part of this Licensing Policy Statement. 

 
7.4   The Licensing Authority may receive representations from either a responsible 

Authority or other person, (both defined by the Act), that the cumulative impact 
of new licences is leading to an area becoming saturated with premises of a 
certain type, making it a focal point for large groups of people to gather, and 
thereby creating exceptional problems of disorder and nuisance over and 
above the impact from the individual premises themselves.  In such cases the 
issue of cumulative impact can be taken into account when considering the 
individual merits of any application. 

 
7.3  The Licensing Authority will not operate a quota of any kind, which would 

predetermine any application, nor will it seek to impose general limitations on 
trading hours in particular areas.  Instead, regard will be given to the individual 
characteristics of the premises concerned within a given area.  It is recognised 
that pubs, nightclubs, restaurants, hotels, theatres and other clubs all sell 
alcohol, serve food and provide entertainment, but with contrasting styles and 
characteristics.  Proper regard will be had to those differences and the impact 
they are likely to have on the local community. 

 
7.5 The Authority encourages the development of a variety of premises providing 

a range of licensable activities. The decision to include a special policy relating 
to cumulative impact with this policy will be evidentially based.  The steps to be 
followed in considering whether to include such a special policy are:- Evidence 
of cumulative impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives needs to 
relate to the relevant problems identified in the specific area to be covered by 
the CIA. Information which licensing authorities may be able to draw on to 
includes: 

 

116



 
 

20 
 
 

• local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of 
crime and crime hotspots;  

• statistics on local anti-social behaviour offences; 

• health-related statistics such as alcohol-related emergency attendances 
and hospital admissions; 

• environmental health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and noise; 

• complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints 
raised by local residents or residents’ associations; 

• residents’ questionnaires 

• evidence from local Councillors; and 

• evidence obtained through local consultation. 
 

• identification of concern about crime and disorder or public nuisance 

• consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that crime, disorder and 
nuisance are arising and are caused by the customers of licensed premises 
and, if so, identifying the area from which problems are arising and the 
boundaries of that area, or that the risk factors are such that the area is 
reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent. 

• consultation with those specified by section 5 (3) of the 2003 Act as part 
of the general consultation required in respect of the whole statement of 
licensing policy. 

 
7.6 If, subject to that consultation South Kesteven District Council decide to adopt 

a cumulative impact policy, they will adopt a policy and add it to this Statement 
of Licensing Policy. 

 
7.7 Any cumulative impact policy is not absolute and the circumstances of each 

application will be considered properly. 
 
7.8  Rather than adopt a special policy there are a number of other mechanisms for 

addressing issues of unruly behaviour which occur away from licensed 
premises, these include: 

 

• planning controls; 

• positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment, in 
partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other 
departments of the Local Authority; 

• Public Spaces Protection Orders 

• the provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, ample taxi ranks, 
provision of public conveniences open late at night, street cleaning and litter 
patrols; 

• powers of Local Authorities to designate parts of the Local Authority area as 
places where alcohol may not be consumed publicly; 

• Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social 
behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 

• the prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at such 
premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk; 

• the confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas; 

117



 
 

21 
 
 

• Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed 
premises or temporary event on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of 
disorder or noise emanating from the premises causing a nuisance; and 

• The power of the Police, other responsible Authorities or a local resident or 
business to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question. 

 
7.9 These may be supplemented by other local initiatives that similarly address 

these problems. 
 
7.10 The Licensing Authority may address a number of these issues through the 

Local Community Safety Partnership Safer Lincolnshire Partnership and 
County Licensing Group, in line with the strategic objectives for crime and 
disorder reduction within the district. 

 
8. Nudity and striptease 
 
8.1 The Authority recognises that Parliament has made it lawful to operate 

establishments providing adult entertainment, such as striptease and, that such 
businesses are a legitimate part of the retail and leisure industries.  It is our role 
as a Licensing Authority to administer the licensing regime in accordance with 
the law. 

 
8.2 This Authority has adopted the provisions of Schedule 3 to the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended by Section 27 
of the Policing and Crime Act 2009) so that it can licence sexual entertainment 
venues in the district.  The Authority’s policy and procedures in relation to the 
licensing of sexual entertainment venues can be viewed on the Authority’s 
website. 

 
8.3 The Authority recognises that some premises providing sexual entertainment 

may not be providing the entertainment at a frequency which requires the 
premises to be licensed as a sexual entertainment venue under the LGMP Act 
(no more than 11 occasions in any 12 month period, with none of those 
occasions lasting longer than 24 hours or taking place within a month of any 
other such occasion).  

  
8.4 Where such premises are providing (or intending to provide) striptease or any 

other kind of nudity (for example pole or lap dancing or topless waitresses), the 
Authority will expect applicants to demonstrate in their operating schedule that 
considerable thought has been given as to how they intend to promote the 
licensing objectives. 

 
8.5 In order to promote the licensing objectives, subject to receiving relevant 

representations, where the Licensing Authority grants premises licences that 
include striptease or any other kind of nudity, it will generally impose conditions 
relating to the following issues:- 

 

• the location within the premises where the activity takes place; 

• the absence of advertising the activities outside the premises; 

118



 
 

22 
 
 

• the measures taken to ensure no person under 18 years of age enters the 
premises 

• the measures taken to ensure that the activities inside the premises cannot 
be seen from outside the premises 

• the position of the performers dressing rooms in relation to the area in which 
they perform 

• physical contact between performers and customers 
 
8.6 Where premises licence applications include striptease or any other kind of 

nudity, the Licensing Authority will have particular regard to the location of the 
premises in relation to places of religious worship, schools, youth clubs or other 
premises where significant numbers of children are likely to attend. 

 
9. Conditions of Licence 
 
9.1 The Licensing Authority does not propose to implement standard licensing 

conditions across the board.  It may draw upon the model pool of conditions 
issued by the Home Office or other such bodies and attach conditions as 
appropriate given the circumstances of each individual case. 

 
9.2 The Licensing Authority is aware of the need to avoid measures which deters 

live music and theatre by imposing direct costs of a substantial nature and the 
Licensing Authority will take account of this. 

 
9.3 Conditions not listed in the pool of model conditions may be specifically tailored 

by the Licensing Authority and attached to licences as appropriate. 
 
 
10. Reducing the Harm caused by Alcohol 
 
10.1 In reviewing this policy, the Authority has had regard to the Government’s 

Alcohol Strategy document published in March 2012 and The Authority is aware 
of the link between the supply of excessively discounted liquor, irresponsible 
drinks promotions and incidents of alcohol related disorder as well as the impact 
excessive or binge drinking can have on public health. 

 
10.2 The Authority will work in partnership with other responsible authorities and use 

the powers contained within the Licensing Act and any other powers available 
to them to ensure promotional activities etc do not undermine the licensing 
objectives or have a damaging effect on the health of its residents. 

 
10.3 Applicants should consider guidance documents on the responsible promotion 

of alcohol and on binge drinking, such as the British Beer and Pub Association’s 
document – Point of Sales Promotion Standards for the Management of 
Responsible Drinks Promotions including “Happy Hours” when completing their 
operating schedules. 

 

119



 
 

23 
 
 

10.3 Applicants should be aware of the specific mandatory licence conditions, 
attached to all license authorising the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption 
on the premises, which effectively; 

 

• Ban irresponsible promotions; 

• Ban the dispensing of alcohol directly into the mouth; and 

• Ensure that customers have access to free drinking water of they ask for it 
 

10.4 On receipt of relevant representations from a Responsible Authority or other 
persons, which demonstrates a clear link between sales or promotions and 
levels of crime and disorder or public nuisance on or in the area of the premises, 
the Licensing Authority will seriously consider the status of the premises 
licence. 

 
11. Late Night Levy (LNL) 
 
11.1 The Late Night Levy allows Licensing Authorities to raise a contribution from 

late opening alcohol retailers towards the policing costs generated by the late 
night economy.  The levy will apply to all premises (on and off trade), throughout 
the Licensing Authority’s area, which are authorised to sell or supply alcohol in 
the time period set by the Licensing Authority.  This can be any time between 
midnight and 0600 hrs.  A consultation process is required before introducing a 
LNL.  The consultation process will include the Police, licence holders and 
others.   

 
11.2 Consultation was carried out with representatives of the Police for South 

Kesteven during 2013, it was agreed that there was no evidence that a late 
night levy would be necessary or beneficial for the district at that time. . 

 
11.3 The Authority will, however, consider the introduction of a Late Night Levy at 

any time if circumstances change and evidence supports this course of action.  
 

12.    Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMRO’S) 
 
12.1 EMRO’s  can be introduced by the Licensing Authority for any part of the District 

where it is considered that restricting the sale of alcohol between midnight and 
0600 hrs is appropriate to promote the four licensing objectives in the Licensing 
Act 2003.  It can apply either every day or for certain days and for an unlimited 
or time-limited period. 

 
12.2 Prior to introducing an EMRO, the Authority must consult directly with 

Responsible Authorities and licensed premises and more widely with residents 
and other parties likely to be affected.  Any representations must be made 
within a 28-day period and be considered by the Licensing Committee; the 
EMRO itself must be endorsed by Full Council.  Once introduced, the EMRO 
will make it an offence to sell alcohol during the times specified in the order, 
whether under a premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN (subject to 
certain specified exemptions). 

 

120



 
 

24 
 
 

12.3 It is the Authority’s intention to support businesses whilst ensuring promotion of 
the licensing objectives. EMROs are designed to address recurring problems 
such as high levels of alcohol related crime and disorder in specific areas at 
specific times; serious public nuisance and other instances of alcohol related 
anti-social behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises. The 
introduction of an EMRO may have far-reaching, wider impacts on the socio-
economic circumstances in an area and should be reasonable, justified and 
proportionate.  

 
12.4 At the time of reviewing this policy statement a need to implement an EMRO 

has not been identified.  The Authority will consider the introduction of an EMRO 
at any time if circumstances change and evidence supports this course of 
action. 

 
 

13. Minor Variations to Premise Licences 
 
13.1 Officers acting under delegated powers will determine applications for the minor 

variation of a premise licence.  Applicants are advised to contact the Licensing 
Team BEFORE submitting a minor variation in order to ascertain whether the 
proposed change does in fact qualify as a minor variation.  Officers will reject 
any application that does not qualify as a minor variation. 

 
13.2 It is the Authority’s practice that any request to remove redundant conditions 

will result in the application being sent to specific responsible authorities. 
 

14. Temporary Event Notice 
 
14.1 The system of permitted temporary activities is intended to be a light touch 

process and as such the carrying on of licensable activities does not have to be 
authoriszed by the Licensing Authority on an application.  Instead, a person 
wishing to hold an event at which such activities are carried on gives notice to 
the Licensing Authority of the event (a “Temporary Event Notice” or TEN). 

 
14.2 There are two types of TENs; a Standard TEN and a Late TEN.  These have 

different notice periods.  A Standard TEN is given to the Licensing Authority, 
Police and Environmental Health no later than 10 clear working days before the 
event to which it relates; a Late TEN is given not before 9 and no later than 5 
clear working days before the event.  Where the required notice period has not 
been given it will be returned as void and the activities to which it relates will 
not be authoriszed.  The notification fee will not be returned.  
 

14.1 Applicants for a Temporary Event Notice are required to submit their 
notifications to the Licensing Authority and Police and Environmental 
Protection, at least 10 working days before the event is due to take place, not 
including the day of application or the day of the event.  There is nothing 
to prevent simultaneous notification of multiple events at a single time so long 
as the first event is at least ten days away.   

 

121



 
 

25 
 
 

14.3 Temporary Event organisers are encouraged to submit their notifications to the 
Licensing Authority,  Police and Environmental Health  as soon as is reasonably 
practical in order for them to consider whether or not there are any concerns 
and where there are concerns, to enable all parties to take the necessary steps 
to resolve them.  

 
14.4 The Licensing Authority recommends that at least 20 working days and no more 

than 40 working days notification be given.  
 
14.5 TENs are subject to various limitations: 
 

• Working days do not include bank holidays, Saturday or Sunday, the day of 
the event or the day the notice is given 

• Anyone aged 18 or over can give a maximum of 5 Standard or 2 Late TENs 
per calendar year 

• Personal Licence holders can give a maximum of 50 Standard or 10 Late 
TENs per calendar year 

• Late TENs count towards the total permitted number of TENs a person is 
permitted to give per year 

• The maximum number of persons must not exceed 499 

• The maximum number of hours must not exceed 168 

• No more than 15 TENS can be given in respect of any particular premises 
in any calendar year 

• Any particular premises can have a maximum aggregate duration of 21 days 
in any calendar year 

• There must be a minimum of 24 hours between events at the same 
premises 

 
14.6 The Act prescribes that the Police or Environmental Health may, within the 

prescribed period, issue an objection notice where they believe the event would 
undermine one or more of the licensing objectives set out in the Act.  In the 
case of a Standard TEN the objection will be considered by the Licensing 
Committee.  If an objection is raised in relation to a late TEN then the TEN will 
not be valid and event will not be authorised as there is no scope for a hearing. 

 
15. Large scale music and other similar events 
 
15.1 The Licensing Authority strongly recommends that event organisers contact the 

Responsible Authorities in advance of drafting/submitting a licence application 
for a large scale event.  The Responsible Authorities are normally in a position 
to offer expert and specific advice on the promotion of the four licensing 
objectives and have practical experience of dealing with such events. 

 
15.2 The Licensing Authority will expect organisers of large scale events to work in 

partnership with the Lincolnshire Event Safety Advisory Group (LESAG) 
Lincolnshire Event Safety Partnership (LESP).  The LESP LESAG is an 
advisory group dealing with public events in the South Kesteven district and 
members comprise of officers from all emergency services, Lincolnshire 

122



 
 

26 
 
 

Emergency Planning, Lincolnshire Highways as well as representatives for the 
Council’s regulatory services. 

 
15.3 The role of LESAG LESP  is purely advisory and it has no enforcement powers.  

Should incidents occur during an event, the individual agencies on LESP have 
enforcement powers which would come into effect. 

 
 
16. Review of Premise Licence 
 
16.1 The Licensing Authority will consider the full range of powers available to it 

when a review of a premise licence becomes necessary.  The power to review 
premise licences represents a crucial protection for the community, especially 
with regards to the promotion of the four licensing objectives.  Reviews of 
licences may be triggered at any stage by Responsible Authorities or interested 
parties because of a matter arising at the licensed premises relating to one of 
the four licensing objectives.   

 
16.2 It is the Authority’s belief that the promotion of the licensing objectives is best 

achieved in an atmosphere of mutual co-operation between all stakeholders.  
Reviews should therefore be mainly reserved for circumstances where early 
warnings of concerns and the need for improvement have gone unheeded by 
the management of the licensed premises.  Additionally, any application to 
review a premises licence must not be repetitious.   

 
16.3 This Authority emphasises the importance of all parties working in partnership 

to achieve the promotion of the licensing objectives; the Authority expects that 
Responsible Authorities will aim to give licensees early warning of any concerns 
identified at the premises. 

 
16.4 It is the Authority’s role to administer the process and determine its outcome at 

a hearing where an evidential basis for the allegations made will need to be 
submitted.  

 
17. Suspension of Premise Licence – Non payment of annual fee 
 
17.1 The 2003 Act requires a Licensing Authority to suspend a premises licence or 

club premises certificate if the annual fee is not paid when it is due.  However, 
this does not apply immediately if the payment was not made before or at the 
time of the due date because of an administrative error, or because the holder 
disputed liability for the fee before or at the time of the due date.  In either of 
these cases, there is a grace period of 21 days.  This period is intended to allow 
the Licensing Authority and the licence or certificate holder an opportunity to 
resolve the dispute or error.  If the dispute or error is not resolved during this 
21-day period, the licence will be suspended. 

 
17.2 It is this Authority’s intention that five working days notice will be given before 

the suspension takes effect. 
 

123



 
 

27 
 
 

17.3 A premise licence or certificate that has been suspended does not have effect 
to authorise licensable activities.  However, it can be subject to a hearing or, in 
the case of a premises licence, an application for transfer.  The licence will 
nevertheless only be reinstated when the outstanding fee has been paid.  
Formally, the debt is owed by the holder who held the licence at the time it was 
suspended.  

 
 
18. Enforcement 
 
18.1 The Licensing Authority has established protocols with the Police and other 

enforcing Authorities.  These protocols will provide for the targeting of agreed 
problem and high-risk premises, whilst applying a lighter touch to low-risk 
premises. 

 
18.2 Action will only be taken in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s own 

enforcement policy, which reflects the agreed principles that are consistent with 
the Regulator’s Compliance Code.  To this end, the key principles of 
accountability, consistency, transparency and proportionality will be maintained 
and enforcement action will only be taken if it is in the public interest. 

 
18.3 The Licensing Authority will ensure that all types of licensed premises and their 

operators receive the appropriate level of attention, but on a risk based 
assessment basis.  For example, high-risk town centre late night outlets of all 
types, including takeaway type food outlets, will be inspected more frequently 
than premises operating on more restricted hours that are unlikely to require 
the same level of inspection. 

 
18.4 The Licensing Authority will always make available information and guidance 

to any interested party considering a review of a premise licence under the Act.  
It will often be appropriate for the Authority to give advice to licensees that 
would prevent the need for undertaking a review. 

 
18.5 Results of enforcement or investigation will be made available to responsible 

Authorities who may wish to include this evidence in a review of a premises 
licence or club premises certificate. 

 
18.6 Enforcement action will be considered against a personal licence holder where 

there has been a failure to comply with the requirements of the Licensing Act 
2003. 

 
19. Policy Review 
 
19.1 The policy statement will remain in existence for a period of five years and will 

be subject to review and further consultation before 6 January 202621, but may 
be reviewed at any point during that five year period. 

 
 
 

124



 
 

28 
 
 

20. Advice and Guidance 
 
20.1 Further information and advice on the Licensing process can be obtained by 

contacting South Kesteven District Council Licensing team by telephoning 
(01476) 406080, by e-mail at licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk or by visiting the 
Business and Licensing area of the Council’s website www.southkesteven.gov.uk  

125

mailto:licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 
 

29 
 
 

Appendix 1 
 
Delegation of Functions 
 
The 2003 Act provides that functions of a Licensing Authority (including its 
determinations) are to be carried out by its Licensing committee (except those relating 
to the making of its Statement of Licensing Policy).  These functions may be delegated 
to Sub-committees or in appropriate cases to Officers of the Licensing Authority.  It is 
recognised that many of the decisions and functions will be purely administrative in 
nature and in the interests of speed, efficiency and cost effectiveness have been 
delegated to Officers.  
 
The delegation of functions in relation to licensing matters are as follows: 
 

Matter to be dealt with Alcohol, Entertainment 
and Late Night 
Refreshment Licensing 
Committee or its Sub-
Committee 

Officers 

Application for personal licence If a Police objection If no objection 
made 

Application for personal licence with 
unspent convictions 

All cases  

Application for premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representations 
made 

Application for provisional statement If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representations 
made 

Application to vary premises 
licence/club premises certificate 

If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representations 
made 

Application to vary  designated 
premises supervisor 

If a Police objection All other cases 

Request to be removed as 
designated premises supervisor 

 All cases 

Disapplication of a designated 
premises supervisor 

If a Police objection If no relevant 
representation 
made and the 
premises meet 
the required 
standard. 

Application for transfer of premises 
licence 

If a Police objection All other cases 

Applications for Interim Authorities If a Police objection All other cases 

  

126



 
 

30 
 
 

Matter to be dealt with Alcohol, 
Entertainment 
and Late Night 
Refreshment 
Licensing 
Committee or its 
Sub-Committee 

Officers 

Application to review premises 
licence/club premises certificate 

All cases  

Decision on whether a complaint is 
irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious, etc. 

 All cases 

Decision to object when the Licensing 
Authority is a consultee and not the 
relevant Authority considering the 
application 

All cases  

Determination of a Police objection to 
a Temporary Event notice 

All cases  

Acknowledgement of a Temporary 
Event Notice 

 All Cases 

Determination of an application for the 
minor variation of a premise licence 

 All Cases 

 
 
*The sub-committee of the Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment 
Licensing Committee shall normally comprise of three Members of that Committee. 
 
 
Document enhancement for the visually impaired available on request – tel. (01476) 
406300 or e-mail frontdesk@southkesteven.gov.uk  

127

mailto:frontdesk@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Licensing 
 
 

Lead officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Date of Meeting  
 
08/09/20 Assessors: 

Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 

  

129

Appendix 2



2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires Licensing Authorities to 
prepare and publish a statement of its licensing policy at least every five 
years.  The current statement is under review for the period 2021-2026. 

The Statement sets out the Authority’s approach to making licensing 
decisions in respect of the sale of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late 
night refreshment. 

All applications will be dealt with on a case by case basis, any decision 
should aim to promote the licensing objectives which are:  

• the prevention of crime and disorder;  

• public safety; 

• the prevention of public nuisance; and  

• the protection of children from harm. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  Existing  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Positive One of the licensing objectives 
is the protection of children 
from harm.  Applicants are 
required to detail adequate 
control measures in their 
operating schedules to prevent 
harm to children: for example, 
underage sales. A range of 
conditions can be applied as 
appropriate to promote this 
objective which may limit 
access to premises by children 
if it is considered necessary.  

130



3 

 

Disability 
 

 

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis.  The 
policy is applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Disability therefore 
is not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of a revised 
policy. 

Race 
 

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis.  The 
policy is applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Race therefore is 
not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of a revised 
policy. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis.  The 
policy is applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Gender 
reassignment therefore is not a 
relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of a revised 
policy. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis.  The 
policy is applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Religion or Belief 
therefore is not a relevant 

131



4 

 

protected characteristic in 
relation to the implementation 
of a revised policy. 

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis.  The 
policy is applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Sex therefore is not 
a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of a revised 
policy. 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis. The policy 
is applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Sexual Orientation 
therefore is not a relevant 
protected characteristic in 
relation to the implementation 
of a revised policy. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis. The policy 
is applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Pregnancy and 
Maternity therefore is not a 
relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of a revised 
policy. 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis.  The 
policy is applied under the 

132



5 

 

requirements of the licensing 
objectives. Marriage and Civil 
Partnership therefore is not a 
relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of a revised 
policy. 

Carers Neutral The application of the policy 
statement will be carried out in 
an equitable manner with all 
applications considered on 
their individual merits and on a 
case by case basis.  Whilst 
those with caring 
responsibilities are not 
identified by means of a 
specific protected 
characteristic they are 
protected under many of the 
characteristics listed above. 
Therefore, as the policy is 
applied under the 
requirements of the licensing 
objectives, caring 
responsibilities would not be 
relevant in relation to the 
implementation of a revised 
policy. 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

  

133



6 

 

General 
comments 

The promotion of the licensing objectives will have a positive 
effect on communities, local residents and businesses. Each 
objective is of equal importance and the promotion of the 
objections is paramount in regard to the determination of 
licences.  

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

Public consultation is required as part of the review of the policy statement. 
Any information obtained as a result of this consultation which may indicate 
that there may be a negative impact on an equality group will lead to 
further consideration.  

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

See above 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

134



7 

 

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    AM Coulthard 
(Name and title)   Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental  
  

Date completed:  08/09/20  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

 
Date signed off:     14/09/20  

 

135



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee  

06 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, 
Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

   

         
  

Environmental Performance Indicators 

This report provides an overview of the performance dashboard development work undertaken to 
date, and the next steps to develop future performance reporting to the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Report Author 

Ben Russell, Performance Lead 

Tel:   01476 406394 

Email:   benrussell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change 
Officer 

23 September 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

23 September 2020 

Signed off by: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

23 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To note the content of the report and support the continued transformation of 
performance reporting. 

2. To agree the dashboard development timeline and amendments proposed 
following the performance workshop. 

137

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 As part of the continued transformation of performance monitoring, Members of the 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee requested on 21 July 2020 a report 

providing information on 7 measures detailing utility usage, waste disposal and 

environmental enforcement activity. These measures would act as an initial proposal to be 

developed further at a Member workshop held on the 15 September 2020. The report 

below details the information as requested, along with recommendations from the 

workshop that will enable Members to understand service data and guide performance in 

a positive way and includes a timeline for implementation. 

2 Requested measures 

2.1 Members requested that 7 initial streams of data be presented to committee, these 

covering: 

1. Energy consumption and cost (for the Council)   

2. Water consumption and cost (for the Council)   

3. Overall domestic waste arisings (for the District)   

4. Percentage domestic waste recycled (for the District)   

5. Percentage domestic waste diverted from landfill/incineration (i.e. to include food waste 
and green waste)   

6. Percentage contamination of silver bins   

7. Number of fixed-penalty notices issued by enforcement teams 

2.2 Elements 3 through 6 are included on the waste dashboard (Appendix 1), however actions 

identified at the Member workshop in section 3 of this report will be taken to clarify and 

extend this information for future sessions. The remaining measures are displayed in 

Appendix 2. 

2.3 Following the performance workshop, elements 1 and 2 related to water and energy usage 

data will be presented as part of the carbon emissions tracking dashboard, while element 

7 linked to Fixed Penalty Notices will form an independent dashboard with additional 

supporting information. These proposed developments are outlined in section 3 of this 

report.  

3 Performance Workshop  

3.1 A workshop was held with Members of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

on Tuesday 15 September. 

3.2 Members were presented with an opportunity to interrogate the existing Waste Dashboard 

(Appendix 1) and revise its design to ensure the information included was fit for purpose. 

3.3 Request was made for the following to be explored and developed for future updates of 

this dashboard: 

1. Two previous years data (from April 2018 onwards) 

2. Non-target recyclables collected trend data for all benchmarking partners 

3. A separate display of food waste collection data 

4. Inclusion of an error margin indicator 

138



 

 

3.4 Feedback on the draft Carbon Emissions Tracker, which is included at Appendix 3, was 

given as part of the discussion during the workshop of the 15 September. This Emissions 

Tracker had been developed following the work with Carbon Trust on the Council’s own 

carbon footprint and aims to track the Council’s progress against carbon emissions 

targets. The dashboard presented was acknowledged to be demonstration data while 

work continued to improve the collection of up to date emissions data from the variety of 

both internal and external sources. 

3.5 Attendees requested the following improvements 

1. Improved visual layout for readability 

2. Added district level reference data e.g. per Household emissions 

3. Amendments to the “Changes from Baseline Position by Emissions Factor” visual to 
provide better scale and clarity 

4. Addition of a carbon reduction priority area/project tracker so there is more information 
on the key areas and a more detailed energy consumption page 

5. Inclusion of a quality index within the report to ensure Members are kept aware of 

strengths and limitations of the relevant data sources 

3.6 An open discussion was held to ascertain members requirements for future reports 

considering the remit of the committee, availability of relevant data and the Council’s 

ability to influence change. 

3.6.1 New Dashboards proposed to explore and develop were: 

1. Fixed Penalty Notices – Including categorisation, value and payment rates 

2. Fly Tipping – including incidents, weights and costs to the authority 

3. Waste Collection – focusing on missed collections, reasons and resolutions 

3.7 Draft versions of these dashboards are to be submitted to the Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 08 December 2020, with final versions expected to be presented 

26 January 2021. 

3.8 Members also requested that an annual report on street scene complaints be produced 

which would expand on the complaints reporting undertaken by the Finance, Economic 

Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

3.9 The importance of publicity and resident’s education on matters such as recycling and fly 

tipping was referenced on a number of occasions by attendees of the workshop and the 

role of publicly available performance data was emphasised in having a role in supporting 

this.  

4 Financial Implications  

4.1 There are no specific financial comments arising from the report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 

5 Legal and Governance Implications  

5.1 As part of good governance, it is important that Members are updated on the ongoing 
performance management of environmental measures. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy Legal Services 

139



 

 

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

6.1 There are no issues relating to equality and diversity or safeguarding resulting from this 

report. Any issues that do arise relating to individual items will be addressed as required. 

7 Risk and Mitigation 

7.1 No significant risks have been identified. 

8 Community Safety Implications  

8.1 No significant implications have been identified. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

9.1 This report outlines steps taken to improve carbon emission monitoring. This oversight is 

fundamental in understanding the Council’s progress towards the target of at least 30% 

reduction in carbon emissions by 2030 and to endeavour to become net-zero carbon as 

soon as viable before 2050. The monitoring tool will also enable officers and Members to 

identify any risks and impediments to achieving that target. 

10 Other Implications (where significant)  

10.1 No other significant implications have been identified. 

11 Appendices 

11.1 Appendix 1 - Q1 Waste Dashboard 

11.2 Appendix 2 - Members Requested Data 

11.3 Appendix 3 - Draft Carbon Emissions Tracker 

12 Background 

12.1 Agenda and action notes from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

meeting held on 21 July 2020 (item 60) – 

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3910&Ver=4  

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

21 July 2020 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

140

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3910&Ver=4


9/2/2020 Waste Overview

1/1

Waste Collection Composition (Tonnes) by Month

0K

2K

4K

6K

April
2019

May
2019

June
2019

July
2019

Augu…
2019

Sept…
2019

Octo…
2019

Nove…
2019

Dece…
2019

Janu…
2020

Febr…
2020

March
2020

April
2020

May
2020

June
2020

2.9K 3.0K
2.6K 2.6K 2.6K 2.7K

3.1K
2.8K

2.4K
2.9K

2.4K
2.9K 2.7K 2.8K 2.8K

0.8K 0.9K

0.7K
1.1K 0.9K 0.9K

0.8K
0.8K

0.9K

1.2K

0.8K

0.8K 1.0K 0.9K 1.1K

1.0K
1.3K

1.3K

1.4K
1.4K 1.0K

1.9K

0.7K

0.3K

1.2K 1.4K 1.4K 1.2K

Domestic Residual Waste (Tonnes) - EfW Domestic Recyclable Waste (Tonnes) Garden Waste (Tonnes) - Composted

45.70%
Recycling Re-use & Composting Rate

30.89%
Total Non-Recyclables in Recycling Waste (Based on Samples)

Report Period

Multiple selecti…





Proportion of Collected Recycling Waste which is Non-Target Recyclable Materials (Based on Samples) -
used for Refuse Derived Fuel - in Relation to other Local Authorities in the Region

0%

20%

40%

SKDC SHDC NKDC CLC WLDC BBC ELDC

30
.8

9%

30
.2

9%

29
.9

9%

29
.4

8%

29
.3

9%

28
.7

7%

28
.3

5%

Commentary/Implications
In March the Coronavirus lockdown measures caused the waste generated by SKDC households to increase. 
During April to June of 20/21 the amount of recycling and garden waste has continued to be higher than the 
previous year while the non-recyclable waste collected has remained constant at around 2800 tonnes a
month. This trend has boosted the cumulative average recycling, re-use and composting rate for Q1 20/21 to 
45.7%. The most obvious influence is the green waste which has increased by 700 tonnes compared to April – 
June 2019/20, however, recycling has also increased by 400 tonnes over the same period. It is surprising that 
non-recyclables have not shown an increase during lockdown restrictions and although contamination of the 
recycling bins has increased slightly against the previous year, it is hoped that this indicates a change in 
behaviour towards recycling more and creating less black bin waste.
As lockdown restrictions continue to ease it is important to maintain the recycling message in order to  
capitalise on the change indicated by these Q1 figures.

Household waste collected in the black bins or pink bags is sent to the Energy from Waste (EfW) plant at 
North Hykeham where it is used as a fuel to produce electricity. The contamination in the silver bins or clear 
bags is used as Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) where it is used directly as fuel, usually at a cement works. None
of our waste is sent to landfill (except in exceptional circumstances where the EfW plant is non-operational).

Waste Performance Reporting Period: Apr 2020 to Jun 2020

Proportion of Collected Recycling Waste which is Non-Target Recyclable Materials (Based on Samples) - used for Refuse Derived
Fuel

26%

28%

30%

32%

April
2019

May
2019

June
2019

July
2019

Aug…
2019

Sept…
2019

Octo…
2019

Nov…
2019

Dece…
2019

Janu…
2020

Febr…
2020

March
2020

April
2020

May
2020

June
2020

29.15%
30.39%

31.43%

26.59%

30.50%

28.72%

29.51%

28.15%

30.15%30.30%

30.90%
27.75%

29.06% 29.39%29.75%

141

A
ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Energy Usage in Kilowatt Hours 

At the time of writing, the most up to date meter readings are unavailable and there 
is a lack of direct control of information relating to energy use across the Council's 
whole portfolio of buildings, which affects the ability to access data. However, the 
last 2 full financial years energy consumption is provided. 

 

 

 
Apr 18 May 18 Jun 18 Jul 18 

Aug 
18 Sep 18 Oct 18 Nov 18 Dec 18 Jan 19 Feb 19 Mar 19 

SKDC 
Buildings 

185,178 182,302 180,981 21,529 21,191 75,295 141,154 266,278 256,067 322,798 324,842 331,924 

Car Parks 22,829 6,311 6,311 24,085 5,273 5,238 24,679 5,667 5,936 25,729 5,507 6,135 

Other 
Buildings 

6,512 6,512 6,512 6,182 6,182 7,022 6,482 6,482 6,482 7,380 7,380 0 

Street 
lighting 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 

 
            

 Apr 19 May 19 Jun 19 Jul 19 
Aug 
19 Sep 19 Oct 19 Nov 19 Dec 19 Jan 20 Feb 20 Mar 20 

SKDC 
Buildings 168,902 89,343 54,973 41,323 39,149 44,969 156,238 235,086 278,808 220,354 206,184 201,586 

Car Parks 16,225 12,388 10,694 10,701 9,641 9,636 13,529 26,299 38,472 35,085 30,821 23,954 

Other 
Buildings 

10,173 10,074 7,847 8,905 21,631 7,800 12,903 15,531 20,590 16,116 15,074 17,592 

Street 
lighting 

90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 90,740 

 

 

 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

Apr
18

May
18

Jun
18

Jul
18

Aug
18

Sep
18

Oct
18

Nov
18

Dec
18

Jan
19

Feb
19

Mar
19

Apr
19

May
19

Jun
19

Jul
19

Aug
19

Sep
19

Oct
19

Nov
19

Dec
19

Jan
20

Feb
20

Mar
20

Energy (Gas & Electric) Usage (kWh)

SKDC Buildings Car Parks Other Buildings Street lighting

143

Appendix 2



Water Usage – Cost Data Only 

Specific water metered data is also not available and steps to improve the quality of 
data are being explored as part of the carbon emission monitoring project. However, 
cost data is available. The cost of water usage for Q1 of 2020/21 projects a lower 
usage than both previous financial years (£65,801.64), unfortunately though, without 
accurate metered water data this is not possible to confirm. Whilst water is included 
in the Council’s carbon footprint monitoring, a proxy is used to calculate volume of 
water used in Council buildings. 

 

Financial Year 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 (Q1 
only) 

Cost £71,674.36 £74,814.72 £16,450.41 

 

Fixed Penalty Notices 

Fixed Penalty Notices are issued for a range of offences including fly tipping, litter 
and parking. A significant increase in the number of notices issued followed the 
responsibility for parking enforcement being brought back into Council responsibility 
in October 2019. In Quarter 1 of 2020/21 very few notices were issued as a result of 
the wider public behaviour changes caused by COVID 19. 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

N
um

be
r o

f F
PN

s i
ss

ue
d

Apr-
19

May
-19

Jun-
19

Jul-
19

Aug-
19

Sep-
19

Oct-
19

Nov-
19

Dec-
19

Jan-
20

Feb-
20

Mar-
20

Apr-
20

May
-20

Jun-
20

FLYTIPPING 1 1 2

DUTY OF CARE 1 1 2

BREACH OF CPN 1 1

LITTER 25 18 13 11 24 24 4 3 1

DOG FOULING

PARKING CHARGE NOTICE` 297 254 296 364 275 162

TOTAL 26 18 14 13 24 26 301 259 296 364 275 163 0 2 0

Fixed Penalty Notices issued by South Kesteven District Council

144



9/14/2020 Overview

1/1

Total CO2e Tonnes - Quarterly (Major Contributors*)

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

Financial Year Quarter

To
ta

l C
O

2e
 T

on
ne

s 
an

d 
Ta

rg
…

2019/2020 1

2019/2020 2

2019/2020 3

2019/2020 4

2020/2021 1

2020/2021 2

2020/2021 3

2020/2021 4

2021/2022 1

2021/2022 2

2021/2022 3

2021/2022 4

2022/2023 1

2022/2023 2

2022/2023 3

2022/2023 4

2023/2024 1

2023/2024 2

2023/2024 3

2023/2024 4

2024/2025 1

2024/2025 2

2024/2025 3

2024/2025 4

2025/2026 1

Post Baseline Average Quarterly CO2e

2018/19 Baseline (Quarterly Approx.)

Total CO2e Tonnes Target Emissions

*This graphic does not include some factors due to the difficulty in calculating their quarterly impact on the CO2e emissions. 
Those include water, refrigerants and renewable energy generations. They are included in the total annual footprint.

Annual CO2e Tonnes

0K 5K
Total CO2e Tonnes

Fi
na

nc
ia

l Y
ea

r

2019/2020

2020/2021

6608

2189

Commentary :
The 2019/20 financial year saw a xx% increase/decrease in overall carbon 
emissions compared to the baseline year of 2018/19. Particular reductions 
were seen from xxxx due to xxxx. Projects implemented in 2019/20 include 
xxxx and xxxx which will contribute to a reduction in overall carbon emissions. 
xxxx remain a large contributor of carbon emissions to the overall SKDC 
footprint, and further work should look to focus on this area in order to 
ensure carbon reductions.

-13.05%
% Change from baseline

2019/2020
Last Financial Year

6,608
Last Financial Year CO2e Tonnes

2018/2019
Baseline year

7,600
Baseline CO2e Tonnes

10.17
Approx Co2e/FTE Employee

Changes from Baseline Position by Emissions Factor

-80% -60% -40% -20% 0% 20%
Change from Baseline year

6.11%
2.49%

-17.80%
-28.84%

-62.95%
-25.79%

-35.84%

Electricity Gas Leisure Centres Travel Waste Fleet Water

DRAFT Carbon Emissions Tracker - detailing 
2019/2020 and available data to Quarter 2 

2020/2021

145

A
ppendix 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

Work Programme  

Item Current Issues/Status Date Outcome sought 

Re-wilding 
Report updating the Committee on the re-wilding trial schemes, 
successes and failures, details of any feedback received 

8 
December 
2020, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC) 

To assess the success and viability of 
the trial schemes, and consider 
whether to recommend further 
schemes to Cabinet for approval 

   

   

Performance 
Indicators 

To consider performance information against agreed indicators 
26 January 
2021, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC) 

To consider which areas have poor or 
good performance, make 
recommendations for improvement or 
for continued success, and to feed 
back to Officers or make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary 

   

   

  20 April 
2021, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC) 

 

   

   

  

147

A
genda Item

 11



Unscheduled items 

Internal Drainage 
Boards  

Presentation regarding water management from the Internal 
Drainage Board 

TBC 

For information, to receive feedback 
and questions from Councillors, and if 
necessary make recommendations to 
the IDB and/or to Cabinet 

Cycling 
Figures on take up of SKDC Cycle to Work Scheme, number of 
people who cycle to work at SKDC, and considering methods to 
increase take-up of cycling amongst both officers and public 

TBC once 
scope 
received 

To consider cycling uptake rates 
amongst SKDC residents and options 
for improvement, to make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary 

Single use plastic 
reduction 

In-depth analysis of single-use plastic usage within the Council’s 
control, and options for procurement to reduce single-use plastic 
usage at other SKDC owned sites. 

TBC 
To feedback, comment, and make 
suggestions to Cabinet for approval 
as necessary. 

Tree and Hedge 
Planting 

To consider costs provided in respect of tree planting and tree 
replacement policy and to consider costings and opportunities for 
hedge planting within the district 

TBC once 
scope 
received 

 

The Big Clean Update report TBC  

 

  

148



REMIT 
The remit of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of 
policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

 Air Quality 

 Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing (Policy) 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134
&p=0 (2016 policy due for review January 2021) 

 Allotments 

 Animal Welfare licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305) 

 Business Trade & Licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no 
policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063) 

 Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and 
Management 

 Dog breeding & control orders 

 Domestic Waste & Recycling Management 

 Energy Efficiency 

 Estate and Grounds Maintenance 

 Flooding 

 Food Hygiene and Safety 

 Gambling & Lotteries licensing (Policy) 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537
&p=0 (2020 policy due for review January 2022) 

 Health & Safety 

 Noise 

 Public Conveniences 

 Renewable Energy 

 Scrap Metal Dealers 

 Street Lighting 

 Street Services and Green Open Space Management 

 Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system (Policy) 
(guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317) 

 Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing (Policy) 
(policy currently under review) 

 Wild animal licensing (Policy) (no local policy. 
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal) 

 
Membership 7 
 

149

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
1 October 2020 to 30 September 2021 

 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 
The Cabinet 
 
South Kesteven District Council’s Cabinet has seven Members, each of whom has their own remit. The remit for each Cabinet 
Member is set out in the table below. 

 
Cabinet Member Remit 

Councillor Kelham Cooke Leader and Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Transformation  

Councillor Barry Dobson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Growth and Leisure 

Councillor Robert Reid Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 

Councillor Adam Stokes Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 

Councillor Annie Mason Cabinet Member for Communities 

 
 

151



Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Forward Plan will be circulated to all Overview and Scrutiny Committees and be considered at each meeting as Members set 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes. Scrutiny members will be able to pick from the Forward Plan, those items 
relevant to their remit that they wish to scrutinise. 
 
Decisions Cabinet may make 
 
Cabinet Members may make decisions as “the Cabinet” in public meetings in line with the Leaders Scheme of Delegation. 
Individual Cabinet Members may also make decisions that are relevant to their own remits 
 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
Key and Non-Key Decisions 
 
A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant, for these 
purposes, South Kesteven District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered 
significant, having regard to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision. 
 
Access to documents 
 
Documents related to decisions made by Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members can be accessed from the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk by following the links in the ‘Your Council and Democracy’ section. Information will be made publicly 
available approximately one week before a decision is due to be made so long as it does not relate to information that is exempt 
under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). You will also be able to view papers related to any Cabinet 
or Cabinet Member decision by coming to the Council’s main offices: Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire, 
NG31 6PZ* or e-mailing democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
* Please note that the Council Offices opening hours are currently restricted and an appointment system is in use due to Covid-19. 

152

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 

Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan – Policy Framework Proposal  

To consider the Cabinet’s 
recommendations in respect of a new 
Corporate Plan for South Kesteven 
District Council  
 

Council 
1 October 2020 
 

To approve a new Corporate 
Plan for South Kesteven 
District Council 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
Karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Organisational Restructure – Policy Framework Proposal  

To consider proposals relating to the 
organisational structure of the Council 
 

Council 
1 October 2020 
 

To approve the updated 
organisational structure for 
South Kesteven District 
Council 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
Karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Leisure Centre Proposals - Budget Framework  

To consider a budget for the 
formation of LeisureSK 
 

Council 
1 October 2020 
 

To agree a budget allocation 
for the formation of LeisureSK 
 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Leisure (Councillor 
Barry Dobson) 
 
Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
Karen.whitfied@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

153



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Contract for the maintenance of the telecare system and digitalisation of sheltered housing - Key Decision 

To consider awarding the 
maintenance contract and the 
transformation of the telecare 
equipment in preparation for 
digitalisation  
 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 
 

To approve the award of the 
contract 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Senior Housing and Policy Strategy 
Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Community Funding - Key Decision 

The SK Community Fund has 
undergone review into eligibility, 
priorities, maximum grant size and 
draw down period following its transfer 
to in-house administration. 
 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 
 

To agree the amended 
criteria for the SK Community 
Fund 
 

Cabinet Member for Communities 
(Councillor Annie Mason) 
 
Community Engagement & Policy 
Development Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 61 61 
c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Leisure Centre Proposals - Key Decision 

To consider the acquisition of a site 
to complement investment proposals 
for leisure facilities within the district 
 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 
 
Future dates: 
3 November 2020 
 
1 December 2020 
 

To agree the approach to 
enter into a leasehold 
arrangement. 
 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Leisure (Councillor 
Barry Dobson) 
 
Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
Karen.Whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

154



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Planning White Paper Consultation Response - Key Decision 

The Planning for the future 
consultation proposes reforms of the 
planning system to streamline and 
modernise the planning process, bring 
a new focus to design and 
sustainability, improve the system of 
developer contributions to 
infrastructure, and ensure more land 
is available for development where it 
is needed. 
 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 
 

To consider a response to the 
Government White Paper on 
planning reform. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Procurement of Property Improvement Works - Key Decision 

To enter into a contract providing 
Property Improvement Works to our 
council stock including Major Voids, 
Kitchens and Bathrooms 
 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 
 

To agree to enter into a 
contract 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Procurement of Contract for Property Updates - Key Decision 

The contract will include electrical 
testing and upgrades, electric heating 
upgrades, replacement of solid fuel 
heating with electric heating and solar 
PV and structural and conversion 
works. 
 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 
 

To approve a contract 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

155



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Review of Public Space Protection Orders - Key Decision 

To consider extending the existing 
Public Space Protection Orders for a 
further period of 3 years and to 
consider implementing a new Public 
Space Protection Order 
 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 
 

To approve any extension to 
the existing orders and the 
implementation of a new 
Public Space Protection 
Order 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter 
Moseley) 
 
Head of Environmental 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions - Key Decision 

 
To make strategic regeneration 
acquisitions 
 
 

Cabinet 
October 2020 
 

 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Strategic Director Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

Information relating to this decision is exempt under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended 
because it contains information which relate to the financial or 
business affairs of an individual or an organisation 
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - approval of consultation draft - Key Decision 

The document will provide guidance 
to applicants and decision makers in 
order to improve the design quality of 
new development proposals as a 
supplement to the Local Plan policies.  
 

Cabinet 
3 November 2020 
 

To approve the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

156



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Statement of Community Involvement review - Key Decision 

To review the document to take 
account of statutory changes and to 
consider opportunities for greater 
flexibility in undertaking consultation, 
particularly in the light of Covid-19 
 

Cabinet 
3 November 2020 
 

To approve changes to 
document 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Asset Management Strategy - Key Decision 

To consider the draft Asset 
Management Strategy 
 

Cabinet 
3 November 2020 
 

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Assets and Estates Manager - 
General Fund Assets 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
c.pike@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

South Kesteven District Council Climate Change and Carbon Reduction Annual Position Statement - Key Decision 

To give an update on progress since 
South Kesteven District Council 
declared a climate emergency 
 

Cabinet 
3 November 2020 
 

To note the current position 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter 
Moseley) 
 
Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 
Tel: 01476 40 63 44 
gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

157



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed 
development brief for land at Stamford 
North prior to consultation 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 

Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Council Tax Base 2021/22 – Budget Framework 

To determine the Council Tax base to 
form the basis of the 2021/22 budget 
proposals to be recommended to 
Council 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
base 2021/22 which will form 
the basis of the budget 
proposals for the year 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 

Interim Director of Finance, Section 
151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 2021/22 – Budget Framework 

To consider the draft budget 
proposals for 2021/22. 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To agree the draft budget 
proposals for 2021/22 for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 

Interim Director of Finance, Section 
151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy - Key Decision 

To consider any proposed changes 
following consultation 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To approve the policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter 
Moseley) 
 

Head of Environmental 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

158



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Housing Allocation Policy 2021 to include Choice Based Lettings - Key Decision 

To consider the policy and 
recommendations from the Rural and 
Communities OSC 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To adopt a refreshed Housing 
Allocation Policy 
incorporating a Choice based 
Lettings Scheme 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Review of the Licensing Act 2003 Policy Statement – Policy Framework Proposal  

To consider any changes to the Policy 
Statement  
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 
Council 
28 January 2021 
 

To recommend any changes 
to Council 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter 
Moseley) 
 
Head of Environmental 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final - Key Decision 

To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation 
 

Cabinet 
20 May 2021 
 

To approve the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

159



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning Document - Key Decision 

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft 
document 
 

Cabinet 
19 January 2021 
 
Council 
28 January 2021 
 

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in 
respect to Rectory Farm 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Special Projects Manager 
Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Budget Proposals 2021/22 – Budget Framework  

To agree the budget proposals for 
2021/22. 
 

Cabinet 
19 January 2021 
 
Council 
1 March 2021 
 

To recommend the budget for 
2021/22 to Council 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 
151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Pay Policy Statement - Legislative 

To receive recommendations from the 
Employment Committee on the 
Council’s Pay Policy Statement 
2021/22 
 

Council 
1 March 2021 
 

To adopt the Pay Policy 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Head of Organisational Development 
and Change 
Tel: 01476 40 61 32 
e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

160


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 23 June 2020
	5 Action notes from the meeting held on 21 July 2020
	6 Updates from the previous meeting
	7 Climate Change and Carbon Reduction Annual Statement
	Climate change and carbon reduction annual statement

	8 Climate change reserve fund
	Appendix 1 SKDC Carbon Footprint and reduction opportunities

	9 Review of Statement of Licensing Policy
	Appendix 1 Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026
	Appendix 2 Equality Impact (Initial Analysis)

	10 Environmental Performance Indicators
	Appendix 1 Q1 Waste Dashboard
	Appendix 2 Members Requested Data
	Appendix 3 Draft Carbon Emissions Tracker

	11 Work Programme
	Forward Plan


